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CAUTIONARY STATEMENT REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This report contains statements that constitute “forward-looking statements”, including but not limited to management’s outlook for
UBS’s financial performance and statements relating to the anticipated effect of transactions and strategic initiatives on UBS’s
business and future development. While these forward-looking statements represent UBS’s judgments and expectations concerning
the matters described, a number of risks, uncertainties and other important factors could cause actual developments and results to
differ materially from UBS’s expectations. These factors include, but are not limited to: (i) the degree to which UBS is successful in
executing its announced strategic plans, including its efficiency initiatives and its planned further reduction in Basel III risk-weighted
assets (RWA); (ii) developments in the markets in which UBS operates or to which it is exposed, including movements in securities
prices or liquidity, credit spreads, currency exchange rates and interest rates and the effect of economic conditions and market
developments on the financial position or creditworthiness of UBS’s clients and counterparties; (iii) changes in the availability of
capital and funding, including any changes in UBS’s credit spreads and ratings, or arising from requirements for bail-in debt or loss-
absorbing capital; (iv) changes in or the implementation of financial legislation and regulation in Switzerland, the US, the UK and
other financial centers that may impose more stringent capital (including leverage ratio), liquidity and funding requirements,
incremental tax requirements, additional levies, limitations on permitted activities, constraints on remuneration or other measures;

(v) uncertainty as to when and to what degree the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) will approve reductions to
the incremental RWA resulting from the supplemental operational risk-capital analysis mutually agreed to by UBS and FINMA
effective 31 December 2013, or will approve a limited reduction of capital requirements due to measures to reduce resolvability risk;
(vi) possible changes to the legal entity structure or booking model of UBS Group in response to enacted, proposed or future legal and
regulatory requirements, including capital requirements, the proposal to require non-US banks to establish intermediate holding
companies for their US operations, resolvability requirements and the pending Swiss parliamentary proposals and proposals in other
countries for mandatory structural reform of banks; (vii) changes in UBS’s competitive position, including whether differences in
regulatory capital and other requirements among the major financial centers will adversely affect UBS’s ability to compete in certain
lines of business; (viii) the liability to which UBS may be exposed, or possible constraints or sanctions that regulatory authorities
might impose on UBS, due to litigation, contractual claims and regulatory investigations; (ix) the effects on UBS’s cross-border
banking business of tax or regulatory developments and of possible changes in UBS’s policies and practices relating to this business;
(x) UBS’s ability to retain and attract the employees necessary to generate revenues and to manage, support and control its businesses,
which may be affected by competitive factors including differences in compensation practices; (xi) changes in accounting or tax
standards or policies, and determinations or interpretations affecting the recognition of gain or loss, the valuation of goodwill, the
recognition of deferred tax assets and other matters; (xii) limitations on the effectiveness of UBS’s internal processes for risk
management, risk control, measurement and modeling, and of financial models generally; (xiii) whether UBS will be successful in
keeping pace with competitors in updating its technology, particularly in trading businesses; (xiv) the occurrence of operational
failures, such as fraud, unauthorized trading and systems failures; and (xv) the effect that these or other factors or unanticipated events
may have on our reputation and the additional consequences that this may have on our business and performance. The sequence in
which the factors above are presented is not indicative of their likelihood of occurrence or the potential magnitude of their
consequences. Our business and financial performance could be affected by other factors identified in our past and future filings and
reports, including those filed with the SEC. More detailed information about those factors is set forth in documents furnished by UBS
and filings made by UBS with the SEC. UBS is not under any obligation to (and expressly disclaims any obligation to) update or alter
its forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events, or otherwise.
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PARTI

Item 1. Identity of Directors, Senior Management and Advisors.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

Item 2. Offer Statistics and Expected Timetable.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.
Item 3. Key Information
A - Selected Financial Data.

Please see Selected Financial Data on pages 538 to 542 and Statement of changes in equity on pages 354 to 355 of the
Annual Report 2013 of UBS AG (the “Annual Report”) which is annexed hereto and forms an integral part hereof.

The exchange rate for the Swiss franc as reported by the Federal Reserve System (H.10 Weekly) on 7 March 2014 was
CHF 0.8785 per USD 1. See page 538 of the Annual Report for additional exchange rate information.

Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges.
Please see page 542 of the Annual Report and Exhibit 7 to this Form 20-F.

B - Capitalization and Indebtedness.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

C — Reasons for the Offer and Use of Proceeds.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

D - Risk Factors.
Please see pages 53 to 64 of the Annual Report.

Item 4. Information on the Company.

A - History and Development of the Company

1-3 Please see Corporate information on page 7 of the Annual Report.

4 Please see The making of UBS on pages 14 to 16 and Our strategy on pages 26 to 29 of the Annual Report.
5-7 Not applicable.



B — Business Overview.

1,2,5,7 Please refer to pages 8 to 9 and 33 to 49 of the Annual Report. For a breakdown of revenues by category of activity
and geographic market for each of the last three financial years, please refer to Note 2a to the consolidated financial statements (the
“Financial Statements”), Segment reporting, on pages 381 to 384, and Note 2b to the Financial Statements, Segment reporting by
geographic location, on page 385 of the Annual Report.

3 Please refer to Seasonal characteristics on page 32 of the Annual Report.
4 Not applicable.
6 None.

8 Please see Regulatory and legal developments and Regulation and supervision on pages 21 to 25 and 50 to 52, respectively, of the
Annual Report.

Disclosure Pursuant To Section 219 of the Iran Threat Reduction And Syrian Human Rights Act

Section 219 of the U.S. Iran Threat Reduction and Syria Human Rights Act of 2012 (“ITRA”) added new Section 13(r) to the U.S.
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) requiring each SEC reporting issuer to disclose in its annual and,
if applicable, quarterly reports whether it or any of its affiliates have knowingly engaged in certain activities, transactions or dealings
relating to Iran or with the Government of Iran or certain designated natural persons or entities involved in terrorism or the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction during the period covered by the report. The required disclosure includes disclosure of
activities not prohibited by U.S. or other law even if conducted outside the U.S. by non-U.S. affiliates in compliance with local law.
Pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Exchange Act, we note the following for the period covered by this annual report:

UBS AG has a Group Sanctions Policy which was implemented in 2006 that prohibits transactions involving sanctioned countries,
including Iran, and sanctioned individuals and entities. However, UBS continues to maintain one account involving the Iranian
government under the auspices of the United Nations in Geneva after agreeing with the Swiss government that it would do so only
under certain conditions. These conditions include that payments involving the account must: (1) be made within Switzerland; (2) be
consistent with paying rent, salaries, telephone and other expenses necessary for its operations in Geneva; and (3) not involve any
Specially Designated Nationals blocked or otherwise restricted under U.S. or Swiss law. In 2013, the gross/net revenues for this UN
related account were approximately USD 15,857 which was generated by fees charged to the account; the net profit was
approximately USD 10,647 after deductions were taken for UBS internal costs for maintaining the account. UBS AG intends to
continue maintaining this account pursuant to the conditions it has established and consistent with its Group Sanctions Policy.

As previously reported, there were also certain outstanding trade finance arrangements that had been issued on behalf of Swiss client
exporters in favor of their Iranian counterparties which involve four Iranian designated banks (WMD). At the time these trade finance
arrangements were initiated in or about 2000, none of the Iran banks involved were WMD-designated. In February 2012, due to
increasing risks involving Iran, UBS ceased accepting payments on these outstanding export trade finance arrangements and worked
with the Swiss government who insured these contracts (Swiss Export Risk Insurance “SERV”). On December 21, 2013, UBS and the
SERV entered into certain Transfer and Assignment Agreements under which SERV purchased all of UBS’s remaining receivables
under or in connection with Iran-related export finance transactions. Subsequently the SERV notified the Iranian banks and requested
their agreement. Such agreement is stipulated under the terms of the original contracts. To date UBS has not been informed of any
confirmation. Hence from a legal perspective, the SERYV is the sole beneficiary of said receivables. Contractually UBS

U All figures in this Section 219 disclosure are stated in US dollars for convenience and consistency, although the underlying
transactions are denominated in other currencies, principally Swiss francs.
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remains creditor and thus accordingly it is not yet in the position to write off these receivables. There was no financial activity
involving Iran in connection with these trade finance arrangements in 2013. In connection with these trade finance arrangements,
UBS has maintained one existing account relationship with an Iranian bank that is currently WMD designated. This account was
established as a correspondent banking relationship prior to the U.S. designation. In 2006, when UBS implemented its Group
Sanctions Policy, the relationship was closed but the account was maintained due to the existing trade finance arrangements. In or
about 2007, following the designation of the bank pursuant to sanctions issued by the U.S., UN and Switzerland, the account was
blocked under Swiss law and has remained blocked since then. Client assets as of December 2013 were USD 3,553. We intend to
terminate these legacy arrangements and relationships in accordance with the nature of these instruments and applicable law. As there
have been no transactions involving this account in 2013 other than general account fees, there are no gross profits/net revenues to
report for 2013.

In 1993, a non-Iranian individual opened a private banking relationship at a predecessor institution of UBS AG in Switzerland. In
2001, this individual was designated under Executive Order 13224 and remains so today. In 2001, the individual’s accounts at UBS
AG were blocked by order of the Swiss authorities. The Swiss authorities lifted the blocking of the individual’s UBS accounts in
October 2012. UBS AG does not intend to continue this activity and has been in the process of exiting this client relationship. UBS
AG has frozen the client’s remaining account until it can be closed as permitted by applicable law. In 2013, the gross revenues for this
client relationship were approximately USD -2,667 and the net loss was approximately USD -10,025.

C - Organizational Structure.

Please see UBS and its businesses on pages 8 to 9 of the Annual Report and Note 30 to the Financial Statements, Inferests
in subsidiaries and other entities, on pages 481 to 487 of the Annual Report.

D - Property, Plant and Equipment.

Please see Property, plant and equipment on page 543, Note 16 to the Financial Statements, Property and equipment, on
page 408, and Note 33 to the Financial Statements, Operating lease commitments, on page 489, of the Annual Report.

Information Required by Industry Guide 3

Please see Information required by industry guide 3 on pages 544 to 557 of the Annual Report. See also Selected financial
data on pages 538 to 542 of the Annual Report for the return on equity attributable to UBS shareholders, return on average equity,
return on average assets, dividend payout ratio and ratio of average equity to average assets.
Item 4A. Unresolved Staff Comments.

None.

Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and Prospects.
A - Operating Results.

Please see UBS key figures on page 6, Measurement of performance on pages 30 to 32, and Group performance on pages
75 to 97 of the Annual Report. For a discussion of operating results by business division, please refer to pages 98 to 138 of the
Annual Report.



For information regarding the impact of foreign currency fluctuations, see Currency management on page 225 and Our
global presence subjects us to risk from currency fluctuations on page 61 of the Annual Report. For information regarding
governmental policies that could affect operations, see Current market climate and industry drivers on pages 18 to 20 and Regulatory
and legal developments on pages 21 to 25 of the Annual Report.

B - Liquidity and Capital Resources.

We believe that our working capital is sufficient for the company’s present requirements. Liquidity and capital management is
undertaken at UBS as an integrated asset and liability management function. For a detailed discussion, please see Liquidity and
funding management on pages 216 to 224, Capital management on pages 226 to 252 and Note 25a to the Financial Statements,
Restricted financial assets, on page 449, of the Annual Report.

For a discussion of UBS’s borrowings and cash flows, please see Balance sheet on pages 89 to 93 and Cash flows on page 97 of
the Annual Report.

Please see also Currency management on page 225 of the Annual Report, Note 20 to the Financial Statements, Financial
liabilities designated at fair value, on pages 413 to 414 and Note 21 to the Financial Statements, Debt issued held at amortized cost,
on pages 414 to 415 of the Annual Report.

C - Research and Development, Patents and Licenses, etc.

Not applicable.

D - Trend Information.

Please see Current market climate and industry drivers on pages 18 to 20 of the Annual Report.

E - Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements.

Please see Off-balance sheet on pages 94 to 96 of the Annual Report and Note 25 to the Financial Statements, Restricted and
transferred financial assets, on pages 449 to 452 and Note 33 to the Financial Statements, Operating lease commitments, on
page 489 of the Annual Report.

F - Tabular Disclosure of Contractual Obligations.

Please see Contractual obligations on page 95 of the Annual Report.

Item 6. Directors, Senior Management and Employees.

A - Directors and Senior Management.

1,2,3 Please see pages 264 to 268 and pages 273 to 276 of the Annual Report.
4, 5 None.

B - Compensation.

1 Please see pages 305 to 339 of the Annual Report and also Note 29 to the Financial Statements, Equity participation and other
compensation plans, on pages 471 to 480 and Note 34 to the Financial Statements, Related parties, on pages 490 to 492 of the Annual
Report.



2 Please see Note 28 to the Financial Statements, Pension and other post-employment benefit plans, on pages 459 to 470 of the
Annual Report.

C - Board practices.
1 Please see pages 264 to 280 of the Annual Report.

2 Please see pages 308 to 339 of the Annual Report and Note 34 to the Financial Statements, Related parties, on pages 490 to 492 of
the Annual Report.

3 Please see Audit committee and Human Resources and Compensation Committee on pages 269 to 270 of the Annual Report.

D—Employees.
Please see Our employees on pages 296 to 301 of the Annual Report.

E—Share Ownership.

Please see pages 336 to 338 in the Annual Report, Note 29 to the Financial Statements, Equity participation and other
compensation plans, on pages 471 to 480 of the Annual Report and “Equity holdings” in Note 34 to the Financial Statements, Related
parties, on page 490 of the Annual Report.

Item 7. Major Shareholders and Related Party Transactions.
A—Major Shareholders.

Please see Group structure and shareholders on pages 256 to 257 and Capital structure on pages 258 to 261 of the Annual
Report. The number of shares held by the respective shareholders listed in the “Shareholders registered in the UBS share register with
3% or more of shares issued” table on page 257 is as follows:

Shareholder Number of shares held
Chase Nominees Ltd., London 450,540,638
GIC Private Limited, Singapore 245,517,417
DTC (Cede & Co.), New York 226,191,092
Nortrust Nominees Ltd., London 143,960,557

Please see Transferability, voting rights and nominee registration on page 260 of the Annual Report for information about certain
restrictions on the rights of the listed shareholders.

B—Related Party Transactions.

Please see Loans on page 317 of the Annual Report, Note 34 to the Financial Statements, Related parties, on pages 490 to 492
of the Annual Report and Loans granted to GEB members on 31 December 2013/2012 and Loans granted to BoD members on
31 December 2013/2012 on page 339 of the Annual Report.

The aforementioned loans (a) were made in the ordinary course of business, (b) were made on substantially the same terms, including
interest rates and collateral, as those prevailing at the time for comparable transactions with other persons, and (c) did not involve
more than the normal risk of collectability or present other unfavorable features.
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C—Interests of Experts and Counsel.

Not applicable because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

Item 8. Financial Information.

A—Consolidated Statements and Other Financial Information.

1,2,3,4,5, 6 Please see Item 18 of this Form 20-F.

7 Information on material legal and regulatory proceedings is in Note 22 to the Financial Statements, Provisions and contingent
liabilities, on pages 415 to 425 of the Annual Report. For developments during the year, please see also Note 17, Provisions and
contingent liabilities, in the Financial Information section in our respective quarterly reports for the First Quarter 2013, filed on Form
6-K dated April 30, 2013, the Second Quarter 2013, filed on Form 6-K dated July 30, 2013 and the Third Quarter 2013, filed on Form
6-K dated October 29, 2013; as well as Note 15, Provisions and contingent liabilities, in the Financial Information section in our

quarterly report for the Fourth Quarter 2013, filed on Form 6-K dated February 4, 2014. The Notes in each such Quarterly Report
speak only as of their respective dates.

8 Please refer to Distributions to shareholders on page 260 of the Annual Report for a description of UBS’s dividend policy.

B—Significant Changes.

Please see Note 1 to the Financial Statements, Summary of significant accounting policies, on pages 359 to 380, Note 2a to the
Financial Statements, Segment reporting, on pages 381 to 384, and Note 37 to the Financial Statements, Events after the reporting
period, on page 494 of the Annual Report.

Item 9. The Offer and Listing.

A - Offer and Listing Details.
1,2,3,5,6,7 Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.
4 Please see Stock exchange prices on page 252 of the Annual Report.

B—Plan of Distribution.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

C—Markets.

UBS’s shares are listed and traded on the SIX Swiss Exchange and the New York Stock Exchange. The symbols are shown on
page 251 of the Annual Report.

D—Selling Shareholders.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

E—Dilution.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.
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F—Expenses of the Issue.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

Item 10. Additional Information.

A—Share Capital.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

B—Memorandum and Articles of Association.

Please see the Articles of Association of UBS AG and the Organization Regulations of UBS AG (Exhibits 1.1 and 1.2,
respectively, to this Form 20-F).

Set forth below is a summary of the material provisions of our Articles of Association, which we call the “Articles” throughout
this document, Organization Regulations and the Swiss Code of Obligations relating to our shares. This description does not purport
to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by references to Swiss law, including Swiss company law, and to the Articles and
Organization Regulations.

The shares are registered shares with a par value of CHF 0.10 per share. The shares are fully paid up.

Each share carries one vote at our shareholders’ meetings. Voting rights may be exercised only after a shareholder has been
recorded in our share register as a shareholder with voting rights. Registration with voting rights is subject to certain restrictions. See
“— Transfer of Shares” and “—Shareholders’ Meeting”.

The Articles provide that we may elect not to print and deliver certificates in respect of registered shares. Shareholders may,
however, following registration in the share register, request at any time that we issue a written statement in respect of their shares.

For information regarding the Board of Directors, see Elections and terms of office and Organizational principles and structure
on pages 269 to 271 of the Annual Report.

Transfer of Shares

The transfer of shares is effected by corresponding entry in the books of a bank or depository institution following an
assignment in writing by the selling shareholder and notification of such assignment to us by the bank or depository institution. The
transfer of shares further requires that the purchaser file a share registration form in order to be registered in our share register as a
shareholder. Failing such registration, the purchaser may not vote at or participate in shareholders’ meetings.

A purchaser of shares will be recorded in our share register with voting rights upon disclosure of its name, citizenship and
address. However, we may decline a registration with voting rights if the shareholder does not declare that it has acquired the shares
in its own name and for its own account. If the shareholder refuses to make such declaration, it will be registered as a shareholder
without voting rights.

There is no limitation under Swiss law or our Articles on the right of non-Swiss residents or nationals to own or vote our shares.
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Shareholders’ Meeting

Under Swiss law, annual ordinary shareholders’ meetings must be held within six months after the end of our financial year,
which is 31 December. Shareholders’ meetings may be convened by the Board of Directors (BoD) or, if necessary, by the statutory
auditors, with twenty-days’ advance notice. The BoD is further required to convene an extraordinary shareholders’ meeting if so
resolved by a shareholders’ meeting or if so requested by shareholders holding in aggregate at least 10% of our nominal share capital.
Shareholders holding shares with an aggregate par value of at least CHF 62,500 have the right to request that a specific proposal be
put on the agenda and voted upon at the next shareholders” meeting. A shareholders’ meeting is convened by publishing a notice in
the Swiss Official Commercial Gazette (Schweizerisches Handelsamtsblatt) at least twenty days prior to such meeting.

Please refer to Shareholders’ participation rights on pages 262 to 263 of the Annual Report for more information about
shareholder participation in the decision-making process.

The Articles do not require a minimum number of shareholders to be present in order to hold a shareholders’ meeting.
Resolutions generally require the approval of an “absolute majority” of the votes cast at a shareholders’ meeting. Shareholders’
resolutions requiring a vote by absolute majority include:
¢ Amendments to the Articles;
* Elections of directors and statutory auditors;
e Approval of the annual report and the consolidated statements of accounts;

e Approval of the annual financial statements and the resolution on the use of the balance sheet profit (declaration of
dividend);
e Decisions to discharge directors and management from liability for matters disclosed to the shareholders’ meeting; and
* Passing resolutions on matters which are by law or by the Articles reserved to the shareholders’ meeting (e.g., the ordering
of an independent investigation into the specific matters proposed to the shareholders’ meeting).
Under the Articles, a resolution passed at a shareholders’ meeting with a supermajority of at least two thirds of the Shares
represented at such meeting is required to:
* Change the limits on BoD size in the Articles;
¢ Remove one fourth or more of the members of the BoD; or
e Delete or modify the above supermajority requirements.
Under Swiss corporate law, a resolution passed by at least two thirds of votes represented and an absolute majority of the par
value of the shares represented must approve:
e A change in our stated purpose in the Articles;
e The creation of shares with privileged voting rights;
e A restriction on transferability of shares;
* Anincrease in authorized or contingent capital or the creation of reserve capital in accordance with Swiss banking law;

* An increase in capital out of equity against contribution in kind, for the purpose of acquisition and granting of special
rights;

* Changes to pre-emptive rights;
* A change of domicile of the corporation; or

* Dissolution of the corporation.
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At shareholders’ meetings, a shareholder can be represented by his or her legal representative or under a written power of
attorney by another shareholder eligible to vote, by a corporate proxy, by the independent proxy or by a custodial proxy. Votes are
taken electronically, by written ballot or by a show of hands. If a written ballot is requested by at least 3% of the votes present at the
shareholders’ meeting or such ballot is ordered by the Chairman of the meeting, a written ballot will be conducted.

Net Profits and Dividends

Swiss law requires that at least 5% of the annual net profits of a corporation must be retained as general reserves for so long as
these reserves amount to less than 20% of the corporation’s nominal share capital. Any net profits remaining are at the disposal of the
shareholders’ meeting, except that, if an annual dividend exceeds 5% of the nominal share capital, then 10% of such excess must be
retained as general reserves.

Under Swiss law, dividends may be paid out only if the corporation has sufficient distributable profits from previous business
years or if the reserves of the corporation are sufficient to allow distribution of a dividend. In either event, dividends may be paid out
only after approval by the shareholders’ meeting. The BoD may propose to the shareholders that a dividend be paid out. The auditors
must confirm that the dividend proposal of the Board conforms with statutory law. In practice, the shareholders’ meeting usually
approves the dividend proposal of the BoD.

Dividends are usually due and payable after the shareholders’ resolution relating to the allocation of profits has been passed.
Under Swiss law, the statute of limitations in respect of dividend payments is five years.

U.S. holders of shares will receive dividend payments in U.S. dollars, unless they provide notice to our U.S. transfer agent,
Computershare, that they wish to receive dividend payments in Swiss francs. The U.S. transfer agent will be responsible for paying
the U.S. dollars or Swiss francs to registered holders, and for withholding any required amounts for taxes or other governmental
charges. If the U.S. transfer agent determines, after consultation with us, that in its judgment any foreign currency received by it
cannot be converted into U.S. dollars or transferred to U.S. holders, it may distribute the foreign currency received by it, or an
appropriate document evidencing the right to receive such currency, or in its discretion hold such foreign currency for the accounts of
U.S. holders.

Preemptive Rights

Under Swiss law, any share issue, whether for cash or non-cash consideration or for no consideration, is subject to the prior
approval of the shareholders’ meeting. Shareholders of a Swiss corporation have certain preemptive rights to subscribe for new issues
of shares in proportion to the nominal amount of shares held. The Articles or a resolution adopted at a shareholders’ meeting with a
supermajority may, however, limit or suspend preemptive rights in certain limited circumstances.

Borrowing Power

Neither Swiss law nor the Articles restrict in any way our power to borrow and raise funds. No shareholders’ resolution is
required.
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Confflicts of Interests

Swiss law does not have a general provision on conflicts of interests. However, the Swiss Code of Obligations requires directors
and members of senior management to safeguard the interests of the corporation and, as such, imposes a duty of care and a duty of
loyalty on directors and officers. This rule is generally understood as disqualifying directors and senior officers from participating in
decisions that directly affect them. Directors and officers are personally liable to the corporation for any breach of these provisions. In
addition, Swiss law contains a provision under which payments made to a shareholder or a director or any person associated
therewith, other than at arm’s length, must be repaid to us if the shareholder or director was acting in bad faith.

In addition, our Organization Regulations prohibit any member of the BoD from participating in discussions and decision-
making regarding a matter as to which he or she has a conflict of interest.

Repurchase of Shares

Swiss law limits a corporation’s ability to hold or repurchase its own shares. We and our subsidiaries may only repurchase
shares if we have sufficient free reserves to pay the purchase price and if the aggregate nominal value of the shares does not exceed
10% of our nominal share capital. Furthermore, we must create a special reserve on our balance sheet in the amount of the purchase
price of the acquired shares. Such shares held by us or our subsidiaries do not carry any rights to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

Notices
Notices to shareholders are made by publication in the Swiss Official Gazette of Commerce. The BoD may designate further
means of communication for publishing notices to shareholders.

Notices required under the listing rules of the SIX Swiss Exchange will be published in two Swiss newspapers in German and
French. We or the SIX Swiss Exchange may also disseminate the relevant information on the online exchange information systems.

Registration and Business Purpose
We are registered as a corporation in the commercial registers of Canton Zurich and Canton Basle-City under the registration
number CHE-101.329.561 and have registered offices in Zurich and Basel, Switzerland.

Our business purpose, as set forth in our Articles, is the operation of a bank, with a scope of operations extending to all types of
banking, financial, advisory, trading and service activities in Switzerland and abroad.

Duration, Liquidation and Merger

Our duration is unlimited.

Under Swiss law, we may be dissolved at any time by a shareholders’ resolution which must be passed by (1) an absolute
majority of the shares represented at the meeting in the event we are to be dissolved by way of liquidation, or (2) a supermajority of at

least two thirds of the votes represented and an absolute majority of the par value of the shares represented at the meeting in other
events (for example, in a merger where we are not the surviving entity). Dissolution by court order is possible if we become bankrupt.

Under Swiss law, any surplus arising out of a liquidation (after the settlement of all claims of all creditors) is distributed to
shareholders in proportion to the paid-up nominal value of shares held.
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Disclosure of Principal Shareholders

Under the applicable provisions of the Swiss Stock Exchange Act, shareholders and shareholders acting in concert with third
parties who reach, exceed or fall below the thresholds of 3%, 5%, 10%, 15%, 20%, 25%, 33 1/3%, 50% or 66 2/3% of the voting
rights of a Swiss listed corporation must notify the corporation and the SIX Swiss Exchange on which such shares are listed of such
holdings, whether or not the voting rights can be exercised. Following receipt of such notification, the corporation has the obligation
to inform the public. The corporation must disclose in an attachment to the balance sheet the identity of any shareholders who own in
excess of 5% of its shares.

Mandatory Tender Offer

Under the Swiss Stock Exchange Act, shareholders and shareholders acting in concert with third parties who acquire more than
33 1/3% of the voting rights of a Swiss listed company will have to submit a takeover bid to all remaining shareholders. A waiver
from the mandatory bid rule may be granted by our supervisory authority. If no waiver is granted, the mandatory takeover bid must be
made pursuant to the procedural rules set forth in the Swiss Stock Exchange Act and implementing ordinances.

Other

Ernst & Young Ltd, Aeschengraben 9, CH-4051 Basel, Switzerland, have been appointed as statutory auditors and as auditors of
the consolidated accounts of UBS. The auditors are subject to election by the shareholders at the ordinary general meeting on an
annual basis.

Please see Capital structure on pages 258 to 261, Shareholders’ participation rights on pages 262 to 263 and Elections and
terms of office on page 269 of the Annual Report.

C—Material Contracts.

The Fiscal Agency Agreement related to the loss-absorbing tier 2 notes issued on 17 August 2012 is filed herewith as an exhibit.
Please see the description of these notes under Tier 2 capital on page 231 of the Annual Report.

The Non-Prosecution Agreement that UBS entered into with the US Department of Justice on December 18, 2012, is filed
herewith as an exhibit. Please see the description of this agreement in paragraph 9 of Note 22b to the Financial Statements, Litigation,
regulatory and similar matters, on pages 422 to 424 of the Annual Report

D—Exchange Controls.

There are no restrictions under UBS’s Articles of Association or Swiss law, presently in force, that limit the right of non-resident
or foreign owners to hold UBS’s securities freely. There are currently no Swiss foreign exchange controls or other Swiss laws
restricting the import or export of capital by UBS or its subsidiaries. In addition, there are currently no restrictions under Swiss law
affecting the remittance of dividends, interest or other payments to non-resident holders of UBS securities.
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E—Taxation.

This section outlines the material Swiss tax and U.S. federal income tax consequences of the ownership of UBS ordinary shares
by a U.S. holder (as defined below) who holds UBS ordinary shares as capital assets. It is designed to explain the major interactions
between Swiss and U.S. taxation for U.S. persons who hold UBS shares.

The discussion does not address the tax consequences to persons who hold UBS ordinary shares in particular circumstances,
such as tax-exempt entities, banks, financial institutions, life insurance companies, broker-dealers, traders in securities that elect to
use a mark-to-market method of accounting for securities holdings, holders liable for alternative minimum tax, holders that actually or
constructively own 10% or more of the voting stock of UBS, holders that hold UBS ordinary shares as part of a straddle or a hedging
or conversion transaction, holders that purchase or sell ordinary shares as part of a wash sale for tax purposes or holders whose
functional currency for U.S. tax purposes is not the U.S. dollar. This discussion also does not apply to holders who acquired their
UBS ordinary shares through a tax-qualified retirement plan, nor generally to unvested UBS ordinary shares held under deferred
compensation arrangements.

If a partnership holds UBS ordinary shares, the U.S. federal income tax treatment of a partner will generally depend on the status
of the partner and the tax treatment of the partnership. A partner in a partnership holding the ordinary shares should consult its tax
advisor with regard to the U.S. federal income tax treatment of an investment in the ordinary shares.

The discussion is based on the tax laws of Switzerland and the United States, including the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986,
as amended, its legislative history, existing and proposed regulations under the Internal Revenue Code, published rulings and court
decisions, as in effect on the date of this document, as well as the Convention between the United States of America and the Swiss
Confederation for the Avoidance of Double Taxation with Respect to Taxes on Income, which we call the “Treaty,” all of which may
be subject to change or change in interpretation, possibly with retroactive effect.

For purposes of this discussion, a “U.S. holder” is any beneficial owner of UBS ordinary shares that is for U.S. federal income
tax purposes:

e A citizen or resident of the United States;
e A domestic corporation or other entity taxable as a corporation;
* An estate, the income of which is subject to U.S. federal income tax without regard to its source; or

* A trust, if a court within the United States is able to exercise primary supervision over the administration of the trust and
one or more U.S. persons have the authority to control all substantial decisions of the trust.

The discussion does not generally address any aspects of Swiss taxation other than income and capital taxation or of U.S.
taxation other than federal income taxation. Holders of UBS shares are urged to consult their tax advisors regarding the U.S. federal,
state and local and the Swiss and other tax consequences of owning and disposing of these shares in their particular circumstances.

(a) Ownership of UBS Ordinary Shares-Swiss Taxation

Dividends and Distributions

Dividends paid by UBS to a holder of UBS ordinary shares (including dividends on liquidation proceeds and stock dividends)
are in principle subject to a Swiss federal withholding tax at a rate of 35%.

Until the end of 2010, the Par Value Principle was applicable. Under the Par Value Principle any distribution, which was not a
repayment of the par value of the shares, was subject to Swiss withholding tax.
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On 1 January 2011, the Par Value Principle was replaced by the Capital Contribution Principle. Under the Capital Contribution
Principle, the repayment of capital contributions, including share premiums made by the shareholders after December 31, 1996 is in
principle no longer subject to Swiss withholding tax if certain requirements regarding the booking of these capital contributions are
met. The Swiss Federal Tax Administration issued guidelines on how the Capital Contribution Principle has to be applied.

A U.S. holder that qualifies for Treaty benefits may apply for a refund of the withholding tax withheld in excess of the 15%
Treaty rate (or for a full refund in case of qualifying retirement arrangements). The claim for refund must be filed with the Swiss
Federal Tax Administration, Eigerstrasse 65, CH-3003 Berne, Switzerland no later than December 31 of the third year following the
end of the calendar year in which the income subject to withholding was due. The form used for obtaining a refund is Swiss Tax
Form 82 (82 C for companies; 82 E for other entities; 82 I for individuals; 82 R for regulated investment companies), which may be
obtained from any Swiss Consulate General in the United States or from the Swiss Federal Tax Administration at the address above.
The form must be filled out in triplicate with each copy duly completed and signed before a notary public in the United States. The
form must be accompanied by evidence of the deduction of withholding tax withheld at the source.

Transfers of UBS Ordinary Shares

The purchase or sale of UBS ordinary shares, whether by Swiss resident or non-resident holders (including U.S. holders), may
be subject to a Swiss securities transfer stamp duty of up to 0.15% calculated on the purchase price or sale proceeds if it occurs
through or with a bank or other securities dealer as defined in the Swiss Federal Stamp Tax Act in Switzerland or the Principality of
Liechtenstein. In addition to the stamp duty, the sale of UBS ordinary shares by or through a member of a recognized stock exchange
may be subject to a stock exchange levy.

Capital gains realized by a U.S. holder upon the sale of UBS ordinary shares are not subject to Swiss income or gains taxes,
unless such U.S. holder holds such shares as business assets of a Swiss business operation qualifying as a permanent establishment for
the purposes of the Treaty. In the latter case, gains are taxed at ordinary Swiss individual or corporate income tax rates, as the case
may be, and losses are deductible for purposes of Swiss income taxes.

(b) Ownership of UBS Ordinary Shares-U.S. Federal Income Taxation

Dividends and Distributions

Subject to the passive foreign investment company rules discussed below, U.S. holders will include in gross income the gross
amount of any dividend paid, before reduction for Swiss withholding taxes, by UBS out of its current or accumulated earnings and
profits, as determined for U.S. federal income tax purposes, as ordinary income when the dividend is actually or constructively
received by the U.S. holder. Distributions in excess of current and accumulated earnings and profits, as determined for U.S. federal
income tax purposes, will be treated as a return of capital to the extent of the U.S. holder’s basis in its UBS ordinary shares and
thereafter as capital gain.

Dividends paid to a noncorporate U.S. holder that constitute qualified dividend income will be taxable to the holder at a
maximum rate of 20%, provided that the holder has a holding period in the shares of more than 60 days during the 121-day period
beginning 60 days before the ex-dividend date and meets other holding period requirements. Dividends paid by UBS with respect to
the shares will generally be qualified dividend income.
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For U.S. federal income tax purposes, a dividend will include a distribution characterized under Swiss law as a repayment of
capital contributions if the distribution is made out of current or accumulated earnings and profits, as described above.

Dividends will generally be income from sources outside the United States for foreign tax credit limitation purposes, and will,
depending on the holder’s circumstances, be either “passive” or “general” income for purposes of computing the foreign tax credit
allowable to the holder. Special rules apply in determining the foreign tax credit limitation with respect to dividends that are subject to
the maximum 20% rate. The dividend will not be eligible for the dividends-received deduction generally allowed to U.S. corporations
in respect of dividends received from other U.S. corporations.

The amount of the dividend distribution included in income of a U.S. holder will be the U.S. dollar value of the Swiss franc
payments made, determined at the spot Swiss franc/U.S. dollar rate on the date such dividend distribution is includible in the income
of the U.S. holder, regardless of whether the payment is in fact converted into U.S. dollars. Generally, any gain or loss resulting from
currency exchange fluctuations during the period from the date the dividend distribution is included in income to the date such
dividend distribution is converted into U.S. dollars will be treated as ordinary income or loss and will not be eligible for the special
tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income. Such gain or loss will generally be income or loss from sources within the United
States for foreign tax credit limitation purposes.

Subject to U.S. foreign tax credit limitations, the nonrefundable Swiss tax withheld and paid over to Switzerland will be
creditable or deductible against the U.S. holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability. To the extent a refund of the tax withheld is
available to a U.S. holder under the laws of Switzerland or under the Treaty, the amount of tax withheld that is refundable will not be
eligible for credit against the U.S. holder’s U.S. federal income tax liability, whether or not the refund is actually obtained. See “(a)
Ownership of UBS Ordinary Shares — Swiss Taxation” above, for the procedures for obtaining a tax refund.

Transfers of UBS Ordinary Shares

Subject to the passive foreign investment company rules discussed below, a U.S. holder that sells or otherwise disposes of UBS
ordinary shares generally will recognize capital gain or loss for U.S. federal income tax purposes equal to the difference between the
U.S. dollar value of the amount realized and the tax basis, determined in U.S. dollars, in the UBS ordinary shares. Capital gain of a
non-corporate U.S. holder is generally taxed at preferential rates if the UBS ordinary shares were held for more than one year. The
gain or loss will generally be income or loss from sources within the United States for foreign tax credit limitation purposes.

Passive Foreign Investment Company Rules

UBS believes that UBS ordinary shares should not be treated as stock of a passive foreign investment company for U.S. federal
income tax purposes, but this conclusion is a factual determination made annually and thus may be subject to change. In general, UBS
will be a passive foreign investment company with respect to a U.S. holder if, for any taxable year in which the U.S. holder held UBS
ordinary shares, either (i) at least 75% of the gross income of UBS for the taxable year is passive income or (ii) at least 50% of the
value, determined on the basis of a quarterly average, of UBS’s assets is attributable to assets that produce or are held for the
production of passive income (including cash). If UBS were to be treated as a passive foreign investment company, then unless a U.S.
holder were to make a mark-to-market election with respect to the UBS ordinary shares, gain realized on the sale or other disposition
of UBS ordinary shares would in general not be treated as capital gain. Instead, a U.S. holder would be treated as if the holder had
realized such gain and certain “excess distributions” ratably over the three preceding taxable years or, if shorter, the holder’s holding
period for the shares and would be taxed at the highest tax rate in effect for each such year to which the gain was allocated, together
with an interest charge in respect of the tax attributable to each such
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year. With certain exceptions, a holder’s UBS ordinary shares will be treated as stock in a passive foreign investment company if
UBS was a passive foreign investment company at any time during the holder’s holding period in the UBS ordinary shares. In
addition, dividends received from UBS would not be eligible for the preferential tax rate applicable to qualified dividend income if
UBS were to be treated as a passive foreign investment company either in the taxable year of the distribution or the preceding taxable
year, but would instead be taxable at rates applicable to ordinary income.

F—Dividends and Paying Agents.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

G—Statement by Experts.

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

H—Documents on Display.

UBS files periodic reports and other information with the Securities and Exchange Commission. You may read and copy any
document that we file with the SEC on the SEC’s website, www.sec.gov, or at the SEC’s public reference room at 100 F Street, N.E.,
Room 1580, Washington, D.C. 20549. Please call the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330 (in the United States) or at +1 202 942 8088 (outside
the United States) for further information on the operation of its public reference room. Much of this additional information may also
be found on the UBS website at www.ubs.com/investors.

I—Subsidiary Information.

Not applicable.

Item 11. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk.

(a) Quantitative Information About Market Risk.
Please see Market risk on pages 188 to 204 of the Annual Report.

(b) Qualitative Information About Market Risk.
Please see Market risk on pages 188 to 204 of the Annual Report.

(c) Interim Periods.

Not applicable.

Item 12. Description of Securities Other than Equity Securities.

A — Debt Securities

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

B — Warrants and Rights

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

C — Other Securities

Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

D - American Depositary Shares
1,2 Not required because this Form 20-F is filed as an annual report.

3,4 Not applicable.
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PART II

Item 13. Defaults, Dividend Arrearages and Delinquencies.

There has been no material default in respect of any indebtedness of UBS or any of its significant subsidiaries or any arrearages
of dividends or any other material delinquency not cured within 30 days relating to any preferred stock of UBS AG or any of its
significant subsidiaries.

Item 14. Material Modifications to the Rights of Security Holders and Use of Proceeds.

None.

Item 15. Controls and Procedures.

(a) Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Please see US regulatory disclosure requirements on page 282 of the Annual Report. See also Exhibit 12 to this Form 20-F.

(b) Management’s Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Please see Management’s report on internal control over financial reporting on page 345 of the Annual Report.

(c) Attestation Report of the Registered Public Accounting Form
Please see Report of independent registered public accounting firm on internal control over financial reporting on pages 346 to
347 of the Annual Report.

(d) Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

None.

Item 15T. Controls and Procedures.

Not applicable.
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Item 16A. Audit Committee Financial Expert.
Please see Audit Committee on pages 269 to 270 and Corporate governance on pages 254 to 255 of the Annual Report.

Item 16B. Code of Ethics.

There was no substantive amendment to the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics (the “Code’) in 2013. No waiver from
any provision of the Code was granted to any employee in 2013.

The Code is published on our website under
http://www.ubs.com/1/e/investors/corporategovernance/business conduct.html.

Item 16C. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Please see Auditors on pages 279 to 280 of the Annual Report. None of the non-audit services disclosed in the table on
page 279 were approved by the Audit Committee pursuant to paragraph (c) (7)(i)(C ) of Rule 2-01 of Regulation S-X.

Item 16D. Exemptions from the Listing Standards for Audit Committees.
Not applicable.

Item 16E. Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchasers.
Please see Treasury share activities on page 250 of the Annual Report.

Item 16F. Changes in Registrant’s Certifying Accountant.
Not applicable.

Item 16G. Corporate Governance.

Please see Corporate governance on pages 254 to 255 of the Annual Report.
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Item 17.

Item 18.

PART III
Financial Statements.

Not applicable.

Financial Statements.

Please see the Financial Statements and the Notes to the Financial Statements on pages 342 to 505 of the Annual Report.

Item 19. Exhibits.

Exhibit
number

1.1
1.2

2(b)

4.1

42
43
4.4

12
13

15

Description
Atrticles of Association of UBS AG.

Organization Regulations of UBS AG. (Incorporated by reference to UBS AG’s Report of Foreign Private Issuer on
Form 6-K filed January 3, 2013)

Instruments defining the rights of the holders of long-term debt issued by UBS AG and its subsidiaries.

We agree to furnish to the SEC upon request, copies of the instruments, including indentures, defining the rights of the
holders of our long-term debt and of our subsidiaries’ long-term debt.

Fiscal Agency Agreement dated August 17, 2012 between UBS AG, acting through its Stamford Branch, and U.S.
Bank, N.A. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to UBS AG’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2012)

Terms and Conditions of Tier 2 Subordinated Notes of UBS AG due 2023, issued 22 May 2013.
Terms and Conditions of Tier 2 Subordinated Notes of UBS AG due 12 February 2026, issued 13 February 2014.

Non-Prosecution Agreement dated 18 December 2012 between UBS AG and the U.S. Department of Justice, Criminal
Division, Fraud Section. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to UBS AG’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2012)

Statement regarding ratio of earnings to fixed charges.
Significant Subsidiaries of UBS AG.

Please see Note 30 to the Financial Statements, Interests in subsidiaries and other entities, on pages 481 to 487 of the
Annual Report.

The certifications required by Rule 13(a)-14(a) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(a))

The certifications required by Rule 13(a)-14(b) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(b)) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of
the U.S. Code (18 U.S.C. 1350).

Consent of Emst & Young Ltd.
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SIGNATURES

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused the
undersigned to sign this annual report on its behalf.

UBS AG

/s/__Sergio Ermotti

Name: Sergio Ermotti
Title: Group Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Tom Naratil

Name: Tom Naratil
Title: Group Chief Financial Officer

March 14, 2014
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2(b)
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43
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12
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15

INDEX TO EXHIBITS

Description
Atrticles of Association of UBS AG.

Organization Regulations of UBS AG. (Incorporated by reference to UBS AG’s Report of Foreign Private Issuer on
Form 6-K filed January 3, 2013)

Instruments defining the rights of the holders of long-term debt issued by UBS AG and its subsidiaries.

We agree to furnish to the SEC upon request, copies of the instruments, including indentures, defining the rights of the
holders of our long-term debt and of our subsidiaries’ long-term debt.

Fiscal Agency Agreement dated August 17, 2012 between UBS AG, acting through its Stamford Branch, and U.S.
Bank, N.A. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to UBS AG’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2012)

Terms and Conditions of Tier 2 Subordinated Notes of UBS AG due 2023, issued 22 May 2013.
Terms and Conditions of Tier 2 Subordinated Notes of UBS AG due 12 February 2026, issued 13 February 2014.

Non-Prosecution Agreement dated 18 December 2012 between UBS AG and the U.S. Department of Justice, Criminal
Division, Fraud Section. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to UBS AG’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the
fiscal year ended December 31, 2012)

Statement regarding ratio of earnings to fixed charges.
Significant Subsidiaries of UBS AG.

Please see Note 30 to the Financial Statements Interests in subsidiaries and other entities, on pages 481 to 487 of the
Annual Report.

The certifications required by Rule 13(a)-14(a) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(a))

The certifications required by Rule 13(a)-14(b) (17 CFR 240.13a-14(b)) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of
the U.S. Code (18 U.S.C. 1350).

Consent of Emst & Young Ltd.
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Annual Report 2013
Letter to shareholders

Dear shareholders,

2013 was the first full year of execution following our
announcement of the accelerated implementation of our
strategy. We made excellent progress thanks to the
dedication of our employees, the trust and confidence of
our clients, and the support of our shareholders. We
accomplished our goals of further adapting our business
to better serve clients, reducing risk, delivering more
sustainable performance and enhancing shareholder
returns. All our businesses were profitable in every
quarter, demonstrating that the firm’s model has the
flexibility to adapt and perform well in a variety of market
conditions. This enabled us to finish a transformational
year ahead of the majority of our strategic and financial
targets.

The financial strength we have created as a firm is the
foundation of our success as it gives us the flexibility to
execute our strategy effectively in the new operating
environment. Additionally, it reinforces client confidence
while allowing us to address the challenges of the past
and to absorb unexpected events. During the year, we
increased adjusted ' profit before tax 44% to CHF 4.1
billion. Most importantly, our progress was recognized by
our clients, who again entrusted us with more of their
assets and business than in the prior year, with our
wealth management businesses attracting a combined
CHF 54 billion of net new money in 2013 alone, 14%
more than in the prior year.

We operate in an environment still characterized by
increased and shifting regulation and with markets
affected by the turbulence of macroeconomic, geopolitical
and unresolved fiscal issues. As a Swiss bank, we are
subject to some of the most stringent regulatory
requirements in the world. We acted early and decisively
to prepare our business for the future with a clear strategy
that focused on building and maintaining our industry-
leading capital position. During 2013, we enhanced this
position, exceeding our own ambitious year-end capital
targets. Since we announced our strategy in the second
half of 2011, we have more than doubled our fully applied
Basel Il common equity tier 1 (CET1) ratio from around
6% to 12.8%. We achieved this improvement primarily
through steady reductions in fully applied risk-weighted
assets (RWA) from around CHF 400 billion to CHF 225
billion at the end of 2013, already meeting our 2015
target. We set a target of a fully applied Basel lll CET1
ratio of 13% by the end of 2014, comfortably above the
regulatory minimum of 10% by 2019.

We finished 2013 well ahead of our plan to manage down
RWA in our Non-core and Legacy Portfolio in Corporate
Center, and achieved this in a manner that protected
shareholder value. Most of the decline in Group RWA
resulted from disposals and other exposure reduction
measures in these units. We also continued to
successfully deleverage our balance sheet, reducing total
assets by over CHF 400 billion since we announced our
strategy. Our Basel Il funding and liquidity ratios and our
Swiss SRB leverage ratio remain comfortably above our
regulatory requirements. We implemented firm-wide
programs to enhance operational excellence and
efficiency, taking gross cost savings measured against
the first half of 2011 to CHF 2.2 billion.

Our success enables us to continue delivering on our
stated objective of progressive capital returns to
shareholders with a recommendation for a 67% increase
in dividend to CHF 0.25 per share for 2013. We are
confident that we will achieve our target of a fully applied
Basel lll CET1 ratio of 13% in 2014. After reaching this,
we aim for a total payout ratio of at least 50% of our
profits.

Our wealth management businesses generated CHF 3.3
billion in adjusted ! profit before tax in 2013, 25% higher
than in the prior year. As the largest and fastest growing
large-scale wealth manager in the world 2, we are well
positioned to gain from improving macroeconomic
conditions, a gradual recovery in interest rates and any
consequent improvement in client risk appetite. We were
awarded “Best Global Wealth Manager” by Euromoney
for the second consecutive year and Private Banker
International named us “Outstanding Global Private Bank
2013.” In Wealth Management, growth and profitability
were led by Asia Pacific, where, in particular, the
partnership between Wealth Management and the
Investment Bank is a key competitive advantage for us,
delivering holistic solutions and attracting new clients.
Europe also recorded positive net new money despite
cross-border outflows. Wealth Management Americas
concluded a record year with the achievement of our
ambition of USD 1 billion in adjusted ! profit before tax for
the year. With financial advisors who generate on
average USD 1 million in annual revenue, our Wealth
Management Americas team has built a business with
USD 1 trillion in invested assets. Our Retail & Corporate
business in Switzerland delivered stable adjusted ' profit
before tax despite ongoing pressure on net interest
margins. The business maintained its

1 Please refer to “Group performance” in the “Financial and operating performance” section for more information on adjusted results. 2 Scorpio Partnership Global
Private Banking Benchmark 2013, based on 2012 data for banks with assets under management of over USD 500 billion.
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Axel A. Weber Chairman of the Board of Directors Sergio P. Ermotti Group Chief Executive Officer
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Letter to shareholders

market-leading position as average client deposits grew
faster than the Swiss economy. Retail & Corporate
remains an important source of new business for Wealth
Management, Global Asset Management and the
Investment Bank. The strong performance of our
Retail & Corporate business in our home market was a
key factor in Euromoney naming UBS “Best Bank in
Switzerland” for the second consecutive year. Global
Asset Management delivered an 8% increase in
adjusted! profit before tax and an adjusted' return on
attributed equity of 33%, despite negative net new
money. We transformed our Investment Bank, enabling
it to deliver an excellent performance while operating
efficiently with reduced RWA and funded assets. In
2013, the business significantly outperformed its target
of an adjusted' pre-tax return on attributed equity of
greater than 15%. We maintained strong positions
globally in the key areas where we have decided to
compete and serve our clients with best-in-class
capabilities. In addition to being recognized as number
one in cash equity globally in a leading private survey,
our Investment Bank was awarded numerous accolades
including Derivatives Intelligence’s “Structured Products
House of the Year” and Euroweek’s “ECM Bank of the
Year.” In

Corporate Center — Core Functions, we reduced total
operating expenses before cost allocations despite
recording net restructuring charges that were
considerably higher than in 2012 as we pushed ahead
with measures to reduce costs for the longer term. In
Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio,
fully applied RWA decreased by CHF 39 billion to CHF
64 billion, significantly better than our year-end 2013
target of CHF 85 billion.

Our clients increasingly want to use their wealth to drive
positive change in society. For a long time, we have
been helping them to invest according to sustainable
and responsible criteria. Building on this capability, in
2013 we made a significant commitment to maximize
these efforts through a dedicated, industry-leading
platform. This will deliver comprehensive research,
advisory and product capabilities in the areas of
sustainable investments and philanthropy. We also
initiated and co-launched the Thun Group of Banks’
discussion paper on banking and human rights based on
the United Nations’ Guiding Principles on Business and
Human Rights in the financial industry. In addition, UBS
was named in the Dow Jones Sustainability Indices,
which track leading

1 Please refer to “Group performance” in the “Financial and operating performance” section for more information on adjusted results.
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sustainability-driven companies worldwide. As a firm, we
remained focused on educational and entrepreneurship
projects globally, including through our employee and
community affairs programs. Our clients and employees
mobilized to contribute to the Typhoon Haiyan relief
efforts in the Philippines. We also maintained our
support of the arts through culturally enriching programs
for our clients, employees and the public. Highlights
included becoming the global partner of Art Basel and
the inaugural exhibition in New York of the Guggenheim
UBS MAP project, which showcases art from emerging
markets. In Switzerland’s capital, UBS sponsored the
Bernisches  Historisches = Museum’s  most-visited
exhibition ever, featuring the well-known terracotta army
of Qin, the first Chinese emperor.

The firm’s success ultimately rests on the achievements
of all our employees and the trust placed in us by our
clients and shareholders. We would like to thank them
for their continued support. We will continue to execute
our strategy in a disciplined manner in order to ensure
the firm’s long-term success and deliver sustainable
returns to our shareholders.

14 March 2014

Yours sincerely,

UBS
Axel A. Weber Sergio P. Ermotti
Chairman of the Group Chief Executive Officer

Board of Directors
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UBS key figures

As of or for the year ended

CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11
Group results

Operating income 27,732 25423 27,788
Operating expenses 24,461 27,216 22,482
Operating profit/(loss) before tax 3272 (1 ,794)' 5,307
Net profit/(loss) attributable to UBS shareholders 3172 (2,480)' 4138
Diluted earnings per share (CHF)! 0.83 (0.66) 1.08
Key performance indicators?, balance sheet and capital management, and additional information

Performance o ) B
Return on equity (RoE) (%) 6.7 (5.1) 9.1
Return on tangible equity (%)3 80 16 119
Return on risk-weighted assets, gross (%)4 11.4 12.0: 13.7
Return on assets, gross (%) 25 1.9 2.1
Growth

Net profit growth (%)% (44.5)
Net new money growth (%)® 1477 16 19
Efficiency . -
Cost/income ratio (%) 88.0 106.6 80.7
Capital strength

Common equity tier 1 capital ratio (%, phase-in)’ 18.5 15.3:

Common equity tier 1 capital ratio (%, fully applied)’ 12.8 9.8

Swiss SRB leverage ratio (%, phase-in)8 4.7 3.6

Balance sheet and capital management

Total assets 1,009,860 1,259,797 1,416,962
Equity attributable to UBS shareholders 48,002 45949 48,530
Total book value per share (CHF)? 12.74 12.26 12.95
Tangible book value per share (CHF)® 11.07 10.54 10.36
Common equity tier 1 capital (phase-in)” 42179 40,032 :
Common equity tier 1 capital (fully applied)’ 28,908 25,182
Risk-weighted assets (phase-in)’ 228,557 261,800

Risk-weighted assets (fully applied)’ 225,153 258,113

Total capital ratio (%, phase-in)’ 22.2 18.9:

Total capital ratio (%, fully applied)’ 15.4 11.4

Additional information

Invested assets (CHF billion)10 2,390 2230 2,088
Personnel (full-time equivalents) 60,205 62,628 64,820
Market capitalization9 65,007 54,729 42,843

1 Refer to “Note 9 Earnings per share (EPS) and shares outstanding” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information. ¢ For the
definitions of our key performance indicators, refer to the “Measurement of performance” section of this report. 3 Net profit/loss attributable to UBS shareholders
before amortization and impairment of goodwill and intangible assets (annualized as applicable)/average equity attributable to UBS shareholders less average
goodwill and intangible assets. 4 Based on Basel Il risk-weighted assets (phase-in) for 2013. Based on Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets for 2012. Based on
Basel Il risk-weighted assets for 2011. 5 Not meaningful and not included if either the reporting period or the comparison period is a loss period. ® Group net
new money includes net new money for Retail & Corporate and excludes interest and dividend income. 7 Based on the Basel Ill framework as applicable for
Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for
more information. & Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information. ® Refer to “UBS shares” in the “Capital management”

section of this report for more information. 10 Group invested assets includes invested assets for Retail & Corporate.
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Corporate information

The legal and commercial name of the company is
UBS AG. The company was formed on 29 June 1998,
when Union Bank of Switzerland (founded 1862) and
Swiss Bank Corporation (founded 1872) merged to
form UBS AG.

Contacts

UBS AG is incorporated and domiciled in
Switzerland and operates under the Swiss Code of
Obligations and Swiss Federal Banking Law as an
Aktiengesellschaft, a corporation that has issued
shares of common stock to investors.

The addresses and telephone numbers of our two
registered offices are: Bahnhofstrasse 45, CH-
8001 Zurich, Switzerland, phone +41-44-234 11
11; and Aeschenvorstadt 1, CH-4051 Basel,
Switzerland, phone +41-61-288 50 50.

UBS AG shares are currently listed on the SIX
Swiss Exchange and the New York Stock
Exchange.

Switchboards
For all general queries.

Zurich +41-44-234 1111
London +44-20-7568 0000
New York +1-212-821 3000
Hong Kong +852-2971 8888
www.ubs.com/contact

Investor Relations

UBS’s Investor Relations team supports institutional,
professional and individual investors from our offices
in Zurich and New York.

UBS AG, Investor Relations,
P.O. Box, CH-8098 Zurich, Switzerland

investorrelations @ ubs.com
www.ubs.com/investors
Hotline +41-44-234 4100
New York +1-212-882 5734
Fax (Zurich) +41-44-234 3415

Corporate calendar

Media Relations

UBS’s Media Relations team supports global media
and journalists from offices in Zurich, London,

New York and Hong Kong.

www.ubs.com/media

Zurich +41-44-234 8500
mediarelations @ubs.com

London +44-20-7567 4714
ubs-media-relations @ ubs.com

New York +1-212-882 5857
mediarelations-ny @ ubs.com

Hong Kong +852-2971 8200
sh-mediarelations-ap @ ubs.com

Office of the Company Secretary

The Company Secretary receives queries on
compensation and related issues addressed to
members of the Board of Directors.

UBS AG, Office of the Company Secretary,
P.O. Box, CH-8098 Zurich, Switzerland

sh-company-secretary @ubs.com

Hotline +41-44-235 6652
Fax +41-44-235 8220

Imprint

Shareholder Services

UBS’s Shareholder Services team, a unit of the
Company Secretary office, is responsible for the
registration of the global registered shares.

UBS AG, Shareholder Services,
P.O. Box, CH-8098 Zurich, Switzerland

sh-shareholder-services @ ubs.com

Hotline +41-44-235 6652
Fax +41-44-235 8220

US Transfer Agent

For all global registered share-related queries
in the US.

Computershare,

P.O. Box 43006, Providence,

R1 02940-3006, USA

Shareholder online inquiries:
https://www-us.computershare.com/investor/
Contact

Shareholder website:
www.computershare.com/investor

Calls from the US +1 866-541 9689
Calls from outside the US +1-201-680 6578

Fax +1-201-680 4675

Publication of the first quarter 2014 report
Tuesday, 6 May 2014

Annual General Meeting of Shareholders
Wednesday, 7 May 2014

Publication of the second quarter 2014 report
Tuesday, 29 July 2014

Publication of the third quarter 2014 report
Tuesday, 28 October 2014

Publisher: UBS AG, Zurich and Basel, Switzerland | www.ubs.com
Language: English | SAP-No. 80531E

© UBS 2014. The key symbol and UBS are among the registered and

unregistered trademarks of UBS. All rights reserved.

Printed in Switzerland on chlorine-free paper with mineral oil-reduced inks.
Paper production from socially responsible and ecologically sound forestry
practices.
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UBS and its businesses

We draw on our over 150-year heritage to serve private, institutional and corporate clients worldwide, as well as
retail clients in Switzerland. Our business strategy is centered on our pre-eminent global wealth management
businesses and our leading universal bank in Switzerland, complemented by our Global Asset Management
business and our Investment Bank, with a focus on capital efficiency and businesses that offer a superior
structural growth and profitability outlook. Headquartered in Zurich and Basel, Switzerland, we have offices in
more than 50 countries, including all major financial centers, and approximately 60,000 employees. UBS AG is
the parent company of the UBS Group (Group). Under Swiss company law, UBS AG is organized as an
Aktiengesellschaft, a corporation that has issued shares of common stock to investors. The operational
structure of the Group comprises the Corporate Center and five business divisions: Wealth Management, Wealth

Management Americas, Retail & Corporate, Global Asset Management and the Investment Bank.

Wealth Management provides comprehensive financial
services to wealthy private clients around the world —
except those served by Wealth Management Americas.
Its clients benefit from the entire spectrum of UBS
resources, ranging from investment management to
estate planning and corporate finance advice, in addition
to specific wealth management products and services.

Wealth Management Americas provides advice-based
solutions and banking services through financial
advisors who deliver a fully integrated set of products
and services specifically designed to address the needs
of ultra high net worth and high net worth individuals

and families. It includes the domestic US business, the
domestic Canadian business and international business
booked in the US.

Retail & Corporate maintains a leading position across
retail, corporate and institutional client segments in
Switzerland and constitutes a central building block of
UBS Switzerland’s pre-eminent universal bank model. It
provides comprehensive financial products and services
embedded in a true multi-channel experience, offering
clients convenient access. It continues to enhance the
range of life-cycle products and services offered to
clients, while pursuing additional growth in advisory and
execution services.



Global Asset Management is a large-scale asset
manager with diversified businesses across investment
capabilities, regions and distribution channels. It offers
investment capabilities and styles across all major
traditional and alternative asset classes including
equities, fixed income, currencies, hedge funds, real
estate, infrastructure and private equity that can also be
combined into multi-asset strategies. The fund services
unit provides professional services including fund set-up,
accounting and reporting for both traditional investment
funds and alternative funds.

The Investment Bank provides corporate, institutional
and wealth management clients with expert advice,
innovative financial solutions, outstanding execution and
comprehensive access to the world’s capital markets. It
offers financial advisory and capital markets, research,
equities, foreign exchange, precious metals and tailored
fixed income services in rates and credit through its two
business units, Corporate Client Solutions and Investor
Client Services. The Investment Bank is an active
participant in capital markets flow activities, including
sales, trading and market-making across a range of
securities.

The Corporate Center comprises Corporate Center —
Core Functions and Corporate Center — Non-core and
Legacy Portfolio. Corporate Center — Core Functions
provides Group-wide control functions including finance,
risk control (including compliance) and legal. In addition,
it provides all logistics and support functions, including
operations, information technology, human resources,
corporate development, regulatory relations and
strategic initiatives, communications and branding,
corporate real estate and administrative services,
procurement, physical security, information security,
offshoring and treasury services such as funding,
balance sheet and capital management. Corporate
Center — Core Functions allocates most of its treasury
income, operating expenses and personnel associated
with the abovementioned activities to the businesses
based on capital and service consumption levels.
Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio
comprises the non-core businesses and legacy positions
previously part of the Investment Bank.
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Our Board of Directors

The Board of Directors (BoD), under the leadership of the
Chairman, decides on the strategy of the UBS Group upon
recommendation of the Group Chief Executive Officer (Group
CEO), exercises ultimate supervision over senior
management, and appoints Group Executive Board (GEB)
members. The BoD also approves all financial statements for
issue. Shareholders elect each member of the BoD, which in
turn appoints its Chairman, Vice Chairmen, Senior
Independent Director, members of BoD committees, their
respective Chairpersons and the Company Secretary. In
2013, our BoD met the standards of the Organization
Regulations for the percentage of directors that are
considered independent.

10




1 Axel A. Weber Chairman of the Board of Directors/Chairperson of the Corporate Responsibility Committee/Chairperson of the Governance and Nominating
Committee 2 William G. Parrett Chairperson of the Audit Committee/member of the Corporate Responsibility Committee 2 Reto Francioni Member of the
Corporate Responsibility Committee 4 Isabelle Romy Member of the Audit Committee/member of the Governance and Nominating Committee > Ann F.
Godbehere Chairperson of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee/member of the Audit Committee 6 Beatrice Weder di Mauro Member of the
Audit Committee/member of the Risk Committee 7 Rainer-Marc Frey Member of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee/member of the Risk
Committee & Joseph Yam Member of the Corporate Responsibility Committee/member of the Risk Committee ° Axel P. Lehmann Member of the Risk
Committee 0 Helmut Panke Member of the Human Resources and Compensation Committee/member of the Risk Committee ! David Sidwell Senior
Independent Director/Chairperson of the Risk Committee/member of the Governance and Nominating Committee 12 Michel Demaré Independent Vice
Chairman/member of the Audit Committee/member of the Governance and Nominating Committee/member of the Human Resources and Compensation
Committee
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Our Group Executive Board

The management of the business is delegated by the
Board of Directors to the Group Executive Board. Under
the leadership of the Group Chief Executive Officer, the
Group Executive Board has executive management
responsibility for the UBS Group and its businesses. It
assumes overall responsibility for the development of the
Group and business division strategies and the
implementation of approved strategies.

12



= To read the full biographies of our Board members, visit
www.ubs.com/geb or refer to “Group Executive Board” in the
“Corporate governance” section of this report

1 Sergio P. Ermotti Group Chief Executive Officer 2 Lukas Gahwiler CEO UBS Switzerland and CEO Retail & Corporate 3 Markus U. Diethelm Group
General Counsel # Philip J. Lofts Group Chief Risk Officer > Tom Naratil Group CFO and Group Chief Operating Officer ® Andrea Orcel CEO Investment
Bank 7 Robert J. McCann CEO Wealth Management Americas and CEO UBS Group Americas & Chi-Won Yoon CEO UBS Group Asia Pacific 9 Jiirg
Zeltner CEO UBS Wealth Management 10 Ulrich Kérner CEO Global Asset Management and CEO UBS Group Europe, Middle East and Africa

All titles presented are as of 1 January 2014.

13
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The making of UBS

UBS has played a pivotal role in the development and growth of Switzerland’s banking tradition since the firm’s
origins in the mid-19th century. In 2012, the year of our 150th anniversary, we accelerated our strategic
transformation of the firm to create a business model that is better adapted to the new regulatory and market
circumstances and that we believe will result in more consistent and high-quality returns. In 2013, we made
substantial progress in transforming our firm, further reinforcing its foundations while focusing on our

traditional strengths.

The origins of the banking industry in Switzerland can be
traced back to medieval times. This long history may
help explain the widespread impression, reinforced in
popular fiction, that Switzerland has always possessed a
strong financial sector. In reality, the size and
international reach of the Swiss banking sector we know
today is largely a product of the second half of the 20th
century, strongly influenced by two banks:
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Union Bank of Switzerland and Swiss Bank Corporation
(SBC), which merged to form UBS in 1998.

At the time of the merger, both banks were already
well-established and successful in their own right. Union
Bank of Switzerland celebrated its 100th anniversary in
1962, tracing its origins back to the Bank in Winterthur.
SBC marked its centenary in 1972 with celebrations in
honor of its founding forebear, the Basler Bankverein.
The historical roots of PaineWebber, acquired by UBS in
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2000, go back to 1879, while S.G. Warburg, the central
pillar upon which UBS’s Investment Bank was built,
commenced operations in 1946.

In the early 1990s, SBC and Union Bank of
Switzerland were both commercial banks operating
mainly out of Switzerland. The banks shared a similar
vision: to become a world leader in wealth management,
a successful global investment bank and a top-tier global
asset manager, while remaining an important
commercial and retail bank in their home market of
Switzerland.

Union Bank of Switzerland, the largest and best-
capitalized Swiss bank of its time, pursued these goals
primarily through a strategy of organic growth. In
contrast, SBC, then the third-largest Swiss bank, grew
through a combination of partnership and acquisition. In
1989, SBC started a joint venture with O’Connor, a
leading US derivatives firm noted for its dynamic and
innovative culture, its meritocracy and its team-oriented
approach. O’Connor brought state-of-the-art risk
management and derivatives

1930 1940 1550 1960
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technology to SBC, and in 1992 SBC moved to fully
acquire O’Connor. In 1994, SBC added to its capabilities
when it acquired Brinson Partners, a leading US-based
institutional asset management firm.

The next major milestone was in 1995, when SBC
acquired S.G. Warburg, the British merchant bank. The
deal helped SBC fill a strategic gap in its corporate
finance, brokerage, and research capabilities and, most
importantly, brought with it an institutional client
franchise that remains crucial to our equities business to
this day.

The 1998 merger of SBC and Union Bank of
Switzerland into the firm we know today created a world-
class wealth manager and the largest universal bank in
Switzerland, complemented by a strong investment bank
and a leading global institutional asset manager. In
2000, UBS grew further with the acquisition of
PaineWebber, establishing the firm as a significant
player in the US. UBS has established a strong footprint
in the Asia Pacific
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region and emerging markets based on a presence in
many of these countries going back decades.

In 2007, the effects of the global financial crisis started
to be felt across the financial industry. This crisis had its
origins in the securitized financial product business
linked to the US residential real estate market. Between
the third quarter of 2007 and the fourth quarter of 2009,
we incurred significant losses on these assets. We
responded with decisive action designed to reduce risk
exposures and stabilize our businesses, including
raising capital on multiple occasions.

More recently, we continued to improve the firm’s
capital strength to meet new and enhanced industry-
wide regulatory requirements. Our position as one of the
world’s best-capitalized

16

banks, together with our stable funding and sound
liquidity positions, provides us with a solid foundation for
our success. In 2012, we announced a significant
acceleration in the implementation of our strategy
communicated a year earlier. In 2013, we continued to
focus our activities on a set of highly synergistic, less
capital- and balance sheet-intensive businesses
dedicated to serving clients and well-positioned to

maximize value for shareholders.
= Refer to www.ubs.com/history for more information on UBS’s
more than 150 years of history






Operating environment and strategy
Current market climate and industry drivers

Current market climate and industry drivers

While the overall global economic climate improved in 2013, the operating environment for the financial services
industry remained difficult. Profitability was affected by continued regulatory pressure, the ongoing low interest rate

environment and muted client activity levels.

Global economic and market climate

The global economic climate improved in 2013, although the
pace of recovery diverged across regions. Of the major
economies, recovery was most advanced in the US. Growth
momentum in the euro area remained lackluster, despite the
region’s exit from recession in the second quarter of 2013.
In Japan, significant monetary policy stimulus and the
government’s so-called “three-arrow” strategy boosted
confidence in the country’s economic prospects. The
gradual improvement in advanced economies was,
however, counterbalanced by a slowdown in emerging
economies.

Central banks in advanced countries kept monetary policy
conditions highly accommodative as their economies
continued to struggle with headwinds from fiscal
consolidation and fragile financial sectors. However,
concerns about the timing and speed of the exit by the
Federal Reserve System (Fed) from its highly
accommodative monetary policy led to a sharp rise in US
bond yields and heightened market volatility during the
summer months. Against the backdrop of strong correlations
between European and US bond yields, European long-term
interest rates also moved higher. Increases in long-term
rates prompted the European Central Bank (ECB) and the
Bank of England to announce “forward guidance” as an
additional means of maintaining accommodative policy
stances. Improving fundamentals in the US and
expectations of the Fed “tapering” its quantitative easing led
to financial outflows and currency depreciation in various
emerging economies. Market concerns were further
exacerbated by worries about a potential slowdown in
China. Global markets subsequently stabilized after the Fed
postponed its “taper” decision in September. Even so,
currencies and fixed income markets in emerging countries
with weak fundamentals remained under pressure.

The US economic recovery, supported by the Fed’s
accommodative policy, became more broad-based, reflected
by better data on the housing market, credit standards, labor
markets and consumer confidence. Improved market
sentiment resulted in a rebalancing of portfolios towards
riskier assets. US equity market indices recorded substantial
gains during the year, spreads between corporate bonds
and government bonds narrowed, and corporate debt
issuance reached record levels. Disruptions related to
another fiscal policy impasse in the autumn were a cause of
market volatility, but the bi-partisan budget agreed in
December reduced fiscal uncertainty for 2014.

18

Based on broadly improving fundamentals, in December the
Fed announced a “tapering” of quantitative easing starting in
January 2014.

Euro area financial stress continued to recede during
2013 against the backdrop of the ECB’s Outright Monetary
Transactions (OMT) program and the establishment of the
European Stability Mechanism. Debt markets in vulnerable
euro area countries continued their post-OMT improvements
despite a temporary disruption during the summer. Ireland
successfully exited the adjustment program of the Troika
(made up of the European Commission (EC), the ECB and
the International Monetary Fund) as of year-end and re-
established full market access. Portugal appeared more
vulnerable throughout the year, but its situation stabilized
towards year-end. The economic environment in Greece,
while still much more challenging than elsewhere, also
showed tentative signs of improvement during the year.

Although the euro area exited recession in the second
quarter of 2013, recovery remained lackluster.
Unemployment levels in distressed countries remained
close to record highs, albeit with lower unit labor costs
leading to improvements in competitiveness. Fiscal targets
became more flexible as the EC agreed to extend the
deadlines for correcting excessive deficits in some
countries. A subdued inflation outlook led the ECB to
announce historically unprecedented “forward guidance”
and to reduce key ECB interest rates to all-time lows.
Housing market conditions varied significantly between
countries, and prices continued to decline in some
distressed economies. However, the ongoing low interest
rate environment and rising disposable income provided a
boost to property prices in Germany. The Swiss economy
continued to outperform most European peers, but highly
accommodative monetary policy caused concerns about the
country’s ongoing property boom.

Growth in emerging economies disappointed throughout
the year as credit-led expansions slowed and capital inflows
receded or reversed. China recorded its slowest pace of
growth since the turn of the millennium as authorities
attempted to rein in rapid credit growth and rebalance the
country’s economic growth model. A spike in interbank
lending rates in June led to fears of a sharper slowdown in
growth, although intervention from the People’s Bank of
China ensured major financial distress was avoided. Among
the other major emerging market economies, Brazil, India,
Indonesia, South Africa and Turkey were all beset by
currency weakness following capital outflows stemming from
expectations of tighter Fed policy. The associated higher
funding costs



and uncertainty impeded growth in more vulnerable
emerging economies.

Economic and market outlook for 2014

Our economists currently expect global economic growth
to accelerate to 3.4% in 2014 from 2.5% in 2013. The
pick-up in growth during 2014 is expected to be driven
by acceleration in advanced economies, supported by
still-accommodative monetary policy and reduced fiscal
drag. The US economy is expected to grow more
strongly at about 3%, while the euro area should recover
at a moderate pace, with growth forecasted at 1.1%. The
Swiss economy will benefit from the recovery in the euro
area and is expected to grow at about 2.1%.

For emerging economies, improved global growth
should support external demand, but domestic demand
is expected to be restrained by the lack of fresh reforms,
credit overhangs and ongoing structural rebalancing.
Emerging economies with weaker fundamentals,
including a heavy reliance on short-term foreign capital
inflows, remain vulnerable to changing Fed policy and
rising global interest rates.

Potential sources of economic or market risks include
a normalization of the Fed’s monetary policy, geopolitical
risks in the Ukraine, the Middle East and Far East, and a
deceleration of growth in China. While sovereign
financial pressures in the euro-zone have receded, a
slowing of reform momentum, political opposition to euro
area integration and uncertainty over the ECB’s
comprehensive bank assessment remain further
potential sources of risk.

Industry drivers

Despite strong stock market performance throughout the
year, the operating environment for the financial services
industry remained difficult, reflecting a combination of
regulatory framework adjustments requiring further
structural changes, and a challenging market
environment putting pressure on revenues.

Regulatory developments remain a key driver of
structural change in the industry
Regulators and legislators continued to exert pressure
on the financial services industry to become simpler,
more transparent and more resilient. In this context,
regulators and legislators in Europe further advanced
far-reaching reform proposals — for example,
agreements were reached on the Markets in Financial
Instruments Directive (MiFID) Il and the Bank Recovery
and Resolution Directive — while in the US the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission approved
cross-border guidance, defining the extraterritorial
application of its swaps regulations, and the five US
financial regulators approved the Volcker Rule.

The year was also characterized by regulatory
authorities’ focus on reforming banks’ structures. In

Operating environment and strategy

and the US, progress was made on legislation requiring,
under certain conditions, a structural separation or
prohibition of certain trading or wholesale activities from
certain deposit-taking operations. While it is unclear how
these individual measures in the European Union (EU)
would ultimately interact with the recent EC proposed
regulation on “Structural measures improving the
resilience of EU credit institutions,” these national
regulatory initiatives highlight the lack of international
coordination with regard to structural developments in
the banking sector.

Last but not least, reflecting their concerns about the
adequacy of banks’ risk-based exposures, regulatory
authorities weighed the introduction of more stringent
leverage ratio requirements as a credible supplementary
measure to risk-based capital requirements.

As a consequence of the evolving regulatory
environment, some facets of which have been outlined
above, financial institutions are expected to (i) rethink
their strategies and focus even more on their core
business and markets, in which they are able to
leverage their competitive advantages on a sustainable
basis, on both a local and to a certain extent a global
level, (ii) focus even more on fee-generating businesses
that require less capital and funding and (iii) reduce their
“buy-and-hold” activities, leading to a further increase in
assets held outside the banking system, in turn giving
rise to a call to further strengthen regulatory oversight of
these sectors.

Bank capital and balance sheets stay in the spotlight

In the course of 2013, the financial services industry
succeeded in further improving its capital position with a
view to complying with capital requirements defined by
regulators and policy makers. For example, the EU-wide
Transparency Exercise led by the European Banking
Authority showed a continued improvement of the capital
position within the EU banking sector in 2013. Similar
trends were also observable in Switzerland for the
largest banks, as well as in the US. Despite such
positive developments, banks’ capitalization levels
remained a key concern for the public as well as
regulators, as evidenced by the intense debate about
leverage ratios as a supplementary measure to risk-
based capital requirements.

As a step to further increase trust in the European
banking sector, the ECB initiated a comprehensive
review of European banks’ balance sheets and risk
profiles. The assessment will consist of three elements:
(i) a supervisory risk assessment which reviews on a
quantitative and qualitative basis key risks, including
liquidity, leverage and funding, (ii)an asset quality
review to enhance transparency of banks’ exposures by
reviewing their asset quality, including the adequacy of
asset and collateral valuation and related provisions and
(iii) a stress test to examine the resilience of banks’



Germany, France, the UK balance sheets to stress scenarios. In such a review,
banks will be judged against a capital threshold of 8%
based on Capital Requirements Directive IV definitions
as of 1January 2014. If results are unsatisfactory,
corrective  measures, such as recapitalization,
deleveraging or improving funding resilience, may be
taken.
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Increased focus on costs to compensate for
subdued revenues

2013 remained a challenging year for the financial
services industry to grow its income levels. Aside from
growth  constraints due to stricter regulatory
requirements — especially related to capital and liquidity
standards — the macroeconomic environment,
characterized by the ongoing Ilow interest rate
environment and a flat yield curve as well as muted
client activity levels in the face of continued
macroeconomic uncertainty (in particular around
monetary stimulus reduction in the US), put pressure on
net interest margins and revenues.

As a result of this subdued revenue environment,
banks intensified their efforts to increase operational
efficiency, either by enhancing targets of existing cost
reduction programs or by launching new initiatives in
order to realign cost structures with subdued revenue
levels.

20

Technological innovation opening new opportunities

While new technologies have already significantly
affected various sectors, pressure on the financial
services industry to adapt to a new digital reality
continued to increase, reflecting inter alia evolving client
expectations, the need for increased efficiencies,
accelerating  technological innovation and the
emergence of new competitors.

Changing client expectations (in particular related to
personalization, convenience and transparency), based
on levels of service and flexibility experienced in other
sectors, presented a significant challenge to the
traditional business model of the financial services
industry. Although investments will be required to fully
address these expectations, technology is also expected
to be a key enabler in offering new, innovative banking
services, satisfying new customer expectations on one
hand and supporting branches and client advisors on the
other. Digital capabilities are therefore expected not only
to deepen individual customer relationships, but also to
facilitate a reduction of operating expenses and
complexity through automating systems and processes.
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Regulatory and legal developments

In 2013 and early 2014, several important international regulatory and legal initiatives advanced, with key
developments including political agreement in the European Union on the Markets in Financial Instruments
Directive (MiFID) Il and the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive, as well as the publication of final
regulations implementing the Volcker Rule and enhanced prudential standards for banking organizations in the

Us.

Developments in Switzerland

During the fourth quarter of 2013 and January of 2014,
UBS and the Swiss Financial Market Supervisory
Authority (FINMA) reviewed the temporary operational
risk-related risk-weighted assets (RWA) add-on that
became effective on 1 October 2013. Following a review
of the advanced measurement approach (AMA) model,
the litigation exposures and contingent liabilities of UBS,
provisioning movements and methodologies, and
progress on managing other operational risks, UBS and
FINMA mutually agreed that, effective on 31 December
2013, a supplemental analysis will be used to calculate
the incremental operational risk capital required to be
held for litigation, regulatory and similar matters and
other contingent liabilities. The incremental RWA
calculated based upon this supplemental analysis has
replaced the temporary operational RWA add-on
discussed in our report for the third quarter of 2013, and
is reflected in the 31 December 2013 RWA and capital
ratio information in this report. The incremental RWA
calculated based upon this supplemental analysis as of
31 December 2013 was CHF 22.5 billion.

On 20 December 2013, FINMA issued a decree
primarily concerning the regulatory capital requirements
of UBS AG (Parent Bank) on a standalone basis. The
decree makes changes effective 1 January 2014 to
parent bank capital requirements designed to ensure
that the capital underpinning of the parent’s investments
in subsidiaries does not cause a de facto increase in the
total capital requirements of UBS Group. The decree
also requires certain additional disclosures concerning
parent bank capital standards that will be included in our
report for the first quarter of 2014.

On 22 January 2014, following a proposal by the
Swiss National Bank (SNB), the Swiss Federal Council
decided to increase the countercyclical capital buffer in
the form of common equity tier 1 (CET1) capital from 1%
to 2% of risk-weighted positions secured by residential
property located in Switzerland. Banks are obliged to
comply as of 30 June 2014. Other loans, in particular
those provided to corporates, are not affected by this
measure. The effect of the increase of the
countercyclical buffer on our capital requirements is not
material.

In a referendum in March 2013, the Swiss cantons
and voters accepted an initiative to give shareholders of
Swiss listed companies more influence over board and

amendments of this initiative, which came into force on
1 January 2014. The ordinance requires public
companies to specify in their articles of association
(AoA) the mechanism of a “say-on-pay” vote, setting out
three requirements: (i) the vote on compensation must
be held annually, (ii) the vote on compensation must be
binding rather than advisory and (iii) the vote on
compensation must be held separately for the board of
directors and members of the executive board. In
addition, shareholders will need to determine the details
of the “say-on-pay” vote in the AoA, in particular the
nature of the vote, timing aspects and the consequences
of a “no” vote. Each company affected by the Minder
Initiative must undertake a first binding vote on
management compensation and remuneration of the
board of directors at its 2015 annual general meeting
(AGM), in accordance with the “say-on-pay” regime
provided for in the AoA. In addition, the first
compensation report pursuant to the ordinance must be
prepared for financial year 2014 and made available to
shareholders at the 2015 AGM. UBS is currently in the
process of implementing these requirements.

The Federal Department of Finance took further steps
towards establishing a new Financial Services Act
(FIDLEG). FIDLEG’s main objectives include improving
client protection, establishing a level playing field and
eliminating competitive distortions between service
providers. In this context, FIDLEG is expected to
address a number of regulations such as information
obligations, requirements regarding conduct and
organization of financial service providers and the
expansion of supervision, for example, to independent
asset managers. In addition, FIDLEG also seeks to
harmonize Swiss financial market law with the applicable
international standards, such as the Markets in Financial
Instruments Directive (MIFID) Il, in order to facilitate
European Union (EU) market access for Swiss financial
institutions. The proposed financial services regulation
will affect almost all financial market participants,
including UBS. However, given the early stages of the
discussion, a definite assessment is currently not
possible.

The Financial Market Infrastructure Act, which was
published for consultation in December 2013 by the
Swiss Federal Government, governs the organization
and operation of financial market infrastructure, including
implementation  of  over-the-counter  derivatives
regulation in Switzerland and additional regulation of



management compensation (Minder Initiative). In multilateral trading facilities and other non-regulated

November 2013, the Swiss Federal Council issued the exchange trading venues. Another important
final  transitional ordinance implementing the development was the implementation of the Foreign
constitutional Account Tax Compliance Act (FATCA) in Switzerland.

FATCA was introduced by the US government in
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2010 in order to increase the transparency of
investments by US taxpayers outside the US, and
requires financial institutions worldwide to report US tax
persons’ account information to the US Internal Revenue
Service (IRS). Switzerland and the US signed an
intergovernmental agreement in February 2013
concerning the implementation of FATCA in Switzerland.
This agreement and the implementation of the
corresponding FATCA law were subsequently approved
by the two chambers of the Swiss Parliament in June
and September 2013, respectively. Both the FATCA
agreement and the implementing act are scheduled to
come into force in the first half of 2014. As the FATCA
legislation adopted in the US strongly affects UBS, we
are closely monitoring any further refinements made by
the IRS as well as developments relating to FATCA in
the jurisdictions relevant to UBS and making the
necessary preparations for possible implementation.

Further, in Switzerland, the political discussion
continued on the structural reform of banks and leverage
ratio requirements. In September 2013, the Swiss
National Council approved two motions from the year
2011 asking for a mandatory structural reform of banks.
After a hearing in January 2014, the Committee for
Economic Affairs and Taxation of the Swiss Council of
States recommended that these motions be rejected. On
12 March 2014, the Council of States rejected the two
motions. Subsequently, they were automatically
discarded. Also in September 2013, two new motions
were put forward that not only require structural
measures but also suggest increasing leverage ratio
requirements in Switzerland to 6% and 10%,
respectively. However, it is currently unclear if and when
the two motions are to be submitted to the parliamentary
committee in charge.

Swiss “too-big-to-fail” (TBTF) requirements require
systemically important banks, including UBS, to put in
place viable emergency plans to continue providing
systemically important functions despite a failure, to the
extent that such activities are not sufficiently separated
in advance. The Swiss TBTF law provides for the
possibility of a limited reduction of capital requirements
for systemically important institutions that adopt
measures to reduce resolvability risk beyond what is
legally required. In view of these factors, UBS intends to
establish a new banking subsidiary of UBS AG in
Switzerland. The scope of this potential future
subsidiary’s business is still being determined, but we
would currently expect it to include our Retail &
Corporate business division and likely the Swiss-booked
business within our Wealth Management business
division. We expect to implement this change in a
phased approach starting in mid-2015. This structural
change is being discussed on an ongoing basis with
FINMA, and remains subject to a number of
uncertainties that may affect its feasibility, scope or
timing.

and have established a provision in that amount in 2013,
which has been allocated predominantly to Wealth
Management.

Developments in a number of key initiatives in the
European Union

In the course of 2013 and early 2014, agreement was
reached on a number of far-reaching regulatory reform
initiatives in the EU. One of the most important
developments was the agreement on the review of the
Markets in Financial Instruments Directive and
Regulation package (MiFID II/MiFIR). This package
introduces a wide set of reforms, including in respect of
third-country access to European Economic Area (EEA)
markets, new rules regarding market infrastructure and a
sharpened set of investor protection rules.

A further political compromise reached by the
European Parliament and the Council of the EU related
to the Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive (BRRD).
This Directive seeks to achieve a harmonized approach
to the recovery and resolution of banks in the EU and
broadly covers measures relating to recovery and
resolution planning, early intervention powers for
authorities and resolution tools should a bank fail or be
deemed likely to fail. Final approval of the BRRD is
expected in the first quarter of 2014, with the majority of
the Directive expected to become applicable from
1 January 2015. UBS’s EU subsidiaries will be subject to
the requirements of the Directive, while EU member
states have the right to apply the provisions of the
Directive to UBS’s EU-based branches in certain
circumstances. The overall impact is difficult to assess at
this stage, as the EU resolution authorities have a
material degree of discretion in setting some of the key
requirements of the Directive.

In response to regulatory developments, the business
and operating model of UBS Limited, our UK bank
subsidiary, and its relationship with UBS AG, are
currently being reviewed. Once this review has been
finalized, we expect to commence implementation of a
revised business and operating model, including
changes to its risk profile, which will involve the
subsidiary retaining credit risk, and some market risk
which currently is transferred to UBS AG under the
existing model.

Eleven member states of the EU committed to the
implementation of the financial transaction tax via an
“enhanced cooperation” procedure. In February 2013,
the European Commission (EC) issued a proposal,
which is currently being discussed in the EU Council of
Ministers. While only the participating countries —
namely France, Germany, Austria, Belgium, Greece,
Portugal, Slovenia, Italy, Spain, Slovakia and Estonia —
are entitled to vote on and would themselves adopt the
tax, its extraterritorial scope would affect financial
institutions and transactions in all 27 EU member states



Finally, the Swiss-UK tax agreement, which came into
effect on 1 January 2013, included a clause stipulating
that, should gross tax receipts under the agreement be
lower than CHF 1.3 billion, Swiss banks would cover the
difference up to a maximum of CHF 500 million. Based
on monitoring by the Swiss Bankers Association, it is
considered unlikely that CHF 1.3 billion in tax receipts
will be received. As a result, we expect to be required to
pay CHF 110 million,
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and beyond. Under the initial EC proposal, the tax
would apply to a wide range of financial transactions and
minimum rates of 0.1% (securities) and 0.01%
(derivatives) would be applicable to both parties of a
transaction. The final rates implemented in each of the
participating countries could, however, differ. Based on
the initial proposal, UBS would be affected by the



tax when transacting with, or on behalf of, clients from
participating countries or when performing transactions
in financial instruments issued in such countries. The
proposal requires operational implementation on a
global level and could negatively affect the profitability of
certain products. However, ongoing negotiations may
alter the territorial application, scope and collection
mechanism of the tax and it remains unclear when a
political agreement can be expected.

Progress was also made in 2013 towards establishing
automatic information exchange in taxation as a new
standard, both at European level and internationally.
Most notably, global automatic information exchange
was endorsed as a global standard by the G20 Summit
in September 2013. At EU level, the EC proposed in
June 2013 to extend the automatic information
exchange within the EU to cover all forms of financial
income and account balances. Under the proposal,
dividends, capital gains, all other forms of financial
income and account balances would be added to the list
of categories which are subject to automatic information
exchange within the EU from 1 January 2015. However,
member states reached no agreement in 2013 on the
final text of the second piece of EU legislation on
automatic information exchange, the revised EU Savings
Tax Directive. In parallel, negotiations started with third
countries and the EC on the revision of the existing
taxation agreements (including Switzerland).

With regard to the establishment of the Banking
Union, agreement was reached on the Single
Supervisory Mechanism (SSM), which sets out the
supervisory arrangements for affected banks and the
respective responsibilities of the European Central Bank
(ECB) and competent national authorities. Under the
SSM, banks deemed systemically important will from
November 2014 be subject to direct ECB supervision in
relation to capital and liquidity, while less significant
banks will continue to be supervised by their current
national supervisors. A further element of the Banking
Union is the Single Resolution Mechanism (SRM), which
will apply the substantive provisions of the BRRD to
banks within the Banking Union. Both the European
Parliament and the Council of the EU have agreed their
negotiating positions and discussions between them are
ongoing.

Separately, additional EU-wide remuneration rules
became effective at the beginning of 2014 under the
Capital Requirements Directive IV (CRD IV). The rules
include provisions on the amount and form of variable
remuneration that can be paid to employees identified as
material risk takers, as defined by the European Banking
Authority. A key element of the rules is the introduction
of a maximum ratio of 1:1 for variable to fixed
remuneration (“bonus cap”). The cap may be increased
to 2:1 with shareholders’ consent. These restrictions
apply to material risk takers at all banks active in the EU,
including UBS. However, as a non-EU headquartered
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which is its response to the recommendations of its
High-level Expert Group on reforming the structure of
the EU banking sector (“Liikanen report”). The proposals
include two main measures: (i) a ban on proprietary
trading and investments in hedge funds and (ii)an
additional potential separation of certain trading activities
(including market-making, risky securitization and
complex derivatives) which will not be mandatory, but
rather based on supervisory discretion. The proposal will
now enter the EU political process and will likely be
subject to changes. Political agreement is not expected
until 2015 at the earliest.

In the US, significant steps were taken in
implementing the Dodd-Frank Act

Developments in US regulatory initiatives in 2013 related
primarily to rulemaking stemming from the Dodd-Frank
Act passed in July 2010.

In July 2013, the Commodity Futures Trading
Commission (CFTC) approved final cross-border
guidance that defines the extraterritorial application of its
swaps regulations. This guidance may allow non-US
swap dealers, such as UBS AG, “substituted
compliance,” under which they may comply with home
country legal requirements that are determined by the
CFTC to be “comprehensive and comparable” instead of
the corresponding CFTC requirements. In December
2013, the CFTC issued comparability determinations for
Switzerland (and the home countries of other non-US
swap dealers) that will allow UBS to comply with
relevant Swiss regulations instead of CFTC
requirements for many, but not all, of the CFTC
regulations for which substituted compliance is available.
While the CFTC deferred a comparability determination
on swap data reporting requirements, as it continues to
review the issue, it granted reporting no-action relief that
allows UBS AG (and other non-US swap dealers) to
delay reporting transactions with non-US persons for
several months. In January 2014, the CFTC delayed the
applicability of US regulations to swaps between non-US
persons and non-US swap dealers when US personnel
are involved until 15 September 2014, giving additional
time for foreign swap dealers to comply with US
requirements regarding transactions with non-US
persons conducted from the US.

Separately, in December 2013, three financial
services industry associations filed a lawsuit challenging
the CFTC’s interpretive guidance and policy statement
regarding compliance with certain swap regulations.
Relief sought includes invalidating the cross-border
guidance and preventing the CFTC from bringing an
enforcement action for not complying with US rules
extraterritorially. If the guidance is struck down, portions
of it that call for substituted compliance and limit the
application of transaction regulation to non-US swap
dealers would likely also be struck down and may create



firm, UBS need only apply these restrictions to
material risk takers employed by EU subsidiaries or
branches. We continue to closely assess EU
developments and industry-wide best practices.

In January 2014, the EC issued a proposed regulation
on “Structural measures improving the resilience of EU
credit institutions,”

more uncertainty for non-US swap dealers such as
UBS.

In May 2013, the US Securities and Exchange
Commission (SEC) proposed rules for the extraterritorial
application of its regulation of securities-based swap
dealers in the US. The SEC proposal
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contemplates application of regulations similar to the
CFTC rules to non-US swap dealers, including swap
transaction reporting requirements and information and
inspection requirements that present potential conflicts
with non-US law or necessitate privacy waivers from
clients. Like the CFTC, the SEC envisions a substituted
compliance regime that would allow foreign swap
dealers to comply with comparable home country
regulation rather than SEC rules under certain
circumstances.

us regulators  published  final regulations
implementing the Volcker Rule in December 2013 and
generally extended the time to conform to this rule and
regulations until July 2015. In general, the Volcker Rule
prohibits any banking entity from engaging in proprietary
trading and from owning an interest in hedge funds and
other private fund vehicles. Our earlier strategy decision
to exit our equity proprietary trading businesses,
together with certain business lines, will assist us in
complying with the regulatory requirements. In addition,
the Volcker Rule permits UBS and other non-US
banking entities to engage in certain activities that would
otherwise be prohibited, to the extent that they are
conducted outside the US and certain other conditions
are met. We continue to evaluate the final rules and their
impact on our activities. One impact will be the need to
establish an extensive global compliance framework
designed to ensure compliance with the Volcker Rule
and the terms of the available exemptions. Moreover,
the Volcker Rule could have an impact on the way in
which we organize and conduct certain business lines.

In February 2014, the Federal Reserve Board issued
final rules for foreign banking organizations (FBO)
operating in the US (under
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section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Act) that include the
following: (i) a requirement for FBO with more than USD
50 billion of US non-branch assets to establish an
intermediate holding company (IHC) to hold all US
subsidiary operations, (ii) risk-based capital and
leverage requirements for the IHC, (iii) liquidity
requirements, including a 30-day onshore liquidity
requirement for the [IHC, (iv)risk management
requirements including the establishment of a risk
committee and the appointment of a US chief risk officer,
(v) stress test and capital planning requirements and
(vi) a debt-to-equity limit for institutions that pose “a
grave threat” to US financial stability. Requirements
differ based on the overall size of the foreign banking
organization and the amount of its US-based assets. We
expect that we will be subject to the most stringent
requirements based on our current operations. We will
have until 1 July 2016 to establish an IHC and meet
many of the new requirements. We must submit an
implementation plan by 1 January 2015 and the IHC will
not need to comply with the US leverage ratio until
1 January 2018.

Basel Committee on Banking Supervision provided
further Basel Ill guidance

Following the start of Basel Ill implementation on
1 January 2013, according to the Basel Committee on
Banking Supervision’s (BCBS) timeline, a number of
regulatory discussions over the last year focused on
further enhancing and simplifying the capital framework,
for example by potentially increasing the role of
standardized approaches or of leverage ratios, as well
as on achieving better comparability of risk-weighted
assets (RWA).



In July 2013, the BCBS issued a discussion paper on
“The regulatory framework: balancing risk sensitivity,
simplicity and comparability,” which proposed a number
of reforms to the Basel framework with the objective of
evaluating whether the balance between risk sensitivity,
simplicity and comparability was still appropriate. The
proposals, part of a longer-term discussion, covered a
wide range of possibilities, including a stronger role for
the standardized approach in calculating RWA,
tightening the leverage ratio, and utilizing added floors
and benchmarks for model-based calculations.

With regard to the leverage ratio specifically, the
BCBS issued a consultation on “Revised Basel |
leverage ratio framework and disclosure requirements”
in June 2013, followed by final rules in January 2014.
The changes to the Basel Il leverage ratio framework
relate mostly to the leverage ratio’s exposure measure
and include the following: (i) specifications of the scope
of consolidation for the inclusion of exposures,
(i) changes to the general treatment of derivatives and
related collateral, (iii) specifications of the treatment of
written credit derivatives and (iv) specifications of the
treatment of securities financing transactions. The tier 1
capital requirement under the revised Basel Il leverage
ratio remains at 3% of the exposure measure. However,
the BCBS will continue to monitor banks’ leverage ratio
data on a semi-annual basis in order to assess whether
the design and calibration of a minimum tier 1 leverage
ratio of 3% is appropriate over a full credit cycle and for
different types of business models. The final calibration,
and any final adjustments to the definition, will be
completed by 2017. Based on an initial review of the
proposals, we expect a slight increase in our leverage
ratio
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denominator. The ratio is expected to be incorporated
within Pillar 1 minimum capital requirements on
1 January 2018. According to the BCBS’s timetable, the
disclosure requirements are effective 1 January 2015
subject to implementation by national regulators.

Discussions about the leverage ratio also took place in
Switzerland, with a review report on the Swiss TBTF law
expected to be published by the Federal Council in early
2015.

In addition, there were further developments regarding
liquidity requirements under Basel Ill. Following the
publication on 12 January 2014 by the BCBS of
additional guidance on the Liquidity Coverage Ratio
(LCR), on 17 January 2014, the Swiss Federal
Department of Finance opened a consultation on the
revision of the Liquidity Ordinance and at the same time
FINMA issued the revised Circular “Liquidity Banks” in
Switzerland for comment. Both consultations end on
28 March 2014. Based on an initial review of the
proposals, we do not expect a material impact on our
pro-forma LCR.

Also on 12 January 2014, the BCBS issued a
consultative paper on the proposed revision of the Basel
Il framework’s Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR). The
consultation period ends on 11 April 2014. The main
changes proposed are increased deposit stability, a
reduction of cliff effects within the measurement of
funding stability and larger stable funding requirements
for certain trading assets. Based on an initial review of
the proposals, we expect a positive net effect on our pro-
forma NSFR. Final NSFR rules are expected to be
released by 2016, after which they will undergo a period
of consultation and review by Swiss authorities,
potentially leading to further changes before
implementation.
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Our strategy

We are committed to providing our clients with superior financial advice and solutions while generating
attractive and sustainable returns for shareholders. Our strategy centers on our Wealth Management and Wealth
Management Americas businesses and our leading universal bank in Switzerland, complemented by our Global
Asset Management business and our Investment Bank. These businesses share three key characteristics: they
benefit from a strong competitive position in their targeted markets, are capital-efficient, and offer a superior
structural growth and profitability outlook. Our strategy therefore builds on the strengths of all of our businesses
and focuses our efforts on areas in which we excel, while seeking to capitalize on the compelling growth
prospects in the businesses and regions in which we operate. Capital strength is the foundation of our success.

Successfully executing our strategic transformation

In  October 2012, we announced a significant
acceleration in the implementation of our strategy
communicated a year earlier. This announcement
underlined our commitment to focus our activities on a
set of highly synergistic, less capital- and balance sheet-
intensive businesses dedicated to serving clients and
well-positioned to maximize value for shareholders.
Since then, demonstrating the strength of our business
model, we have made substantial progress in improving
our already strong capital position and reducing risk-
weighted assets (RWA) and costs, while simultaneously
growing our business and enhancing our competitive
positioning. We have also successfully transformed our
Investment Bank, focusing it on its traditional strengths
in advisory, research, equities, foreign exchange and
precious metals.

Our fully applied common equity tier 1 (CET1) capital
ratio increased 300 basis points in 2013 to 12.8%, the
highest in our peer group. This increase was driven by a
reduction of fully applied

Basel Il - Commaon equity tier 1 capital ratio
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RWA to CHF 225 billion, ahead of our 2013 target of
CHF 250 billion and CHF 33 billion below year-end 2012
RWA. We achieved this by further active reduction of
RWA, mainly through the disposal of positions or other
risk reductions in our Non-core and Legacy Portfolio,
and despite incremental RWA of CHF 22.5 billion
resulting from the supplemental operational risk capital
analysis mutually agreed with FINMA and effective
31 December 2013. Future developments in, and the
ultimate elimination of, the incremental RWA attributable
to the supplemental analysis will depend on provisions
charged to earnings for litigation, regulatory and similar
matters and other contingent liabilities and on
developments in these matters. Our ability to absorb this
event while simultaneously increasing our capital ratios
and reducing RWA is a testament to our early decision
to maintain and build on our strong capital position and
to focus on sustainable, more capital-efficient business
activities. We continue to target a fully applied CET1
ratio of 13% in 2014, and intend to build further Basel IlI-
compliant capital.
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As part of the transformation of the Investment Bank,
we transferred certain of its businesses to the Corporate
Center in the first quarter of 2013. These were primarily
fixed income businesses rendered less attractive by
changes in regulation and market developments. As a
result, our Investment Bank retains only very focused
credit and rates activities, along with structured financing
capabilities, in order to support its solutions-focused
businesses. Our leading equities and foreign exchange
businesses remain cornerstones of our Investment
Bank. We did not significantly alter our advisory and
capital markets businesses, but reorganized our existing
business functions to better leverage our capabilities
and therefore better serve our clients. Our Investment
Bank has achieved its target of an adjusted pre-tax
return on attributed equity of greater than 15%
throughout 2013, demonstrating its success in a variety
of market conditions. Non-core assets, previously part of
the Investment Bank, are reported within our Non-core
and Legacy Portfolio unit in the Corporate Center, which
is tasked with managing and exiting these assets in a
manner that protects shareholder value. RWA
associated with these positions were reduced by close
to 40% in 2013 to CHF 64 billion, significantly ahead of

our target.
=> Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for
more information

Maintaining cost discipline is critical to our long-term
success. In 2013, we achieved our CHF 2 billion gross
cost reduction plan announced in July 2011. We also
made further progress in the implementation of the
additional cost reduction program we announced in
2012, targeting incremental annual gross cost savings of
CHF 3.4 billion, which we expect to yield tangible results
through 2016. These targeted reductions include the
benefits from the abovementioned transformation of our
Investment Bank, reducing complexity and size, as well
as improving
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organizational effectiveness, primarily in our Corporate
Center, and introducing lean front-to-back processes
across our Group. Our investment in these initiatives is
reflected in restructuring charges of CHF 0.8 billion in
2013 and expectations of further incremental charges of
CHF 0.9 billion and CHF 0.8 billion in 2014 and 2015,
respectively. Our efficiency programs will free up
resources to make investments over the next two years
to support growth across our businesses and enable us
to service our clients with greater agility and
effectiveness, improving quality and speed.

2014 will be another key year of transition for the
Group as we continue to work through our plans to
further enhance our businesses, reduce our cost base
and further improve collaboration across our various
businesses. For 2014, we do not expect our unadjusted
return on equity to deviate significantly from 2013,
primarily due to anticipated charges associated with
litigation, regulatory and other matters, restructuring
charges, and the impact of Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio exits and capital requirements. While we
continue to target an adjusted Group return on equity of
greater than 15% in 2015, given elevated operational
risk RWA, we may not achieve that until 2016. We
continue to target an adjusted Group cost/income ratio
of 60% to 70% from 2015 onwards.

Delivering attractive shareholder returns

We have a clear strategy and a solid financial
foundation, which we believe prepares us well for the
future. We are firmly committed to returning capital to
our shareholders, and plan to continue our program of
progressive returns to shareholders with a proposed
67% increase in dividend to CHF 0.25 per share for the
financial year 2013. In this context, we reaffirm our
commitment to a total payout ratio of at least 50%,
consisting of a
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baseline dividend and supplementary returns, after
reaching our capital ratio targets of a fully applied CET1
ratio of 13% and a 10% post-stress CET1 ratio, based
on our internal stress tests. We intend to set a baseline
dividend at a sustainable level, taking into account
normal economic fluctuations. The supplementary
capital returns will be balanced with our need for
investment and any buffer we choose to maintain for a
more challenging economic environment or other stress
scenarios. Through the further successful
implementation of our strategy, we believe we can
sustain and grow our business and maintain a prudent
capital position.

Our annual performance targets

The table on the right provides our annual performance
targets on a Group and business division level as well as
for Non-core and Legacy Portfolio. These performance
targets exclude, where applicable, items considered
non-recurring and certain other items that management
believes are not representative of the underlying
performance of our businesses, such as own credit
gains and losses, restructuring-related charges and
gains and losses on sales of businesses and real estate.
The performance targets assume constant foreign
currency translation rates.
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Annual performance targets
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UBS is the pre-eminent universal
bank in Switzerland, the only country
where we operate and maintain
leading positions in all five of our
business areas of retail, wealth
management, corporate and
institutional banking, asset
management and investment
banking. We are fully committed to
our home market as our leading
position in Switzerland is crucial in
terms of profit stability, sustaining our
global brand and growing our global
core business. Drawing on our
network of around 300 branches and
our 4,700 client-facing staff,
complemented by modern digital
banking services and customer
service centers open to our clients
around the clock seven days a week,
we are able to reach approximately
80% of Swiss wealth and service one
in three households, one in three
high net worth individuals, over 40%
of Swiss companies, one in three
pension funds and 85% of banks
domiciled in Switzerland. In July,
Euromoney acknowledged our pre-
eminent position in Switzerland with
its prestigious “Best Bank in
Switzerland” award for the second
consecutive year.

Our unique universal bank model is
central to our success. Our
dedicated Swiss management team
includes representatives from all five
business areas and ensures we
apply a consistent approach to the
market when offering

Operating environment and strategy

our full range of banking products,
expertise and services. Our cross-
divisional management approach
allows us to utilize our existing
resources efficiently, promotes
cross-divisional thinking and enables
seamless collaboration across all
business areas. As a result, we are
in a unique position to serve our
clients efficiently with a
comprehensive range of banking
products and services to fit their
needs. We are able to differentiate
ourselves by leveraging our
strengths across all segments while
ensuring stability and continuity
throughout each client’s life cycle.
Our universal bank model has
proven itself to be highly effective in
Switzerland and consistently
provides a substantial part of the
Group’s revenues.

Our distribution is based on a clear
multi-channel strategy as we strive to
offer a unique client experience,
giving clients the full flexibility to
choose by which channel to interact
with us — be it through our branches,
customer service centers or digital
channels. Our continuous expansion
of our electronic and mobile banking
proposition is very well-regarded by
our clients and translates into a
steadily rising number of users

and client interactions. With the
launch of the new version of our
mobile banking application,
downloads have increased 77% year
on year and client feedback has
been excellent, with 88% of Apple

App

Store ratings awarding the maximum
five stars. Premium functionality was
recognized externally, among others
with the international “Best Bank
Mobile Application” award at the
MobileWebAwards 2013 and the
national Best Swiss Apps 2013
Bronze Award. Our e-banking
service currently has around

1.3 million clients, a 7% increase in
each of the past two years, and now
includes a market-leading personal
financial management tool. Around
50 million electronic and mobile
banking touch points per year
provide a distinctive brand
experience, helping us to strengthen
client loyalty and attract new clients.
We will continue to build on our long
tradition as a leader and innovator in
digital services to capture market
share and increase efficiency.

Given the strength of the economy
and the stable political environment
in Switzerland, the country remains
an attractive financial market. This
inherent stability and growth has
been the basis for UBS Switzerland’s
success and its contribution to the
Group’s financial performance.
Thanks to our universal bank model,
broad client base and seamless
multi-channel offering, we are well-
positioned to capture future market
growth and to strengthen our leading
position in our home market.
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Measurement of performance

Performance measures

Key performance indicators

Our key performance indicators (KPI) framework focuses on
key drivers of total shareholder return, measured by the
dividend vyield and price appreciation of a UBS share. Our
senior management reviews the KPI framework on a regular
basis by considering prevailing strategy, business conditions
and the environment in which we operate. The KPI are
disclosed consistently in our quarterly and annual reporting to
facilitate comparison of our performance over the reporting
periods.

The Group and business divisions are managed based on
this KPIl framework, which emphasizes risk awareness,
effective risk and capital management, sustainable
profitability and client focus. Both Group and business
division KPI are taken into account in determining variable

compensation of executives and personnel.
=> Refer to the “Compensation” section of this report for more
information on performance criteria for compensation

In addition to the KPI, we disclose performance targets.
These performance targets include certain of the KPI as well
as additional balance sheet and capital management
performance measures to track the achievement of our

strategic plan.
=> Refer to the “Our strategy” section of this report for more information
on performance targets

The Group and business division KPI are explained in the

“Group/business division key performance indicators” table.
We made the following key changes to our KPI framework

in 2013 to align it to the new Basel Ill requirements which

became effective at the beginning of the year:

— We replaced “BIS tier 1 ratio (%)” with “Swiss systemically
relevant banks (SRB) Basel [l common equity tier 1 capital
ratio (%).”

— We replaced “FINMA leverage ratio (%)” with “Swiss SRB
leverage ratio (%)” (formerly also referred to as “FINMA
Basel Il leverage ratio (%)”).

We show our “Swiss SRB Basel Ill common equity tier 1
capital ratio (%)” on a phase-in and a fully applied basis. The
information provided on a fully applied basis entirely reflects
the effects of the new capital deductions and the phase-out of
ineligible capital instruments. The information provided on a
phase-in basis gradually reflects those effects during the
transition period, which runs from 2014 to 2018 for the new
capital deductions, and from 2013 to 2019 for the phase-out
of ineligible capital instruments. “Swiss SRB leverage ratio
(%)” considers Swiss SRB Basel Ill common equity tier 1
(CET1) capital and loss-absorbing capital, divided
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by total adjusted exposure, which is equal to IFRS assets,
based on a capital adequacy scope of consolidation, adjusted
for replacement value netting and other adjustments,
including off-balance sheet items. Our KPI for “Swiss SRB

leverage ratio (%)” is calculated on a phase-in basis.
=> Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more
information

In addition, we changed the definition of our Wealth
Management Americas KPI “Recurring income as a
percentage of total operating income (%)” to “Recurring
income as a percentage of income (%)” to exclude credit loss
(expense) or recovery. The change of the denominator to
“income” from “total operating income” makes this KPl more
consistent with the KPI “Gross margin on invested assets
(bps),” “Return on assets, gross (%),” “Return on risk-
weighted assets, gross (%)” and “Cost/income ratio (%)”
which are already based on “income” as opposed to
“operating income,” thereby also excluding credit loss
(expense) or recovery. The effect on our figures of this new
basis of calculation was immaterial, but prior periods were
restated to reflect the change in definition. In addition, we
now also include both “Recurring income” and “Recurring
income as a percentage of total income (%)” in our Wealth
Management disclosure. However, for Wealth Management
these metrics are considered “Additional information” and not
KPI.

Client/invested assets reporting

We report two distinct metrics for client funds:

— The measure “client assets” encompasses all client assets
managed by or deposited with us, including custody-only
assets.

— The measure “invested assets” is more restrictive and
includes only client assets managed by or deposited with
us for investment purposes.

Of the two, invested assets is our more central measure
and includes, for example, discretionary and advisory wealth
management portfolios, managed institutional assets,
managed fund assets and wealth management securities or
brokerage accounts. It excludes all assets held for custody-
only purposes, as we only administer the assets and do not
offer advice on how these assets should be invested. Non-
bankable assets (for example, art collections) and deposits
from third-party banks for funding or trading purposes are
excluded from both measures.

Net new money in a reported period is the amount of
invested assets that are entrusted to us by new or existing
clients less those withdrawn by existing clients or clients who
terminated their relationship with us. Negative net new money
means that there are more outflows than inflows. Interest and
dividend income from invested assets is not counted as net
new money inflow. However, in Wealth Management
Americas we also show net new money



Group/business division key performance indicators
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Key performance indicators

Definition Group

Wealth
Wealth Management
Management Americas

Retail &
Corporate

Global Asset Investment
Management Bank

Net profit growth (%)

Change in net profit

attributable to UBS

shareholders from continuing
operations between current

and comparison periods/net °
profit attributable to UBS
shareholders from continuing
operations of comparison

period

Pre-tax profit growth (%)

Change in business division
performance before tax
between current and
comparison periods/business
division performance before
tax of comparison period

Cost/income ratio (%)

Operating
expenses/operating income
before credit loss (expense)
or recovery

Return on equity (RoE) (%)

Net profit attributable to UBS
shareholders (annualized as
applicable)/average equity °
attributable to UBS

shareholders

Return on attributed equity
(ROAE) (%)

Business division
performance before tax
(annualized as
applicable)/average attributed
equity

Return on assets, gross (%)

Operating income before

credit loss (expense) or

recovery (annualized as (]
applicable)/average total

assets

Return on risk-weighted
assets, gross (%)

Operating income before

credit loss (expense) or

recovery (annualized as (]
applicable)/average risk-

weighted assets

Swiss SRB leverage ratio (%)
(phase-in)

Swiss SRB Basel Ill common

equity tier 1 capital and loss-
absorbing capital/total °
adjusted exposure (leverage

ratio denominator)

Swiss SRB Basel lll common
equity tier 1 capital ratio (%)

Swiss SRB Basel Ill common
equity tier 1 capital/Swiss
SRB Basel Ill risk-weighted
assets

Net new money growth (%)

Net new money for the period
(annualized as
applicable)/invested assets at
the beginning of the period

Gross margin on invested
assets (bps)

Operating income before
credit loss (expense) or
recovery (annualized as
applicable)/average invested
assets

Net new business volume
growth (%)

Net new business volume
(i.e., total net inflows and
outflows of client assets and
loans) for the period
(annualized as
applicable)/business volume
(i.e., total of client assets and
loans) at the beginning of the
period

Net interest margin (%)

Net interest income
(annualized as
applicable)/average loans




Recurring income as a % of
income (%)

Total recurring fees and net
interest income/income

Impaired loans portfolio as a
% of total loans portfolio,
gross (%)

Impaired loans portfolio,
gross/total loans portfolio,
gross

Average VaR (1-day, 95%
confidence, 5 years of
historical data)

Value-at-risk (VaR)
expresses maximum potential
loss measured to a 95%
confidence level, over a one-
day time horizon and based
on five years of historical data
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including interest and dividend income in line with
historical reporting practice in the US market. Market and
currency movements, as well as fees, commissions and
interest on loans charged, are excluded from net new
money, as are the effects of any acquisition or divestment
of a UBS subsidiary or business. Reclassifications
between invested assets and custody-only assets as a
result of a change in the service level delivered are
generally treated as net new money flows. However,
where such a change in service level directly results from
a new, externally imposed regulation, the one-time net
effect of the implementation is reported as an asset
reclassification without net new money impact. The
Investment Bank does not track invested assets or net
new money. Accordingly, when a client is transferred from
the Investment Bank to another business division, this
produces net new money even though the client assets
were already with UBS.

When products are managed in one business division
and sold by another, they are counted in both the
investment management unit and the distribution unit. This
results in double-counting within our total invested assets,
as both units provide an independent service to their
client, add value and generate revenues. Most double-
counting arises when mutual funds are managed by
Global Asset Management and sold by Wealth
Management and

Wealth Management Americas. The business divisions
involved count these funds as invested assets. This
approach is in line with both finance industry practices and
our open architecture strategy, and allows us to accurately
reflect the performance of each individual business.
Overall, CHF 156 billion of invested assets were double-
counted as of 31 December 2013 (CHF 172 billion as of
31 December 2012).

=> Refer to “Note 35 Invested assets and net new money” in the
“Financial information” section of this report for more information

Seasonal characteristics

Our main businesses may show seasonal patterns. The
Investment Bank’s revenues have been affected in some
years by the seasonal characteristics of general financial
market activity and deal flows in investment banking.
Other business divisions may also be impacted by
seasonal components, such as lower client activity levels
related to the summer and end-of-year holiday seasons,
annual income tax payments, for example, which are
concentrated in the second quarter in the US, and asset
withdrawals that tend to occur in the fourth quarter.

From the beginning of 2014, we will make the following changes to our KPI framework to further enhance its relevance by
reclassifying certain KPI to “Additional information,” or defining certain KPI to focus on our specific wealth management or

retail businesses.

Changes to key performance indicators in 2014

Existing key performance indicators Changes in 2014

Wealth
Management Retail &
Group Americas Corporate

Return on risk-weighted assets, gross (%)

This metric will no longer be a KPI, but will instead be
reported as “Additional information,” as it is considered to be
less meaningful and relevant compared with the other

existing KPI to measure the performance of the Group.

Swiss SRB Basel lll common equity tier 1
capital ratio (%) (phase-in)

a KPI.

This metric will no longer be a KPI, but will instead be
reported as “Additional information.” The Swiss SRB Basel llI
CET1 capital ratio on a fully applied basis will continue to be

Net new money growth (%)

This KPI will be renamed to “Net new money growth for

combined wealth management businesses (%)” and focus on

net new money generated by our wealth management
businesses only by excluding net new money from Global

Asset Management and Retail & Corporate from this

measure.

Recurring income as a % of income (%)

This metric will no longer be a KPI, but will instead be

reported as “Additional information,” to be consistent with the [ )
way this metric is reported in Wealth Management.

Net new business volume growth (%)

This KPI will be renamed “Net new business volume growth

for retail business (%)” and focus on net new business °®
volume from our retail business only by excluding our
corporate business from this measure.

Impaired loans portfolio as a % of total loans
portfolio, gross (%)

Corporate business.

This measure will no longer be a KPI, as it is considered to
be less meaningful and relevant compared with the other
existing KPI to measure the performance of our Retail &
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Wealth Management provides wealthy private clients with investment advice and solutions tailored to their
individual needs. At the end of 2013, we had a presence in over 40 countries and invested assets of more than

CHF 880 billion.

Business

We provide comprehensive financial services to wealthy
private clients around the world, with the exception of
those served by our colleagues in Wealth Management
Americas. UBS is a global firm with global capabilities,
and our clients benefit from a full spectrum of resources,
ranging from investment management solutions to
wealth planning and corporate finance advice, as well as
the specific offerings outlined below. Our guided
architecture model gives clients access to a wide range
of products from third-party providers that complement
our own product lines.

Strategy and clients

We are one of the pre-eminent wealth managers globally
and aim to provide our clients with superior investment
advice and solutions.

We are building on our leading position by focusing on
our clients’ individual goals. We provide them with
access to the infrastructure we offer to our institutional
clients: for example, direct access to the Investment
Bank’s trading platforms, the offering of our Institutional
Solutions Group and professional portfolio management
capabilities, including strategic asset allocation and
holistic portfolio monitoring to ensure clients’ portfolios
remain aligned with their investment strategy. In
addition, through our Global Family Office Group, clients
benefit from tailored institutional coverage and global
execution provided by dedicated specialist teams from
both Wealth Management and the Investment Bank. We
also provide solutions, products and services to financial
intermediaries.

Invested assets by client domicile

The global wealth management business has
attractive long-term growth prospects and we expect its
growth to outpace that of gross domestic product in all
regions. From a client segment perspective, the global
ultra high net worth market, including family offices, has
the highest growth potential, followed by the high net
worth market. Our broad client base and strong global
footprint put us in an excellent position to capture the
opportunities this presents.

Our integrated client service model enables us to
bundle capabilities from across the Group to identify
investment opportunities in all market conditions and
tailor solutions to meet individual client needs. Our
booking centers across the globe give us a strong local
presence which allows us to book client assets in
multiple locations. The strength and scope of our
franchise also enable us to adapt to the changing legal
and regulatory environment.

Collaboration is also crucial to our continued
expansion in key onshore locations, and we continue to
benefit from the established business relationships of
our local Investment Bank and Global Asset
Management teams.

In Asia Pacific, we are accelerating our growth with a
focus on Hong Kong and Singapore, the leading
financial centers in the region. We are also developing a
targeted presence in major onshore markets such as
Japan and Taiwan and investing in our local presence in
China to help capture long-term growth opportunities.

In the emerging markets, we are focused on key
growth markets such as Brazil, Mexico, Israel, Turkey,
Russia and Saudi Arabia. We continually enhance our
market-specific products and services

Invested assets by client wealth
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to ensure we meet the needs of our clients. Many
emerging market clients prefer to book their assets in
established financial centers and, to that end, we are
strengthening our coverage for such clients through our
booking centers in the US, the UK and Switzerland.

In Europe, our long-established footprint in all major
booking centers underpins our growth ambition. We
recognized early the converging needs of clients and
combined our offshore and onshore businesses. This
gives clients across the region access to our extensive
Swiss product offering, creates economies of scale and
enables us to deal more efficiently with increased
regulatory and fiscal requirements.

In Switzerland, we collaborate closely with our
colleagues in retail, corporate, asset management and
investment banking. This generates opportunities to
expand our business and gives our clients access to our
investment insight and research, advisory and portfolio
management capabilities, products and capital markets,
as well as execution know-how. We generate significant
referrals from Swiss corporate and retail clients through
UBS’s extensive branch network, which includes over
100 wealth management offices. As their wealth
increases, retail clients can progress seamlessly to our
wealth management operations.

Our Global Financial Intermediaries business acts as
a strategic business partner for more than 2,400
financial intermediaries in all major financial centers. It
offers them professional investment advisory services, a
global banking infrastructure and tailored solutions,
helping financial intermediaries to advise their end-
clients more effectively.

Organizational structure

Headquartered in Switzerland, we have a presence in
over 40 countries with approximately 200 wealth
management and representative offices, half of which
are outside Switzerland. As of the end of 2013, we
employed approximately 16,400 people worldwide. Of
these, approximately 4,100 were client advisors. We are
governed by executive, operating and risk committees
and are primarily organized along regional lines with our
business areas being Asia Pacific, Europe, Global
Emerging Markets, Switzerland and Global Ulira High
Net Worth. Our business is supported by the Chief
Investment Office and a global Investment Products and
Services unit, as well as central functions.

Competitors

Our major global competitors include the private banking
operations of Credit Suisse, Julius Bar, HSBC, Deutsche
Bank, BNP Paribas, JP Morgan and Citigroup, along
with leading investment managers such as PIMCO. In
the European domestic markets, we primarily compete
with the private banking operations of large local banks
such as Barclays in the UK, Deutsche Bank in Germany
and Unicredit in Italy. In Asia Pacific, the private banking
franchises of HSBC, Citigroup and Credit Suisse are our
main competitors.

Investment advice and solutions

As part of a global, integrated firm, we are a dynamic
wealth manager with investment management
capabilities at our core.

Invested assets by asset class
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Our client advisors are proactive in their relationships
with clients, and we have a systematic process for
developing a thorough understanding of our clients’
financial objectives and risk appetite. In addition, our
wealth planners — part of our specialist product team —
often support client advisors as they guide their clients in
making financial decisions based on their life-cycle
needs. With this comprehensive overview, we offer them
wealth planning advice and products, and we ascertain
their investment strategy, which serves as the
foundation for the investment solutions we offer them.
Client advisors regularly review their clients’ investor
profiles to make sure they correspond to their evolving
priorities and changing tolerance for risk. Our bespoke
training programs and the ongoing support the firm
provides to our client advisors enable them to deliver
superior advice and solutions to our clients. For
example, we require all of our client advisors to obtain
the Wealth Management Diploma, a program accredited
by Switzerland’s State Secretariat For Economic Affairs
(SECO) that ensures a high level of knowledge and
expertise. For our most senior client advisors, we offer
extensive training through the Wealth Management
Master program.

Our global Chief Investment Office synthesizes the
research and expertise of our global network of
economists, strategists, analysts and investment
specialists from across all business divisions. These
specialists are present in all major markets around the
globe, closely monitoring financial developments. This
allows us to deliver real-time insights and to embed local
knowledge into our global investment process. Using
these analyses, and in consultation with our external
partner network, which includes many of the world’s
most successful money managers, the Chief Investment

Supericr investment advice and sclutions for our clients’ wealth
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Office establishes a clear, concise and consistent
investment view — the UBS House View. The UBS
House View includes both our strategic and our tactical
asset allocation across all relevant asset classes in
major markets. The strategic asset allocation represents
the long-term asset allocation for a defined risk level and
is crucial for investment performance. Our strategic
asset allocation is complemented by our tactical asset
allocation, which allows us to capitalize on short-term
market opportunities.

Our Investment Products and Services unit ensures
our solutions are in step with market conditions by
aligning our discretionary and advisory offerings with our
UBS House View. Clients who opt for an investment
mandate delegate the management of their assets to a
team of professional portfolio managers. Those who
prefer to be actively involved can choose an advisory
mandate. Their entire portfolio is monitored and
analyzed closely, and they receive tailored proposals to
help them make informed investment decisions. They
can also invest in the full range of financial instruments
from single securities such as equities and bonds, to
various investment funds, structured products and
alternative investments. Additionally, we offer clients
advice on structured lending and corporate finance.

Our products are aimed at achieving performance in
various market scenarios. They are developed from a
wide range of sources, including Investment Products
and Services, Global Asset Management, the
Investment Bank and third parties, as we operate within
a guided architecture model. By aggregating private
investment flows into institutional-size flows, we can
offer our clients access to investments normally only
available to institutional clients.
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Wealth Management Americas

Wealth Management Americas develops advice-based relationships through its financial advisors, who deliver a
fully integrated set of wealth management solutions designed to address the needs of high net worth and ultra

high net worth individuals and families.

Business

We are one of the leading wealth managers in the
Americas in terms of financial advisor productivity and
invested assets. Our business includes the domestic US
and Canadian business as well as international business
booked in the US. We have attractive growth
opportunities and a clear strategy focused on serving
our target client segments. As of 31 December 2013,
invested assets totaled USD 970 billion.

Strategy and clients

Our goal is to be the best wealth management business
in the Americas. With our client-focused, advisor-centric
strategy, we deliver advice-based wealth management
solutions and banking services through our financial
advisors in key metropolitan markets, providing a fully
integrated set of products and services to

meet the needs of our target client segments, high net
worth clients and ultra high net worth clients, while also
serving the needs of core affluent clients. We define high
net worth clients as those with investable assets of
between USD 1 million and USD 10 million, and ultra
high net worth clients as those with investable assets of
more than USD 10 million. Core affluent clients are
defined as those with investable assets of between USD
250,000 and USD 1 million. The Global Family Office —
Americas, a joint venture between Wealth Management
Americas and the Investment Bank, was launched in
2013 with the objective of seamlessly offering the global
resources and reach of the entire firm by providing
integrated, comprehensive wealth management and
institutional-type services to selected Family Office
clients. Our Wealth Advice Center serves emerging
affluent clients with investable assets of less than USD
250,000. We are committed to providing high-quality
advice to our clients across all their financial needs by
employing the best professionals in the industry,
delivering the
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highest standard of execution, and running a
streamlined and efficient business.

We believe we are uniquely positioned to serve high
net worth and ultra high net worth investors in the
world’s largest wealth market. With a network of over
7,000 financial advisors and USD 970 billion in invested
assets, we are large enough to be relevant, but focused
enough to be nimble, enabling us to combine the
advantages of large and boutique wealth managers. We
aim to differentiate ourselves from competitors and be a
trusted and leading provider of financial advice and
solutions to our clients by enabling our financial advisors
to leverage the full resources of UBS, including unique
access to wealth management research, a global Chief
Investment Office, and solutions from our asset-
gathering businesses and the Investment Bank. These
resources are augmented by our commitment to an
open architecture platform and are supported by our
partnerships with many of the world’s leading third-party
institutions. Moreover, our wealth management offerings
are complemented by banking, mortgage and financing
solutions that enable us to provide advice on both the
asset and liability sides of our clients’ financial balance
sheets.

We believe the long-term growth prospects of the
wealth management business are attractive in the
Americas, with high net worth and ultra high net worth
expected to be the fastest growing segments in terms of
invested assets in the region. In 2013, our strategy and
focus led to a continued improvement in financial results,
retention of high-quality financial advisors and net new
money growth. Building on this progress, we aim for
continued growth in our business by developing our
financial advisors’ focus towards advice-based solutions,
leveraging the global capabilities of UBS to clients by
continuing to partner with the Investment Bank and
Global Asset Management, and delivering banking and
lending services that complement our wealth
management solutions. We also plan to continue
investing in improved platforms and technology, while
remaining disciplined on cost. We expect these efforts to
enable us to achieve higher levels

Operating environment and strategy

of client satisfaction, strengthen our client relationships,
and lead to greater revenue productivity among our
financial advisors.

Organizational structure

Wealth Management Americas consists of branch
networks in the US, Puerto Rico, Canada and Uruguay,
with 7,137 financial advisors as of 31 December 2013.
Most corporate and operational functions are located in
the Wealth Management Americas home office in
Weehawken, New Jersey.

In the US and Puerto Rico, we operate primarily
through direct and indirect subsidiaries of UBS AG.
Securities and operations activities are conducted
primarily through two registered broker-dealers, UBS
Financial Services Inc. and UBS Financial Services
Incorporated of Puerto Rico. Our banking services in the
US include those conducted through the UBS AG
branches and UBS Bank USA, a federally regulated
bank in Utah, which provides Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC)-insured deposit accounts,
collateralized lending services, mortgages and credit
cards.

Canadian wealth management and banking
operations are conducted through UBS Bank (Canada),
and Uruguayan wealth management operations are
conducted through UBS Financial Services Montevideo.

Competitors

We compete with national full-service brokerage firms,
domestic and global private banks, regional broker-
dealers, independent broker-dealers, registered
investment advisors, trust companies and other financial
services firms offering wealth management services to
US and Canadian private clients, as well as foreign non-
resident clients seeking wealth management services
within the US. Our main competitors include the wealth
management businesses of Bank of America, Morgan
Stanley and Wells Fargo.
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Products and services

We offer clients a full array of solutions that focus on
their individual financial needs. Comprehensive planning
supports clients through the various stages of their lives,
including education funding, charitable giving, estate
strategies, insurance, retirement and trusts and
foundations, with corresponding product offerings for
each stage. Our advisors work closely with internal
consultants in areas such as wealth planning, portfolio
strategy, retirement and annuities, alternative
investments, managed accounts, structured products,
banking and lending, equities and fixed income. Clients
also benefit from our dedicated Wealth Management
Research team, which provides research guidance to
help support our clients’ investment decisions.

Our offerings are designed to meet a wide variety of
investment objectives, including wealth accumulation
and preservation, income generation and portfolio
diversification. To address the full range of our clients’
financial needs, we also offer competitive lending and
cash management services such as securities-backed
lending, resource management accounts, FDIC-insured
deposits, mortgages and credit cards.

Additionally, our UBS Equity Plan Advisory Services is
a leading provider of equity compensation plan services
and advice to more than 130 US corporations,
representing one million participants worldwide. For
corporate and institutional clients, we offer a robust
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suite of solutions, including equity compensation,
administration, investment consulting, defined benefit
and contribution programs and cash management
services.

Our clients can choose asset-based pricing,
transaction-based pricing or a combination of both.
Asset-based accounts have access to both discretionary
and non-discretionary investment advisory programs.
Non-discretionary advisory programs enable the client to
maintain control over all account transactions, while
clients with discretionary advisory programs direct
investment professionals to manage a portfolio on their
behalf. Depending on the type of discretionary program,
the client can give investment discretion to a qualified
financial advisor, a team of our investment professionals
or a third-party investment manager. Separately, we also
offer mutual fund advisory programs, whereby a financial
advisor works with the client to create a diversified
portfolio of mutual funds guided by a research-driven
asset allocation framework.

For clients who favor individual securities, we offer a
broad range of equity and fixed income instruments. In
addition, qualified clients may take advantage of
structured products and alternative investment offerings
to complement their portfolio strategies.

All of these solutions are supported by a dedicated
capital markets group. This group partners with the
Investment Bank and Global Asset Management in order
to access the resources of the entire firm, as well as
third-party investment banks and asset management
firms.



Retail & Corporate

Operating environment and strategy

As the leading retail and corporate banking business in Switzerland, our goal is to deliver comprehensive
financial products and services to our retail, corporate and institutional clients, provide stable and substantial
profits for the Group and create revenue opportunities for other businesses within the Group.

Business

We provide comprehensive financial products and
services to our retail, corporate and institutional clients in
Switzerland, maintaining a leading position in these
client segments and embedding our offering in a multi-
channel approach. As shown in the “Business mix” chart
below, our retail and corporate business generates
stable profits which contribute substantially to the overall
financial performance of the Group. We are among the
leading players in the retail and corporate loan market in
Switzerland, with a highly collateralized lending portfolio
of CHF 137 billion as of 31 December 2013, as shown in
the “Loans, gross” chart below. This portfolio is
managed conservatively, focusing on profitability and
credit quality rather than market share.

Our retail and corporate business constitutes a central
building block of UBS Switzerland’s universal bank
model, supporting other business divisions by referring
clients to them and assisting retail clients to build their
wealth to a level at which we can transfer them to our
Wealth Management unit. Furthermore, we leverage the
cross-selling potential of products and services provided
by our asset-gathering and investment banking
businesses. In addition, we manage a substantial part of
UBS’s Swiss infrastructure and Swiss banking products
platform, which are both leveraged across the Group.

Strategy and clients

We aspire to be the bank of choice for retail clients in
Switzerland by delivering value-added services.
Currently, we serve one in three Swiss households. Our
distribution network comprises around 300 branches,
1,250 automated teller machines including self-service
terminals, and four customer service centers as well as
state-of-the-art digital banking services. Technology is
fundamentally transforming the way we deliver our
products and services. We are therefore continuously
expanding and enhancing our multi-channel offering and
will continue to build on our long tradition as a leader
and innovator in digital services to deliver superior client
experience, capture market share and increase
efficiency. Moreover, we follow a life-cycle-based
product approach to provide our clients with tailored
solutions to meet their particular needs in their different
stages of life. With regard to execution, we ensure a
client-focused and efficient sales process.

Our size in Switzerland and the diversity of
businesses we operate put us in an advantageous
position to serve all our clients’ complex financial needs
in an integrated and efficient way. We aim to be the
main bank of corporate and institutional clients ranging
from small and medium-sized enterprises to
multinationals, and from pension funds and commodity
traders to banks and insurers. We serve over 40% of
Swiss companies, including more
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than 85% of the 1,000 largest Swiss corporations, as
well as one in three pension funds in Switzerland,
including 75 of the largest 100, and 85% of banks
domiciled in Switzerland. We strive to further expand
and leverage our transaction banking capabilities (for
example, payment and cash management services,
custody solutions, trade and export finance). In addition,
we plan to increase our presence and grow in the
commodities trade finance business. Combining the
universal bank approach with our local market expertise
across all Swiss regions enables us to optimize our
client service by providing access to all UBS capabilities.

As the leading retail and corporate banking business
in Switzerland, we understand the importance of our role
in supporting the needs of our clients. We have
successfully implemented structures and processes to
simplify our service commitments across the business,
including streamlining our processes, reducing the
administrative burden on our client advisors and
enhancing their long-term  productivity  without
compromising our risk standards.

Continuous development, particularly of our client-
facing staff, is a crucial element of our strategy, as this is
our key to ensuring superior client service. We are the
only bank in Switzerland with a mandatory certification
scheme for our client advisors acknowledged by an
independent third party.

Organizational structure

We are a core element of UBS Switzerland’s universal
bank delivery model, which allows us to extend the
expertise of the entire bank to our Swiss retail, corporate
and institutional clients. Switzerland is the only country
where we operate in retail, corporate and institutional
banking, wealth and asset management as well as
investment banking.

To ensure consistent delivery throughout Switzerland,
the Swiss network is organized into 10 geographical
regions. Dedicated management teams in the regions
and in the branches derived from all business areas are
responsible for executing the universal
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bank model, fostering cross-divisional collaboration and
ensuring that the public and clients have a uniform
experience based on a single corporate image and
shared standards of service.

Competitors

In the Swiss retail banking business, our competitors are
Raiffeisen, Credit Suisse, the cantonal banks,
Postfinance, and other regional and local Swiss banks.

In the Swiss corporate and institutional business, our
main competitors are Credit Suisse, the cantonal banks
and foreign banks in Switzerland.

Products and services

Our retail clients have access to a comprehensive life-
cycle-based offering, comprising easy-to-understand
products including cash accounts, payments, savings
and retirement solutions, investment fund products,
residential mortgages, a loyalty program and advisory
services. We provide financing solutions to our corporate
clients, offering access to equity and debt capital
markets, syndicated and structured credit, private
placements, leasing and traditional financing. Our
transaction banking offers solutions for payments and
cash management services, trade and export finance,
receivable finance, as well as global custody solutions to
institutional clients. Close collaboration with our client-
centric Investment Bank is a key building block in our
universal bank strategy that enables us to offer capital
market products, foreign exchange products, hedging
strategies (currency, interest rates, and commodities)
and trading (equities and fixed income, currencies and
commodities), as well as to provide corporate finance
advice in fields such as mid-market mergers and
acquisitions, corporate succession planning and real
estate. We also cater to the asset management needs of
institutional clients by offering portfolio management
mandates, strategy execution and fund distribution.
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Global Asset Management

Global Asset Management is a large-scale asset manager with diversified businesses across investment
capabilities, regions and distribution channels. We offer third-party institutional and wholesale clients and
clients of UBS’s wealth management businesses a broad range of investment capabilities and styles across all

major traditional and alternative asset classes.

Business

Our investment capabilities encompass equities, fixed
income, currency, hedge funds, real estate,
infrastructure and private equity. We also enable clients
to invest in a combination of different asset classes
through multi-asset strategies. Our fund services unit is
a global fund administration business. Invested assets
totaled CHF 583 billion and assets under administration
were CHF 432 billion as of 31 December 2013. We are a
leading fund house in Europe, the largest mutual fund
manager in Switzerland and one of the leading fund of
hedge funds and real estate investment managers in the
world.

Strategy

We work closely with our clients in pursuit of their
investment goals with long-term performance as our
focus. We seek to expand our strong third-party
institutional business and grow third-party wholesale
distribution. We also remain committed to delivering
distinctive products and solutions to clients of UBS’s
wealth management businesses.

We offer a broad range of investment capabilities and
styles across all major traditional — including indexed —
and alternative asset classes.

Over the past few years, we have significantly
developed our indexed capabilities, including exchange-
traded funds (ETF), to meet growing demand for these
strategies from both institutional

Business structure

and individual investors. Over a quarter of our invested
assets now fall into this category. During 2013, we
brought together our indexing capabilities under a
unified business structure — structured beta and indexing
— to fulfill the beta needs of clients across all asset
classes.

We also continue to expand our successful
alternatives platform, building on our established
positions in real estate and fund of hedge funds. During
2013, we split the management of our former alternative
and quantitative investments business line into its two
constituent parts: O’Connor, the single-manager hedge
funds business, and A&Q hedge fund solutions (A&Q),
the multi-manager hedge funds business. This split
provides clear and focused leadership to accelerate
growth in each business. These two businesses
continue to be reported together as O’Connor and A&Q.

Overall, our diversified business model has proven
resilient to challenging market conditions, has put us in a
good position to benefit from shifting market dynamics
and provided a solid foundation to capture industry
growth opportunities.

Although the asset management industry has
experienced a challenging period, the long-term outlook
is positive. Three main drivers indicate asset inflows into
the industry: (i) demographic shifts resulting in
population aging in developed countries that will
increase future savings requirements, (ii) governments
are continuing to reduce support for pensions and
benefits, leading to a greater need for private pension
savings and (iii) emerging markets are becoming an
ever more important asset pool.

Globally coordinated investment capabilities and services ...
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Organizational structure

We employ around 3,700 personnel in 24 countries, and
have our principal offices in London, Chicago, Frankfurt,
Hartford, Hong Kong, New York, Paris, Singapore,
Sydney, Tokyo and Zurich. The “Business structure”
chart shows our investment and distribution structure.

Significant recent acquisitions, joint ventures and

business transfers

— In December 2013, we announced the creation of
UBS Grocon, a joint venture with Grocon, Australia’s
largest private development and construction firm, to
provide investment opportunities in Australian real
estate.

— In December 2012, we announced the sale of our
book of Canadian domestic business to Fiera Capital
Corporation. The transaction was completed in
January 2013.

— In January 2012, the firm’s Jersey fund services
business was transferred to Global Asset
Management from Wealth Management.

— In October 2011, we completed the acquisition of the
ING Investment Management Limited business in
Australia. This business initially operated as a
subsidiary of UBS Global Asset Management
(Australia) Ltd and, following the sale of parts of the
business, was fully integrated during 2012.

Competitors

Our competitors include global firms with wide-ranging
capabilities and distribution channels, such as JP
Morgan Asset Management, BlackRock, Goldman
Sachs Asset Management, Morgan Stanley Investment
Management, AllianceBernstein  Investments and
Schroders. Most of our other competitors are regional or
local players or firms with a specific asset class focus.

Clients and markets

We serve third-party institutional and wholesale clients,
and clients of UBS’s wealth management businesses.
As shown in the “Invested assets by channel” chart, as
of 31 December 2013 approximately 70% of invested
assets originated from third-party clients. These
comprised institutional clients, such as corporate and
public pension plans, governments and their central
banks, and wholesale clients, such as financial
intermediaries and distribution partners. UBS’s wealth
management businesses represented 30% of invested
assets and constituted our largest client relationship.

Products and services

We offer our clients products and services in traditional
investments, single- and multi-manager hedge funds,
global real estate, infrastructure, private equity, and fund
services. The “Investment capabilities and services”
chart illustrates the distinct offerings of each investment
area. These can be delivered in the form of segregated,
pooled and advisory mandates, as well as a broad range
of registered investment funds, ETF and other
investment vehicles in a wide variety of jurisdictions and
across all major asset classes.

— Equities offers a wide spectrum of active investment
strategies with varying risk and return objectives.
These strategies are delivered by distinct investment
teams, each with dedicated research and portfolio
construction resources. Our teams are organized
around regional capabilities and styles: global, US,
Europe, Asia Pacific and emerging markets, and
growth. Strategies include core, unconstrained,
long/short, small cap, sector, thematic, and other
specialized strategies.

— Fixed income offers a diverse range of active global,
regional and local market-based investment
strategies. Its capabilities include single-sector
strategies such as government and corporate bond
portfolios, multi-sector strategies such as core and
core
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plus bond, and extended sector strategies such as high yield
and emerging market debt. In addition to this suite of
traditional fixed income offerings, the team also manages
unconstrained fixed income, currency strategies and
customized solutions.

— Structured beta and indexing offers indexed, alternative
beta and rules-based strategies across all major asset
classes on a global and regional basis. Its capabilities
include indexed equities, fixed income, commodities, real
estate and alternatives with benchmarks ranging from
mainstream to highly customized indices and rules-driven
solutions. Products are offered in a variety of structures
including ETF, pooled funds, structured funds and
mandates.

— Global investment solutions offers active asset allocation,
currency, multi-manager, structured solutions, risk advisory
and strategic investment advisory services. It manages a
wide array of regional and global multi-asset investment
strategies across the full investment universe and risk/return
spectrum, structured portfolios, convertible bonds and
absolute return strategies.

Operating environment and strategy

Global investment
solutions
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sel-up

Met asset value caloulation
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suppart
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Private hanking private equity
products

Through its risk management and strategic investment
advisory services, it supports clients in a wide range of
investment-related functions.

O’Connor is a global, relative value-focused, single-
manager hedge fund platform. It is dedicated to providing
investors with strong absolute and risk-adjusted returns,
differentiated from those available from long-only
investment in traditional asset classes.

A&Q hedge fund solutions (A&Q) offers a full spectrum of
multi-manager hedge fund solutions and advisory services
including a wide range of strategies that provide
professionally managed exposure to hedge fund
investments with tailored risk and return profiles.

Global real estate actively manages real estate investments
globally and regionally within Asia Pacific, Europe and the
US across the major real estate sectors. Its capabilities are
focused on core and value-added strategies but also include
other strategies across the risk/return spectrum. These are
offered
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through open- and closed-end private funds, REITs,
customized investment structures, multi-manager
funds, individually managed accounts and real estate
securities.

— Infrastructure and private equity manages direct
infrastructure investment and multi-manager
infrastructure and private equity strategies for both
institutional and private banking clients. Infrastructure
asset management manages direct investments in
core infrastructure assets globally. Alternative Funds
Advisory (AFA) infrastructure and AFA private equity
construct broadly diversified fund of funds portfolios
across the infrastructure and private equity asset
classes, respectively.

— Fund services, our global fund administration
business, offers a comprehensive range of flexible
solutions, including fund set-up, reporting and
accounting for traditional investment funds, managed
accounts, hedge funds, real estate funds, private
equity funds and other alternative structures.

Distribution

As detailed in the “Business structure” chart, our
capabilities and services are distributed through our
regional business structure in the Americas, Asia Pacific,
Europe and Switzerland. This enables clients to access
the full resources of our global investment platforms and
functions, while providing them at a local level with the
investment management products and services they
need. In addition, our dedicated global sovereign
markets group delivers an integrated approach to ensure
sovereign institutions receive the focused advisory,
investment and training solutions they require.
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A breakdown of invested assets by client servicing
location is shown in the “Invested assets by region”
chart.

In Asia Pacific, we have expanded our business
through strategic joint ventures. In addition to the
abovementioned UBS Grocon joint venture, in Japan,
Mitsubishi Corp. — UBS Realty, a real estate investment
joint venture with Mitsubishi Corporation, has been in
operation since 2001. In China, UBS SDIC Fund
Management Co., a joint venture with SDIC Trust &
Investment Co., is now in the top third of the onshore
asset management market. In South Korea, UBS Hana
Asset Management, a joint venture with Hana Bank, is
among the top 10 domestic asset management firms.



Investment Bank

Operating environment and strategy

The Investment Bank provides corporate, institutional and wealth management clients with expert advice,
innovative solutions, outstanding execution and comprehensive access to the world’s capital markets. We offer
financial advisory and capital markets, research, equities, foreign exchange, precious metals and tailored fixed
income services in rates and credit through our two business units, Corporate Client Solutions and Investor

Client Services.

Business

The Investment Bank is organized as two distinct but
aligned business units:

Corporate Client Solutions includes all advisory and
financing solutions businesses, origination, structuring
and execution, including equity and debt capital markets
in service of corporate, financial institution, sponsor
clients and Wealth Management.

Investor  Client  Services includes execution,
distribution and trading for institutional investors and
provides support to Corporate Client Solutions and
UBS’s wealth management businesses. It comprises our
equities businesses, including cash, derivatives and
financing services, cross-asset class research
capabilities and our foreign exchange franchise,
precious metals, rates and credit businesses. The
Investor Client Services unit also provides distribution
and risk management capabilities required to support all
of our businesses.

Strategy

In the first quarter of 2013, we re-shaped our strategy
and organizational model to capitalize on our traditional
strengths in advisory, capital markets, equities and
foreign exchange businesses, while re-focusing our
rates and credit platform on areas that offer the most
attractive opportunities. Following this, and consistent
with our October 2012 announcement to significantly
accelerate the implementation of our strategy, we exited
products and services which were capital- and balance
sheet-intensive, exhibited higher operational complexity
and were not required for serving our wealth
management or Corporate Client Solutions clients. In
addition, foreign exchange, rates and credit businesses
were brought under one unit within Investor Client
Services to leverage their combined client base,
technology, risk and operational control management, as
well as expertise in different areas.

We believe the strategic transformation of our
business differentiates us by capitalizing on our
traditional strengths. Our clients continue to benefit from
our expertise, intellectual capital and global execution.
Our client-centric business model makes us an ideal
partner to our wealth management businesses, Retail &
Corporate and Global Asset Management, and positions
us to provide our clients with an integrated, solutions-led
approach, combined with deep market insight,
intellectual capital and global coverage and execution.

Our Corporate Client Solutions business unit is
comprised of our advisory and capital markets
businesses and financing solutions, which target
industries and geographies that offer the best
opportunities to meet our long-term strategy. We have a
presence in all major financial markets, with coverage
based on a comprehensive matrix of country, sector and
product banking professionals.

Within our Investor Client Services business unit, our
equities business continues to leverage its global
distribution platform and product expertise while seeking
further operational efficiencies. Foreign exchange and
precious metals businesses, underpinned by a world-
class platform, continue to be a cornerstone of our
services. Consistent with our strategy, our rates and
credit platform is focused on client flow and solutions
business. It serves our capital markets business through
an intermediation model, much like in our equities and
foreign exchange platforms.

To ensure the successful execution of our strategy,
we will continue to invest in technology and selectively
recruit talent in key areas across the business.
Furthermore, we will remain focused on our ongoing
cost reduction programs and on strengthening our
operational risk framework. In 2013, we made a number
of key strategic hires to strengthen our leadership team
further and enhance our ability to execute our strategy in
2014 and beyond. We continued to optimize internal
efficiencies through the implementation of a targeted
technology plan, which is based on a long-term portfolio

45



Operating environment and strategy
Investment Bank

approach across businesses aimed at enhancing the
effectiveness of our platform for clients. These structural
changes are expected to contribute to the Group-wide
effort to increase efficiency. In addition, and on a
selective basis, we will continue to undertake specific
initiatives to simplify our production processes, achieve
leaner front-to-back processes, and operate with a
reduced real-estate footprint.

To support our goal of earning attractive returns on
allocated capital resources, we operate within a tightly
controlled matrix of balance sheet, risk-weighted assets,
leverage ratio denominator and other risk metrics (e.g.,
value-at-risk and liquidity adjusted stress). Consistent
with this, we assess both the Investor Client Services
and Corporate Client Solutions business units based on
the returns they generate.

Organizational structure

As of the end of 2013, we employed approximately
11,615 personnel in over 35 countries. We operate
through branches and subsidiaries of UBS AG.
Securities activities in the US are conducted through
UBS Securities LLC, a registered broker-dealer.

Significant recent acquisitions

In February 2013, after receiving the required regulatory
approvals from the Brazilian government, UBS finalized
its acquisition of Link Investimentos, a Brazilian financial
services firm. UBS had entered into the agreement to
acquire Link Investimentos in 2010. The acquisition
demonstrates our commitment to the emerging markets
and allows us to provide wealth management and
investment banking services to private and institutional
clients in Brazil, one of the world’s fastest growing
economies.

Competitors

Our Investment Bank’s strategy and scope is unique, but
other competing firms are active in many of the
businesses and markets in which we still participate. For
our leading equities, foreign exchange and corporate
advisory businesses, our main competitors remain the
major global investment banks, including Bank of
America Merrill Lynch, Barclays Capital, Citigroup,
Credit Suisse, Deutsche Bank, Goldman Sachs, JP
Morgan Chase and Morgan Stanley.

Products and services

Corporate Client Solutions

This includes client coverage, advisory, debt and equity
capital market solutions and financing solutions for
corporate, financial institution and sponsor clients.
Corporate Client Solutions works closely with Investor
Client Services in the distribution and risk management
of capital markets products and financing solutions. With

advice and execution, as well as refinancing, spin-offs,
exchange offers, leveraged buyouts, joint ventures,
takeover defense, corporate broking and other
advisory services.

— Equity capital markets offers equity capital-raising
services, as well as related derivative products and
risk management solutions. Its services include
managing initial public offerings, follow-ons including
rights issues and block trades, equity-linked
transactions and other strategic equities solutions.

— Debt capital markets helps corporate and financial
institution clients in raising debt capital including
investment grade and emerging market bonds, high-
yield bonds, subordinated debt and hybrid capital. It
also provides leveraged capital services, which
include event-driven (acquisition, leveraged buy-out)
loans, bonds and mezzanine financing. All debt
products are provided alongside risk management
solutions, including derivatives in close collaboration
with our foreign exchange, rates and credit
businesses.

— Financing solutions serves corporate and investor
clients across the globe by providing customized
solutions across asset classes via a wide range of
financing capabilities including structured financing,
real estate finance and special situations.

— Risk management includes corporate lending and
associated hedging activities.

Investor Client Services

Investor Client Services, which includes our equities
business and our foreign exchange, rates and credit
business, provides a comprehensive distribution
platform with enhanced cross-asset delivery as well as
specialist skills to our corporate, institutional and wealth
management clients.

Equities
We are one of the world’s largest equities houses and a
leading participant in the primary and secondary markets
for cash equities and equity derivatives. We provide a
full front-to-back product suite globally, including
financing, execution, clearing and custody services. Our
franchise employs a client-centric approach to serve
hedge funds, asset managers, wealth management
advisors, financial institutions and sponsors, pension
funds, sovereign wealth funds and corporations globally.
We distribute, structure, execute, finance and clear cash
equity and equity derivative products. Our research
franchise provides in-depth investment analysis on
companies, sectors, regions, macroeconomic trends,
public policy and asset-allocation strategies. The main
business lines of the equities unit are as follows:

— Cash provides clients with liquidity, investment
advisory, trade execution and consultancy services,
together with comprehensive access to primary and
secondary markets, corporate management and



a presence in all major financial markets, it is managed

by region and is organized on a matrix of country,

industry sector and product banking professionals. Its

main business lines are as follows:

— Advisory provides bespoke solutions to our clients’
most complex strategic problems. This includes
mergers and acquisitions
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subject matter experts. We offer full-service trade
execution for single stocks and portfolios, including
capital commitment, block trading, small cap
execution and commission management services. In
addition, we provide clients with a full suite of
advanced electronic trading products, direct market
access to over 150 venues worldwide, including low-
latency execution,



innovative algorithms and pre-, post- and real-time
analytical tools. Our broker and intermediary services
franchise offers execution and price improvement to
retail wholesalers.

— Derivatives provides a full range of flow and structured
products, convertible bonds and strategic equity
solutions with global access to primary and secondary
markets. It enables clients to manage risk and meet
funding requirements through a wide range of listed,
over-the-counter, securitized and fund-wrapped
products. We create and distribute structured products
and notes for institutional and retail investors with
investment returns linked to companies, sectors and
indices across multiple asset classes, including
commodities.

— Financing services provides a fully integrated platform
for our hedge fund clients, including prime brokerage,
capital introduction, clearing and custody, synthetic
financing and securities lending. In addition, we
execute and clear exchange-traded derivatives across
equities, fixed income and commodities in more than
60 markets globally.

Foreign exchange, rates and credit
This unit consists of our leading foreign exchange
franchise and our market-leading precious metals
business, as well as our repositioned rates and credit
businesses. These businesses support the execution,
distribution and risk management related to corporate
and institutional client businesses, and also meet the
needs of private wealth management clients via targeted
intermediaries. The main business lines are as follows:

— Foreign exchange provides a full range of G10 and
emerging markets currency and precious metals
services globally. We are a leading foreign exchange
market-maker in the professional spot, forwards and
options markets. We provide clients worldwide with
first-class execution faciliies (voice, electronic,
algorithmic)
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Efficient utilization of resources and improved profitability
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coupled with premier advisory and structuring
capabilities when tailored solutions best fit our clients’
positioning, hedging or liquidity management. Our
presence in physical and non-physical precious metals
markets has endured for almost a century. Our award-
winning teams provide quality, security and
competitive pricing supported by a client-centric, one-
stop-shop approach that offers trading, investing and
hedging across the spectrum of gold-, silver-,
platinum- and palladium-related offerings.

— Rates and credit encompasses sales and trading in a

selected number of credit and rates products, such as
standardized rates-driven products, interest rate
swaps, medium-term notes, government and
corporate bonds as well as bank notes and bespoke
solutions for clients. Our offering includes market-
making capabilities in areas required to support our
businesses in foreign exchange and equities, as well
as our corporate and investor client base.
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Corporate Center

The Corporate Center comprises Corporate Center — Core Functions and Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio. Corporate Center — Core Functions enables the firm to operate cohesively and effectively by providing and
managing support and control functions to the Group and business divisions. Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio manages the exit and wind-down of the non-core businesses and legacy positions previously part of the

Investment Bank.

Our objectives

Corporate Center — Core Functions provides our business
divisions with Group-level control in the areas of finance, risk,
legal, compliance and Group-wide shared services functions,
comprising support and logistics functions. We strive to
maintain effective corporate governance processes, including
compliance with relevant regulations and ensuring an
appropriate balance between risk and return. The Corporate
Center also encompasses our Non-core and Legacy Portfolio
unit, which comprises the non-core businesses and legacy
positions previously part of the Investment Bank.

At the end of 2013, there were 24,082 employees working
across all Corporate Center functions including Non-core and
Legacy Portfolio. Corporate Center — Core Functions
allocates the majority of its treasury income, operating
expenses and personnel associated with control and shared
services functions to the businesses for which the respective
services are performed based on service consumption and
financial resource usage.

Corporate Center — Core Functions provides Group-wide
control functions, including finance, risk control (including
compliance) and legal, and shared services functions. The
shared services and other central functions comprise
information technology, operations, human resources,
corporate development, regulatory relations and strategic
initiatives, communications and branding, corporate real
estate and administrative services, procurement, physical
security as well as information security, offshoring and
treasury services such as funding, balance sheet and capital
management.

To further enhance cost discipline and strengthen our
efforts to reduce our underlying cost base, starting in 2014 we
will refine the way that operating costs for internal services
are allocated from Corporate Center — Core Functions to the
business divisions and Corporate Center — Non-core and
Legacy Portfolio. Under this refinement, each year, as part of
the annual business planning cycle, Corporate Center — Core
Functions will agree with the business divisions and Non-core
and Legacy Portfolio cost allocations for services at fixed
amounts or at variable amounts based on formulas,
depending on capital and service consumption levels as well
as the nature of the services to be performed. Corporate
Center — Core Functions will be responsible for any
differences between actual costs and the pre-agreed

amounts.
= Refer to the “Significant accounting and financial reporting changes”
section of this report for more information on this refinement to our
cost allocation approach
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Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio
comprises the non-core businesses and legacy positions
previously part of the Investment Bank, and is overseen by a
committee consisting of the Group Chief Executive Officer,
the Group Chief Financial Officer and the Group Chief Risk
Officer. Its businesses and positions are being managed and
exited over time with the objective of maximizing shareholder
value, in line with our strategic plan.

We established clear priorities for regions, counterparties
and product lines and have developed detailed wind-down
plans with the objective of achieving capital benefits at
optimized cost. Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio works closely with sales managers and bankers in
the Investment Bank as well as with trading market contacts
in attempting to execute the most appropriate strategy for
each situation, and has built strong management information
systems to track the progress of risk-weighted assets (RWA)
and leverage ratio denominator reductions and exit costs.

The wind-down and exit strategies include negotiated
bilateral settlements with specific counterparties, third-party
novations, including transfers to central clearing houses,
agreements to net down trades with other dealer
counterparties and portfolio sales. Significant simplification of
books and trades also contributed to our strong progress, and
dynamic risk management and hedging of positions
effectively mitigated profit and loss volatility in the portfolio.

During 2013, we exercised our option to acquire the SNB
StabFund’s equity, which was part of the Legacy Portfolio.
This resulted in a CHF 2.1 billion increase in our common
equity tier 1 capital as the capital deduction related to the fair
value of the option is no longer applicable. Fully applied RWA
for Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio of CHF
64 billion as of 31 December 2013 were significantly ahead of
our target of CHF 85 bilion by year-end 2013. As of
31 December 2013, a total of 1,585 personnel were
employed within Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio including the SNB StabFund investment
management team, compared with 2,304 as of 31
December 2012.

Structure of Corporate Center — Core Functions

Group Chief Financial Officer

Our Group Chief Financial Officer (Group CFO) is responsible
for ensuring transparency in, and the assessment of, the
financial performance of our Group and business divisions
and for the



Group’s financial reporting, forecasting, planning and
controlling processes. He also provides advice on
financial aspects of strategic projects and transactions.
The Group CFO has management responsibility over
divisional and Group financial control functions. The
Group CFO is responsible for management and control
of the Group’s tax affairs and for treasury and capital
management, including management and control of
funding and liquidity risk and UBS’s regulatory capital
ratios. After consultation with the Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors (BoD), our Group CFO makes
proposals to the BoD regarding the standards for
accounting adopted by UBS and defines the standards
for financial reporting and disclosure. Together with the
Group Chief Executive Officer (Group CEO), the Group
CFO provides external certifications under sections 302
and 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, and, in
coordination with the Group CEO, manages relations
with analysts and investors. Effective January 2014, the
Corporate Development function, previously within the
Group Chief Operating Officer area, is part of the Group
CFO area.

Group Chief Operating Officer

Our Group Chief Operating Officer (Group COOQ)
manages the shared services functions of our Group,
which in 2013 included the management and control of
Group-wide operations, information technology, human
resources, corporate development, Group regulatory
relations and strategic initiatives, communications and
branding, corporate real estate and administrative
services, procurement, physical and information
security, and offshoring. In addition, the Group COO
supports the Group CEO in developing our strategy and
addressing regulatory and strategic issues. Effective
January 2014, the Group COO area consists of Group
Technology, Group Operations, Group Corporate
Services and the Group’s Industrialization program.
Group Human Resources, Communications & Branding
and Group Regulatory Relations & Strategic Initiatives
report directly to the Group CEO. Corporate
Development is integrated in the Group CFO area.
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Group Chief Risk Officer

Our Group Chief Risk Officer (Group CRO) develops
and implements principles and appropriate independent
control frameworks for credit, market, country and
operational risks within the Group. In particular, the
Group CRO formulates and implements the frameworks
for risk capacity and appetite, risk measurement,
portfolio controls and risk reporting, and has
management responsibility over the divisional and
Group risk control functions. He implements the risk
control mechanisms as determined by the BoD, the BoD
Risk Committee or the Group CEO. In addition, the
Group CRO approves transactions, positions,
exposures, portfolio limits and certain provisions in
accordance with the delegated risk control authorities,
and monitors and challenges the firm’s risk-taking
activities. In January 2014, the compliance and
operational risk organizations were brought together to
form a single function focused on the control of our
regulatory, conduct and operational risks across all
business divisions. This integrated unit reports to the
Group CRO. Also effective January 2014, our Group
Security Services function became part of the Group
CRO area.

Group General Counsel

Our Group General Counsel (Group GC) is responsible
for legal matters, policies and processes, and for
managing the legal function of our Group. The Group
GC is responsible for reporting legal risks and material
litigation, and for managing litigation, internal, special
and regulatory investigations. The Group GC assumes
responsibility for legal oversight in respect of the Group’s
key regulatory interactions and for maintaining
relationships with our key regulators with respect to legal
matters. Until the end of 2013, the Group GC was also
responsible for compliance matters and for managing
the compliance organization. Effective January 2014, the
compliance organization is integrated into the Group
CRO area.
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Regulation and supervision

The Swiss Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA) is UBS’s home country regulator and consolidated

supervisor. As a financial services provider with a global footprint, we are also regulated and supervised by the
relevant authorities in each of the jurisdictions in which we conduct business. The following sections summarize the
key regulatory requirements and supervision of our business in Switzerland as well as in the US and the UK, our

next two largest areas of operation.

Regulation and supervision in Switzerland

The Swiss Federal Law on Banks and Savings Banks of 8
November 1934, as amended (Banking Act), and the
related Swiss Federal Ordinance on Banks and Savings
Banks of 17 May 1972, as amended (Banking Ordinance),
provide the legal basis for banking in Switzerland. Based
on the license obtained under this framework, we may
engage in a full range of financial services activities,
including retail banking, commercial banking, investment
banking and asset management in Switzerland. The
Banking Act, Banking Ordinance and the Financial Market
Supervision Act of 22 June 2007, as amended, establish a
framework for supervision by FINMA, empowering it to
issue its own ordinances and circulars, which contribute to
shaping the Swiss legal and regulatory framework for
banks.

In 2010, the Swiss Federal Council and FINMA
incorporated the enhancements to the Basel Capital
Accord issued by the Basel Committee on Banking
Supervision on 13 July 2009 (so-called Basel 2.5) into the
Capital Adequacy Ordinance of 29 September 2006 (and
related circulars). The enhanced capital adequacy rules
became effective on 1 January 2011. In autumn 2011, the
Swiss Parliament amended the legal framework for banks
to address the lessons learned from the financial crisis
and, in particular, the “too-big-to-fail” issue. The amended
sections are applicable to the largest Swiss banks,
including UBS, and contain specific capital requirements
and provisions to ensure that systemically relevant
functions can be maintained in case of insolvency. In
addition, and in line with global requirements, we are
required to produce and update recovery plans and
resolution planning materials aimed at increasing the
firm’s resilience further in the case of a crisis, and provide
FINMA and other regulators with information on how the
firm could be resolved in the event of an unsuccessful
recovery. These new sections entered into force on
1 March 2012. Switzerland implemented the Basel Il
Accord by means of a complete review of the Capital
Adequacy Ordinance and related FINMA rules. In addition,
a number of other amendments have been made to the
Banking Ordinance and the Capital Adequacy Ordinance,

which came into effect on 1 January 2013.
=> Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more
information on capital requirements
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The Federal Act of 10 October 1997 on the Prevention of
Money Laundering in the Financial Sector defines a
common standard for due diligence obligations to prevent
money laundering for the whole financial sector.

The legal basis for the investment funds business in
Switzerland is the Swiss Federal Act on Collective
Investment Schemes (Collective Investment Schemes
Act) of 23 June 2006, which came into force on 1 January
2007. FINMA, as supervisory authority for investment
funds in Switzerland, is responsible for the authorization
and supervision of the institutions and investment funds
subject to its control.

In our capacity as a securities broker and as an issuer
of shares listed in Switzerland, we are governed by the
Federal Act on Stock Exchanges and Securities Trading of
24 March 1995. FINMA is the competent supervisory
authority with respect to securities broking.

FINMA fulfills its statutory supervisory responsibilities
through licensing, regulation, monitoring and enforcement.
Generally, prudential supervision in Switzerland is based
on a division of tasks between FINMA and authorized
audit firms. Under this two-tier supervisory system, FINMA
has responsibility for overall supervision and enforcement
measures while the authorized audit firms carry out official
duties on behalf of FINMA. The responsibilities of external
auditors encompass the audit of financial statements, the
risk-based assessment of banks’ compliance with
prudential requirements and on-site audits.

We are classified as a Swiss systemically relevant bank
(SRB) due to our size, complexity, organization and
business activities, as well as our importance to the
financial system. As a Swiss SRB, we are subject to more
rigorous supervision than most other banks. We are
directly supervised by the FINMA group “Supervision of
UBS,” which is supported by teams specifically monitoring
investment banking activities, risk management and legal
matters as well as solvency and capital aspects. FINMA’s
supervisory tools include meetings with management at
group and divisional level, reporting requirements
encompassing control and business areas, on-site reviews
in Switzerland and abroad, and exchanges with internal
audit and host supervisors in other jurisdictions. In recent
years, FINMA has implemented the recommendations
issued by the Financial Stability Board and the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision, and complemented
the Supervisory College with the



UK Financial Services Authority (FSA) and the Federal
Reserve Bank of New York (FRBNY), established in
1998 to promote supervisory cooperation and
coordination, with a General Supervisory College —
including more than a dozen of UBS host regulatory
agencies — and a Crisis Management College, which is
also attended by representatives from the Swiss
National Bank (SNB) and the Bank of England.

The SNB contributes to the stability of the financial
system through macro-prudential measures and
monetary policy, also providing liquidity to the banking
system. It does not exercise any banking supervision
authority and is not responsible for enforcing banking
legislation, but works together with FINMA in the
following areas: (i) assessment of the soundness of
Swiss SRB, (ii) regulations that have a major impact on
the soundness of banks, including liquidity, capital
adequacy and risk distribution provisions, where they
are of relevance for financial stability and
(iii) contingency planning and crisis management.
FINMA and the SNB exchange information and share
opinions about the soundness of the banking sector and
Swiss SRB, and are authorized to exchange information
and documents that are not publicly accessible if they
require these in order to fulfill their tasks. With regard to
Swiss SRB, the SNB may also carry out its own
enquiries and request information directly from the
banks. In addition, the SNB has been tasked by
Parliament with the designation of Swiss SRB and their
systemically relevant functions in Switzerland. Currently,
UBS, Credit Suisse and, since 1 November 2013,
Zurcher Kantonalbank are required to comply with

specific Swiss SRB rules.
= Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” and “Risk
factors” sections of this report for more information

Regulation and supervision in the US

Our operations in the US are subject to a variety of
regulatory regimes. UBS maintains branches and
representative offices in several states, including
Connecticut, lllinois, New York, California and Florida.
These branches are licensed either by the Office of the
Comptroller of the Currency (OCC) or the state banking
authority of the state in which the branch is located. The
representative offices are licensed by the OCC. Each
US branch and representative office is subject to
regulation and  supervision, including on-site
examination, and to licensing and supervision by the
Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve System
(FRS). We also maintain state- and federally-chartered
trust companies and a Federal Deposit Insurance
Corporation (FDIC)-insured depository institution (IDI)
subsidiary, which are licensed and regulated by state
regulators or the OCC. Only the deposits of our IDI,
headquartered in the state of Utah, are insured by the
FDIC. The regulation of our US branches and
subsidiaries imposes activity and prudential restrictions
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Such circumstances generally include violations of law,
unsafe business practices and insolvency. As long as
we maintain one or more federal branches licensed by
the OCC, the OCC also has the authority to take
possession of all the US operations of UBS under
broadly similar circumstances, as well as in the event
that a judgment against a federally licensed branch
remains unsatisfied. This federal power may pre-empt
the state insolvency regimes that would otherwise be
applicable to our state-licensed branches. As a result, if
the OCC exercised its authority over the US branches of
UBS pursuant to federal law in the event of a UBS
insolvency, all US assets of UBS would generally be
applied first to satisfy creditors of these US branches as
a group, and then made available for application
pursuant to any Swiss insolvency proceeding.

Because we maintain branches in the US, we are
subject to oversight regulation and supervision by the
FRS under various laws (including the International
Banking Act of 1978, the Federal Reserve Act of 1913
and the Bank Holding Company Act of 1956 (BHCA),
each as amended, and related regulations). On 10 April
2000, UBS was designated a “financial holding
company” under the BHCA, as amended by the Gramm-
Leach-Bliley Act of 1999. Financial holding companies
may engage in a broader spectrum of activities than
holding companies of US banks or foreign banking
organizations that are not financial holding companies.
These activities include expanded authority to
underwrite and deal in securities and commodities and
to make merchant banking investments in commercial
and real estate entities. To maintain our financial holding
company status, (i)the Group, our US subsidiary
federally-chartered trust company (Federal Trust
Company) and our IDI are required to meet certain
capital ratios, (ii) our US branches, our Federal Trust
Company, and our IDI are required to maintain certain
examination ratings, and (iii) our IDI is required to
maintain a rating of at least “satisfactory” under the
Community Reinvestment Act of 1977.

A major focus of US governmental policy relating to
financial institutions in recent years has been combating
money laundering and terrorist financing. Regulations
applicable to UBS and our subsidiaries require the
maintenance of effective policies, procedures and
controls to detect, prevent and report money laundering
and terrorist financing, and to verify the identity of our
clients. As a result, failure to maintain and implement
adequate programs to prevent money laundering and
terrorist financing could result in significant legal and
reputational risk.

In the US, UBS Securities LLC and UBS Financial
Services Inc., as well as our other US-registered broker-
dealer subsidiaries, are subject to laws and regulations
that cover all aspects of the securities and futures
business, including: sales and trading practices, use and
safekeeping of clients’ funds and securities, capital



on the business and operations of those branches and
subsidiaries, including limits on extensions of credit to a
single borrower and on transactions with affiliates.

The licensing authority of each state-licensed US
branch of UBS may, in certain circumstances, take
possession of the business and property of UBS located
in the state of the UBS offices it licenses.

requirements, record-keeping, financing of clients’
purchases of securities and other assets, and the
conduct of directors, officers and employees.

These entities are regulated by a number of different
government agencies and self-regulatory organizations,
including the Securities and Exchange Commission
(SEC) and the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority
(FINRA). Each entity is also regulated
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by some or all of the following: the New York Stock
Exchange (NYSE), the Municipal Securities Rulemaking
Board, the US Department of the Treasury, the
Commodities Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) and
other exchanges of which it may be a member, depending
on the specific nature of the respective broker-dealer’s
business. In addition, the US states and territories have
local securities commissions that regulate and monitor
activities in the interest of investor protection. These
regulators have a variety of sanctions available, including
the authority to conduct administrative proceedings that
can result in censure, fines, the issuance of cease-and-
desist orders or the suspension or expulsion of the broker-
dealer or its directors, officers or employees.

FINRA is dedicated to investor protection and market
integrity through effective regulation and complementary
compliance and technology-based services. FINRA covers
a broad spectrum of securities matters, including:
registering and educating industry participants, examining
securities firms, writing rules, enforcing those rules and
the federal securities laws, informing and educating the
investing public, providing trade reporting and other
industry utilities, and administering a dispute resolution
forum for investors and registered firms. It also performs
market regulation under contract for the NASDAQ Stock
Market and the NYSE. The SEC’s mission is to protect
investors, maintain fair, orderly, and efficient markets, and
facilitate capital formation. The SEC oversees the key
participants in the securities world, including securities
exchanges, securities brokers and dealers, investment
advisors, and mutual funds. UBS Gilobal Asset
Management (Americas) Inc., and our other US-registered
investment adviser entities, are subject to regulations that
cover all aspects of the investment advisory business and
are regulated primarily by the SEC. Some of these entities
are also registered as commodity trading advisers (CTA)
and/or commodity pool operators (CPO) and in connection
with their activities as CTA and/or CPO are regulated by
the CFTC. To the extent these entities manage plan
assets of employee benefit plans subject to the Employee
Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, their activities
are subject to regulation by the US Department of Labor.

The Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer
Protection Act of 2010 (Dodd-Frank Act) impacts the
financial services industry by addressing, among other
issues, the following: (i) systemic risk oversight, (ii) bank,
bank holding company, and other systemically important
financial institution (SIFI) capital and prudential standards,
(iii) resolution and liquidation of failing SIFls, (iv) over-the-
counter derivatives, (v) the ability of deposit-taking banks
and their affiliates to engage in proprietary trading
activities and invest in hedge funds and private equity (the
Volcker Rule), (vi)consumer and investor protection,
(vii) hedge fund registration, (viii) securitization,
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(ix) investment advisors, (x) shareholder “say on pay” and
(xi) the role of credit-rating agencies. Many of the
provisions of the Dodd-Frank Act affect the operation of
UBS’s US banking and non-banking entities and have
extraterritorial reach. The details of the legislation and its
impact on UBS’s operations will depend on the final
regulations being adopted by various agencies and

oversight boards.
= Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” and “Risk
factors” sections of this report for more information

Regulation and supervision in the UK

With the UK government having separated responsibility
for prudential regulation and conduct of business
regulation in early 2013, our operations in the UK are
mainly regulated by two bodies: the Prudential Regulation
Authority (PRA), newly established as an affiliated
authority of the Bank of England, and the Financial
Conduct Authority (FCA). The PRA’s main objective
towards the banking sector is to promote the safety and
soundness of UK-regulated financial firms. The FCA is
responsible for securing an appropriate degree of
consumer protection, protecting the integrity of the UK
financial system and promoting effective competition in the
interest of consumers.

The PRA and FCA operate a risk-based approach to
supervision and have a wide variety of supervisory tools
available to them, including regular risk assessments, on-
site inspections (which may relate to an industry-wide
theme or be firm-specific) and the ability to commission
reports by skilled persons (who may be the firm’s auditors,
information technology specialists, lawyers or other
consultants as appropriate). The UK regulators also have
an extremely wide set of sanctions at their disposal, which
may be imposed under the Financial Services and
Markets Act (FSMA).

Some of our subsidiaries and affiliates are also
regulated by the London Stock Exchange and other UK
securities and commaodities exchanges of which they are a
member. We are also subject to the requirements of the
UK Panel on Takeovers and Mergers, where relevant.

Financial services regulation in the UK is conducted in
accordance with EU directives which require, among other
things, compliance with certain capital adequacy
standards, client protection requirements and conduct of
business rules (such as the Markets in Financial
Instruments Directive I). These directives apply throughout
the EU and are reflected in the regulatory regimes of the

various member states.
= Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” and “Risk
factors” sections of this report for more information



Risk factors

Certain risks, including those described below, may
impact our ability to execute our strategy and affect our
business activities, financial condition, results of
operations and prospects. Because the business of a
broad-based international financial services firm such as
UBS is inherently exposed to risks that become
apparent only with the benefit of hindsight, risks of which
we are not presently aware or which we currently do not
consider to be material could also impact our ability to
execute our strategy and affect our business activities,
financial condition, results of operations and prospects.
The sequence in which the risk factors are presented
below is not indicative of their likelihood of occurrence or
the potential magnitude of their consequences.

Regulatory and legislative changes may adversely
affect our business and ability to execute our
strategic plans

Fundamental changes in the laws and regulations
affecting financial institutions can have a material and
adverse effect on our business. In the wake of the 2007—
2009 financial crisis and the following instability in global
financial markets, regulators and legislators have
proposed, have adopted, or are actively considering, a
wide range of changes to these laws and regulations.
These measures are generally designed to address the
perceived causes of the crisis and to limit the systemic
risks posed by major financial institutions. They include
the following:

— significantly higher regulatory capital requirements;

— changes in the definition and calculation of regulatory
capital;

— changes in the calculation of risk-weighted assets
(RWA);

— the introduction of a more demanding leverage ratio;

— new or significantly enhanced liquidity requirements;

— requirements to maintain liquidity and capital in
jurisdictions in which activities are conducted and
booked;

— limitations on principal trading and other activities;

— new licensing, registration and compliance regimes;

— limitations on risk concentrations and maximum levels
of risk;

— taxes and government levies that would effectively
limit balance sheet growth or reduce the profitability of
trading and other activities;

— cross-border market access restrictions;

— a variety of measures constraining, taxing or imposing
additional requirements relating to compensation;

— adoption of new liquidation regimes intended to
prioritize the preservation of systemically significant
functions;

— requirements to adopt structural and other changes
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— requirements to adopt risk governance structures at a
local jurisdiction level.

Many of these measures have been adopted and their
implementation had a material effect on our business.
Others will be implemented over the next several years;
some are subject to legislative action or to further
rulemaking by regulatory authorities before final
implementation. As a result, there remains a high level
of uncertainty regarding a number of the measures
referred to above, including whether (or the form in
which) they will be adopted, the timing and content of
implementing regulations and interpretations and/or the
dates of their effectiveness. The implementation of such
measures and further, more restrictive changes may
materially affect our business and ability to execute our
strategic plans.

Notwithstanding attempts by regulators to coordinate
their efforts, the measures adopted or proposed differ
significantly across the major jurisdictions, making it
increasingly difficult to manage a global institution. The
absence of a coordinated approach, moreover,
disadvantages institutions headquartered in jurisdictions
that impose relatively more stringent standards.
Switzerland has adopted capital and liquidity
requirements for its major international banks that are
the strictest among the major financial centers. This
could disadvantage Swiss banks such as UBS when
they compete with peer financial institutions subject to
more lenient regulation or with unregulated non-bank
competitors.

Regulatory and legislative changes in Switzerland

In September 2011, the Swiss Parliament adopted the
“too-big-to-fail” (TBTF) law to address the issues posed
by large banks. The law became effective on 1 March
2012. Accordingly, Swiss regulatory changes have
generally proceeded more quickly than those in other
major jurisdictions, and the Swiss Financial Market
Supervisory Authority (FINMA), the Swiss National Bank
(SNB) and the Swiss Federal Council are implementing
requirements that are significantly more onerous and
restrictive for major Swiss banks, such as UBS, than
those adopted or proposed by regulatory authorities in
other major global financial centers.

Capital regulation: The provisions of the revised
banking ordinance and capital adequacy ordinance
implementing the Basel Il capital standards and the
Swiss TBTF law became effective on 1 January 2013.
As a systemically relevant Swiss bank, we are subject to
base capital requirements, as well as a “progressive
buffer” that scales with our total exposure (a metric that
is based on our balance sheet size) and market share in
Switzerland. In addition, the Swiss governmental



designed to reduce systemic risk and to make major authorities have the authority to impose an additional

financial institutions easier to manage, restructure, countercyclical buffer capital requirement of up to 2.5%
disassemble or liquidate, including ring-fencing certain of RWA. This authority has been exercised to impose an
activities and operations within separate legal entities; additional capital charge of 1% in respect of RWA
and arising
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from Swiss residential mortgage loans (increasing to 2%
effective from the end of June 2014). In addition, UBS
and FINMA have mutually agreed to an incremental
operational capital requirement to be held against
litigation, regulatory and similar matters and other
contingent liabilities, which added CHF 22.5 billion to our
RWA at 31 December 2013. There can be no assurance
that we will not in the future be subject to increases in
capital requirements either from the imposition of
additional requirements or changes in the calculation of
RWA or other components of the existing minimum
capital requirement.

Liquidity and funding: We are required to maintain a
Liquidity Coverage Ratio (LCR) of high-quality liquid
assets to estimated stressed short-term funding outflows
and will be required to maintain a Net Stable Funding
Ratio (NSFR) intended to ensure that we are not overly
reliant on short-term funding and that we have sufficient
long-term funding for illiquid assets. We currently
calculate these ratios under supervisory guidance from
FINMA, as neither the international nor Swiss standards
for the calculation of these requirements have been fully
implemented. These requirements, together with liquidity
requirements imposed by other jurisdictions in which we
operate, will likely require us to maintain substantially
higher levels of overall liquidity. Increased capital
requirements and higher liquidity requirements make
certain lines of business less attractive and may reduce
our overall ability to generate profits. The LCR and
NSFR calculations make assumptions about the relative
likelihood and amount of outflows of funding and
available sources of additional funding in a market or
firm-specific stress situation. There can be no assurance
that in an actual stress situation our funding outflows
would not exceed the assumed amounts.

Resolution planning and resolvability: The revised
banking act and capital adequacy ordinances provide
FINMA with additional powers to intervene to prevent a
failure or resolve a failing financial institution. These
measures may be triggered when certain thresholds are
breached and permit the exercise of considerable
discretion by FINMA in determining whether, when or in
what manner to exercise such powers. In case of a
threatened insolvency, FINMA may impose more
onerous requirements on us, including restrictions on the
payment of dividends and interest. Although the actions
that FINMA may take in such circumstances are not yet
defined, we could be required directly or indirectly, for
example, to alter our legal structure (e.g., to separate
lines of business into dedicated entities, with limitations
on intra-group funding and certain guarantees), or to
further reduce business risk levels in some manner. The
banking act also provides FINMA with the ability to
extinguish or convert to common equity the liabilities of a
bank in connection with its resolution.

Swiss TBTF requirements require systemically
important banks, including UBS, to put in place viable

risk beyond what is legally required. Such actions would
likely include an alteration of the legal structure of a
bank group in a manner that would insulate parts of the
group to exposure from risks arising from other parts of
the group thereby making it easier to dispose of certain
parts of the group in a recovery scenario, to liquidate or
dispose of certain parts of the group in a resolution
scenario or to execute a debt bail-in. In view of these
factors, we intend to establish a new banking subsidiary
of UBS AG in Switzerland. The scope of this potential
future subsidiary’s business is still being determined, but
we would currently expect it to include our Retail &
Corporate business division and likely the Swiss-booked
business within our Wealth Management business
division. We expect to implement this change in a
phased approach starting in mid-2015. This structural
change is being discussed on an ongoing basis with
FINMA, and remains subject to a number of
uncertainties that may affect its feasibility, scope or
timing. We may consider further changes to the legal
structure of the Group in response to regulatory
requirements in Switzerland or in other countries in
which we operate, including to improve the resolvability
of the UBS Group, to respond to Swiss and other capital
requirements (including seeking potential reduction in
the progressive buffer requirement as applied to us) and
to respond to regulatory required changes in legal
structure. Movement of businesses to a new subsidiary
(“subsidiarization”) will require significant time and
resources to implement.  “Subsidiarization” in
Switzerland and elsewhere may create operational,
capital, funding and tax inefficiencies and increase our
and counterparties’ credit risk. Refer to “Regulatory and
legislative changes outside Switzerland” for a description
of other regulatory and legislative developments that
may affect these decisions and further discussion of
these risks.

In September 2013, the Swiss National Council
approved two motions for the mandatory structural
reform of banks in Switzerland that would, if also
adopted by the Council of States, result in the
submission to Parliament of a law requiring the
separation of certain investment banking activities from
systemically relevant activities, such as retail and
commercial banking. No date has been set for the
debate. It is unclear whether, when and in what form
such a law will be adopted.

Market regulation: The Swiss government is working
on fundamentally reviewing the rules on market
infrastructure and on the relationship between us and
our clients. These laws may, if enacted, have a material
impact on the market infrastructure that we use,
available platforms, collateral management and the way
we interact with clients. In addition, these initiatives may
cause us to incur material implementation costs.

Regulatory and legislative changes outside Switzerland



emergency plans to preserve the operation of
systemically important functions despite a failure of the
institution, to the extent that such activities are not
sufficiently separated in advance. The Swiss TBTF law
provides for the possibility of a limited reduction of
capital requirements for systemically important
institutions that adopt measures to reduce resolvability
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Regulatory and legislative changes in other locations in
which we operate may subject us to a wide range of new
restrictions both in individual jurisdictions and, in some
cases, globally.

Banking structure and activity limitations: Some of
these regulatory and legislative changes may subject us
to requirements to move activities from UBS AG
branches into subsidiaries. Such “subsidiarization” can
create operational, capital and tax inefficiencies,



increase our aggregate credit exposure to counterparties
as they transact with multiple UBS AG affiliates, expose
our businesses to higher local capital requirements, and
potentially give rise to client and counterparty concerns
about the credit quality of individual subsidiaries. Such
changes could also negatively impact our funding model
and severely limit our booking flexibility.

For example, we have significant operations in the UK
and currently use UBS AG’s London branch as a global
booking center for many types of products. We are being
required by the UK Prudential Regulatory Authority and
by FINMA to increase very substantially the
capitalization of our UK bank subsidiary, UBS Limited,
and expect to be required to change our booking
practices to reduce or even eliminate our utilization of
UBS AG London branch as a global booking center for
the ongoing business of the Investment Bank. In
addition, the UK Independent Commission on Banking
has recommended structural and non-structural reforms
of the banking sector, most of which have been
endorsed by the UK government and implemented in the
Financial Services (Banking Reform) Act. Key measures
proposed include the ring-fencing of retail banking
activities in the UK (which we do not expect to impact us
directly), additional common equity tier 1 capital
requirements of up to 3% of RWA for retail banks, and
the issuance by UK banks of debt subject to “bail-in”
provisions. Furthermore, the European Commission’s
recent proposals in light of the Liikanen report also
advocate a Volcker-style prohibition on proprietary
trading together with a separation of trading from
banking activities. The applicability and implications of
such changes to branches and subsidiaries of foreign
banks are not yet entirely clear, but they could have a
material effect on our businesses located or booked in
the UK.

In February 2014, the Federal Reserve Board issued
final rules for foreign banking organizations (FBO)
operating in the US (under section 165 of the Dodd-
Frank Act) that include the following: (i) a requirement
for FBO with more than USD 50 billion of US non-branch
assets to establish an intermediate holding company
(IHC) to hold all US subsidiary operations, (ii) risk-based
capital and leverage requirements for the IHC,
(iii) liquidity requirements, including a 30-day onshore
liquidity requirement for the IHC, (iv) risk management
requirements including the establishment of a risk
committee and the appointment of a US chief risk officer,
(v) stress test and capital planning requirements and
(vi) a debt-to-equity limit for institutions that pose “a
grave threat” to US financial stability. Requirements
differ based on the overall size of the foreign banking
organization and the amount of its US-based assets. We
expect that we will be subject to the most stringent
requirements based on our current operations. We will
have until 1 July 2016 to establish an IHC and meet
many of the new requirements. We must submit an
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in proprietary trading and from owning interests in hedge
funds and other private fund vehicles. The Volcker Rule
also broadly limits investments and other transactional
activities between a bank and funds that the bank has
sponsored or with which the bank has certain other
relationships. The Volcker Rule permits us and other
non-US banking entities to engage in certain activities
that would otherwise be prohibited to the extent that they
are conducted solely outside the US and certain other
conditions are met. One impact will be the need to
establish an extensive global compliance framework
designed to ensure compliance with the Volcker Rule
and the terms of the available exemptions. Moreover,
the Volcker Rule could have an impact on the way in
which we organize and conduct certain business lines.
We continue to evaluate the final rule and its impact on
our activities. The Volcker Rule could have a substantial
impact on market liquidity and the economics of market-
making activities.

OTC derivatives regulation: In 2009, the G20
countries committed to require all standardized over-the-
counter (OTC) derivative contracts to be traded on
exchanges or trading facilities and cleared through
central counterparties by the end of 2012. This
commitment is being implemented through the Dodd-
Frank Act in the US and corresponding legislation in the
European Union, Switzerland and other jurisdictions,
and will have a significant impact on our OTC derivatives
business, which is conducted primarily in the Investment
Bank. For example, we expect that, as a rule, the shift of
OTC derivatives trading to a central clearing model will
tend to reduce profit margins in these products, although
some market participants may be able to offset this
effect with higher trading volumes in commoditized
products. Although we are preparing for these thematic
market changes, they are likely to reduce the revenue
potential of certain lines of business for market
participants generally, and we may be adversely
affected.

UBS AG registered as a swap dealer with the
Commodity Futures Trading Commission (CFTC) in the
US at the end of 2012, enabling the continuation of
swaps business with US persons. We also expect that
UBS AG will be required to register as a securities-
based swap dealer with the US Securities and Exchange
Commission. Regulations issued by the CFTC impose
substantial new requirements on registered swap
dealers for clearing, trade execution, transaction
reporting, recordkeeping, risk management and
business conduct. Certain of the CFTC’s regulations,
including those relating to swap data reporting,
recordkeeping, compliance and supervision, are
expected to apply to UBS AG globally. In July 2013, the
CFTC approved final cross-border guidance that defines
the extraterritorial application of its swaps regulations.
This guidance may allow non-US swap dealers, such as
UBS AG, to operate on the basis of “substituted



implementation plan by 1 January 2015 and the IHC
will not need to comply with the US leverage ratio until
1 January 2018.

us regulators  published  final regulations
implementing the Volcker Rule in December 2013 and
generally extended until 2015 the time to conform to this
rule and the related regulations. In general, the Volcker
Rule prohibits any banking entity from engaging

compliance,” under which they may comply with home
country requirements instead of the corresponding
CFTC requirements if the CFTC determines the home
country requirements to be “comprehensive and
comparable.” In December 2013, the CFTC issued
comparability determinations for Switzerland (as well as
the home countries of certain other non-US swap
dealers) that will allow us to comply with relevant Swiss
regulations instead of CFTC requirements for many, but
not
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all, of the CFTC regulations for which substituted
compliance is available. While the CFTC deferred a
comparability determination on swap data reporting
requirements as we continue to review the issue, it
granted reporting no-action relief that allows UBS AG
(and other non-US swap dealers) to delay reporting
transactions with non-US persons for several months.
The CFTC’s regulations will apply to swaps between
non-US persons and non-US swap dealers when US
personnel are involved, but in January 2014, the CFTC
delayed the applicability of US regulations in this context
until 15 September 2014, giving additional time for
foreign swap dealers to comply with US requirements
regarding transactions with non-US persons conducted
from the US. Application of these requirements to our
swaps business with non-US persons continues to
present a substantial implementation burden, will likely
duplicate or conflict with legal requirements applicable to
us outside of the US and may place us at a competitive
disadvantage to firms that are not CFTC-registered
swap dealers.

Regulation of cross-border provision of financial
services: In many instances, we provide services on a
cross-border basis and are therefore sensitive to barriers
restricting market access for third-country firms. In
particular, efforts in the European Union (EU) to
harmonize the regime for third-country firms to access
the European market may have the effect of creating
new barriers that adversely affect our ability to conduct
business in these jurisdictions from Switzerland. In
addition, a number of jurisdictions are increasingly
regulating cross-border activities on the basis of some
notion of comity (e.g., substituted compliance,
equivalence determination). While the issuance of such
determinations in particular jurisdictions may ensure
market access for us to those jurisdictions, a negative
determination in other jurisdictions may negatively
influence our ability to act as a global firm. In addition, as
jurisdictions tend to apply such determinations on a
jurisdictional level rather than on an entity level, we will
generally need to rely on jurisdictions’ willingness to
collaborate.

Resolution and recovery; bail-in

We are currently required to produce recovery and
resolution plans in the US, UK, Switzerland and
Germany and are likely to face similar requirements for
our operations in other jurisdictions, including our
operations in the EU as a whole, as part of the proposed
EU Bank Recovery and Resolution Directive. Resolution
plans may increase the pressure on us to make
structural changes, such as the creation of separate
legal entities, if the resolution plan in any jurisdiction
identifies impediments that are not acceptable to the
relevant regulators. Such structural changes may
negatively impact our ability to benefit from synergies
between business units, and if they include the creation

requirements that regulated firms maintain specified
amounts of unsecured debt that could increase loss-
absorbing capacity. The scope of bail-in authority and
the legal mechanisms that would be utilized for the
purpose are subject to a great deal of development and
interpretation. Depending upon the outcome, bail-in
authority may have a significant effect on our funding
costs.

Possible consequences of regulatory and legislative
developments

The planned and potential regulatory and legislative
developments in Switzerland and in other jurisdictions in
which we have operations may have a material adverse
effect on our ability to execute our strategic plans, on the
profitability or viability of certain business lines globally
or in particular locations, and in some cases on our
ability to compete with other financial institutions. They
are likely to be costly to implement and could also have
a negative impact on our legal structure or business
model, potentially generating capital inefficiencies and
resulting in an impact on our profitability. Finally, the
uncertainty related to or the implementation of legislative
and regulatory changes may have a negative impact on
our relationships with clients and our success in
attracting client business.

Our capital strength is important in supporting our
strategy, client franchise and competitive position

Our capital position, as measured by the fully applied
common equity tier 1 and total capital ratios under Basel
Il requirements, is determined by: (i) RWA (credit, non-
counterparty related, market and operational risk
positions, measured and risk-weighted according to
regulatory criteria); and (ii) eligible capital. Both RWA
and eligible capital may fluctuate based on a number of
factors. RWA are driven by our business activities and
by changes in the risk profile of our exposures, as well
as regulatory requirements. For instance, substantial
market volatility, a widening of credit spreads (the major
driver of our value-at-risk), adverse currency
movements, increased counterparty risk, a deterioration
in the economic environment, or increased operational
risk could result in a rise in RWA. Eligible capital would
be reduced if we experience net losses or losses
through other comprehensive income, as determined for
the purpose of the regulatory capital calculation, which
may also render it more difficult or more costly for us to
raise new capital. In addition, eligible capital can be
reduced for a number of other reasons, including certain
reductions in the ratings of securitization exposures,
acquisitions and divestments changing the level of
goodwill, adverse currency movements affecting the
value of equity, prudential adjustments that may be
required due to the valuation uncertainty associated with
certain types of positions, and changes in the value of



of separate legal entities, may have the other negative
consequences mentioned above with respect to
“subsidiarization” more generally.

In addition, a number of jurisdictions, including
Switzerland, the US, the UK and the EU, have
implemented or are considering implementing changes
that would allow resolution authorities to write down or
convert into equity unsecured debt to effectuate a so-
called “bail-in.” Some jurisdictions are also considering
adopting
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certain pension fund assets and liabilities recognized in
other comprehensive income. Any such increase in
RWA or reduction in eligible capital could materially
reduce our capital ratios.

Risks captured in the operational risk component of
RWA have become increasingly significant as a
component of our overall



RWA as a result of significant reductions in market and
credit risk RWA, as we execute our strategy, and
increased operational risk charges arising from
operational risk events (including charges arising from
litigation, regulatory and similar matters). We have
agreed with FINMA on a supplemental analysis that will
be used to calculate an incremental operational risk
capital charge to be held for litigation, regulatory and
similar matters and other contingent liabilities. The
incremental RWA calculated based on this supplemental
analysis as of 31 December 2013 was CHF 22.5 billion.
Future developments in and the ultimate elimination of
the incremental RWA attributable to the supplemental
analysis will depend on provisions charged to earnings
for litigation, regulatory and similar matters and other
contingent liabilities and on developments in these
matters. There can be no assurance that we will be
successful in addressing these matters and reducing or
eliminating the incremental operational risk RWA.

The required levels and calculation of our regulatory
capital and the calculation of our RWA are also subject
to changes in regulatory requirements or their
interpretation, as well as the exercise of regulatory
discretion. Changes in the calculation of RWA under
Basel Ill and Swiss requirements (such as the revised
treatment of certain securitization exposures under the
Basel Il framework) have significantly increased the
level of our RWA and, therefore, have adversely affected
our capital ratios. We have achieved substantial
reductions in RWA, in part to mitigate the effects of
increased capital requirements. However, there is a risk
that we will not be successful in pursuing our plans to
further reduce RWA, either because we are unable to
carry out fully the actions we have planned or because
other business or regulatory developments or actions to
some degree counteract the benefit of our actions.

In addition to the risk-based capital requirements, we
are subject to a minimum leverage ratio requirement for
Swiss systemically relevant banks. The leverage ratio
operates separately from the risk-based capital
requirements, and, accordingly, under certain
circumstances could constrain our business activities
even if we are able to satisfy other risk-based capital
requirements. We have achieved substantial reductions
in our balance sheet size and anticipate further
reductions as we wind down our Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio positions. These reductions would improve our
leverage ratio and contribute to our ability to comply with
the more stringent leverage ratio requirements
scheduled to become effective in future years. There
can be no assurance that these plans will be executed
successfully. There is also a risk that the minimum
leverage ratio requirement will be increased significantly
beyond the levels currently scheduled to come into
effect, making it more difficult for us to satisfy the
requirements without adversely affecting certain of our
businesses.

Operating environment and strategy

We may not be successful in completing our
announced strategic plans or in implementing
changes in our businesses to meet changing
market, regulatory and other conditions

In  October 2012, we announced a significant
acceleration in the implementation of our strategy. The
strategy included transforming our Investment Bank to
focus it on its traditional strengths, very significantly
reducing Basel Il RWA and further strengthening our
capital position, and significantly reducing costs and
improving efficiency across the Group. We have made
significant progress in implementing the strategy and as
of the end of 2013 are ahead of the majority of our
performance targets. There continues to be a risk that
we will not be successful in completing the execution of
our plans, or that our plans may be delayed or that the
effects of our plans may differ from those intended.

Although we have substantially reduced the RWA and
balance sheet usage associated with our Non-core and
Legacy Portfolio positions, there can be no assurance
that we will be able to exit them as quickly as our plans
suggest or that we will not incur significant losses in
doing so. The continued illiquidity and complexity of
many of the legacy risk positions in particular could
make it difficult to sell or otherwise exit these positions
and reduce the RWA and the balance sheet usage
associated with these exposures. At the same time, our
strategy rests heavily on our ability to reduce those RWA
and balance sheet usage in order to meet our future
capital targets and requirements without incurring
unacceptable losses.

As part of our strategy, we have underway a program
to achieve significant incremental cost reductions. The
success of our strategy and our ability to reach certain of
the targets we have announced depends heavily on the
effectiveness of the cost reduction and efficiency
measures we are able to carry out. As is often the case
with major cost reduction and efficiency programs, our
plans involve significant risks. Included among these are
the risks that restructuring costs may be higher and may
be recognized sooner than we have projected and that
we may not be able to identify feasible cost reduction
opportunities at the level of our objective that are also
consistent with our business goals. In addition, when we
implement our cost reduction and efficiency programs
we may experience unintended consequences such as
the loss or degradation of capabilities that we need in
order to maintain our competitive position and achieve
our targeted returns.

We are exposed to possible outflows of client assets
in our asset-gathering businesses and to changes
affecting the profitability of our Wealth Management
business division, and we may not be successful in
implementing the business changes needed to address
them. We experienced substantial net outflows of client
assets in our wealth management and asset



Changes in the Swiss requirements for risk-based
capital or leverage ratios, whether pertaining to the
minimum levels required for large Swiss banks or to the
calculation thereof, could have a material adverse effect
on our business and could affect our competitive
position internationally compared with institutions that
are regulated under different regimes.

management businesses in 2008 and 2009. The net
outflows resulted from a number of different factors,
including our substantial losses, the damage to our
reputation, the loss of client advisors, difficulty in
recruiting qualified client advisors and tax, legal and
regulatory developments concerning our cross-border
private banking business.
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Many of these factors have been successfully
addressed. Our Wealth Management and Wealth
Management Americas business divisions recorded
substantial net new money inflows in 2013. Long-term
changes affecting the cross-border private banking
business model will, however, continue to affect client
flows in the Wealth Management business division for
an extended period of time. One of the important drivers
behind the longer-term reduction in the amount of cross-
border private banking assets, particularly in Europe but
increasingly also in other regions, is the heightened
focus of fiscal authorities on cross-border investments.
Changes in local tax laws or regulations and their
enforcement may affect the ability or the willingness of
our clients to do business with us or the viability of our
strategies and business model. In 2012 and 2013, we
experienced net withdrawals in our Swiss booking center
from clients domiciled elsewhere in Europe, in many
cases related to the negotiation of tax treaties between
Switzerland and other countries, including the treaty with
Germany that was ultimately not ratified by Germany.

The net new money inflows in recent years in our
Wealth Management business division have come
predominantly from clients in Asia Pacific and in the ultra
high net worth segment globally. Over time, inflows from
these lower-margin segments and markets have been
replacing outflows from higher-margin segments and
markets, in particular cross-border European clients.
This dynamic, combined with changes in client product
preferences as a result of which low-margin products
account for a larger share of our revenues than in the
past, put downward pressure on our return on invested
assets and adversely affect the profitability of our Wealth
Management business division. We have implemented
changes in our product offerings and service
improvements, and will continue our efforts to adjust to
client trends and market dynamics as necessary, in an
effort to overcome the effects of these changes in the
business mix on our profitability, but there can be no
assurance that we will be able to counteract those
effects. In addition, we have made changes to our
business offerings and pricing practices in line with the
Swiss Supreme Court case concerning “retrocessions”
and other industry developments. These changes may
adversely affect our margins on these products and the
current offering may be less attractive to clients than the
products it replaces. There can be no assurance that we
will be successful in our efforts to offset the adverse
impact of these trends and developments.

Global Asset Management experienced net outflows
of client assets in 2012 and 2013. Further net outflows of
client assets could adversely affect the results of this
business division.

Material legal and regulatory risks arise in the
conduct of our business

in jurisdictions where we are active. These proceedings
expose us to substantial monetary damages and legal
defense costs, injunctive relief and criminal and civil
penalties, in addition to potential regulatory restrictions
on our businesses. The outcome of most of these
matters, and their potential effect on our future business
or financial results, is extremely difficult to predict.

We are subject to a large number of claims, disputes,
legal proceedings and government investigations and
expect that our ongoing business activities will continue
to give rise to such matters in the future. The extent of
our financial exposure to these and other matters could
be material and could substantially exceed the level of
provisions that we have established for litigation,
regulatory and similar matters.

In December 2012, we announced settlements
totaling approximately CHF 1.4 billion in fines by and
disgorgements to US, UK and Swiss authorities to
resolve investigations by those authorities relating to
LIBOR and other benchmark interest rates. UBS AG
entered into a non-prosecution agreement with the US
Department of Justice and UBS Securities Japan Co.
Ltd. also pled guilty to one count of wire fraud relating to
the manipulation of certain benchmark interest rates.
The settlements do not resolve investigations by other
authorities or civil claims that have been or may in the
future be asserted by private and governmental
claimants with respect to submissions for LIBOR or
other benchmark interest rates. The extent of our
financial exposure to these remaining matters is
extremely difficult to estimate and could be material.

These settlements starkly illustrate the much-
increased level of financial and reputational risk now
associated with regulatory matters in major jurisdictions.
Very large fines and disgorgement amounts were
assessed against UBS, and the guilty plea of a UBS
subsidiary was required, in spite of our full cooperation
with the authorities in the investigations relating to
LIBOR and other benchmark interest rates, and in spite
of our receipt of conditional leniency or conditional
immunity from antitrust authorities in a number of
jurisdictions, including the US and Switzerland. We
understand that, in determining the consequences to us,
the authorities considered the fact that we have in the
recent past been determined to have engaged in serious
misconduct in several other matters. The heightened risk
level was further llustrated by the European
Commission (EC) announcement in December 2013 of
fines against other financial institutions related to its Yen
Interest Rate Derivatives (YIRD) investigation. The EC
stated that UBS would have been subject to fines of
approximately EUR 2.5 billion had UBS not received full
immunity for disclosing to the EC the existence of
infringements relating to YIRD.

Under the non-prosecution agreement we entered into
in connection with the LIBOR matter, we have agreed,
among other things, that, for two years from



The nature of our business subjects us to significant
regulatory oversight and liability risk. As a global
financial services firm operating in more than 50
countries, we are subject to many different legal, tax and
regulatory regimes. We are involved in a variety of
claims, disputes, legal proceedings and government
investigations
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18 December 2012 UBS will not commit any US
crime, and we will advise the Department of Justice of all
potentially criminal conduct by UBS or any of its
employees relating to violations of US laws concerning
fraud or securities and commodities markets. UBS is
also obligated to continue to cooperate fully with the
Department of Justice. Failure to comply



with these obligations could result in termination of the
non-prosecution agreement and potential criminal
prosecution in relation to the matters covered by the
non-prosecution agreement. As a result of this history
and our ongoing obligations under the non-prosecution
agreement, our level of risk with respect to regulatory
enforcement may be greater than that of some of our
peer institutions.

Considering our overall exposures and the current
regulatory and political climate affecting financial
institutions, we expect charges associated with legal,
regulatory and similar matters to remain at elevated
levels through 2014.

Ever since our losses in 2007 and 2008, we have
been subject to a very high level of regulatory scrutiny
and to certain regulatory measures that constrain our
strategic flexibility. While we believe that we have
remediated the deficiencies that led to the material
losses during the 2007-2009 financial crisis, the
unauthorized trading incident announced in September
2011 and the LIBOR-related settlements of 2012, the
effects of these matters on our reputation and
relationships with regulatory authorities have proven to
be more difficult to overcome. For example, following the
unauthorized trading incident FINMA informed us that
we would not be permitted to undertake acquisitions in
our Investment Bank unit (unless FINMA granted an
exception), and that material new business initiatives in
that unit would be subject to FINMA oversight. We are
determined to address the issues that have arisen in the
above and other matters in a thorough and constructive
manner. We are in active dialogue with our regulators
concerning the actions that we are taking to improve our
operational risk management and control framework, but
there can be no assurance that our efforts will have the
effects desired. Although the special restrictions
mentioned above have recently been withdrawn by
FINMA, this example illustrates that difficulties
associated with our relationships with regulatory
authorities have the potential to adversely affect the

execution of our business strategy.
= Refer to “Note 22 Provisions and contingent liabilities” in the
“Financial information” section of this report for more
information on litigation, regulatory and similar matters

Operational risks may affect our business

All of our businesses are dependent on our ability to
process a large number of complex transactions across
multiple and diverse markets in different currencies, to
comply with requirements of many different legal and
regulatory regimes to which we are subject and to
prevent, or promptly detect and stop, unauthorized,
fictitious or fraudulent transactions. Our operational risk
management and control systems and processes are
designed to help ensure that the risks associated with
our activities, including those arising from process error,
failed execution, unauthorized trading, fraud, system
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with the organizations’ internet websites, to more
sophisticated crimes that target the organizations, as
well as their clients, and seek to gain unauthorized
access to technology systems in efforts to disrupt
business, steal money or obtain sensitive information.

A major focus of US governmental policy relating to
financial institutions in recent years has been fighting
money laundering and terrorist financing. Regulations
applicable to us and our subsidiaries impose obligations
to maintain effective policies, procedures and controls to
detect, prevent and report money laundering and
terrorist financing, and to verify the identity of their
clients. Failure to maintain and implement adequate
programs to combat money laundering and terrorist
financing could have serious consequences, both in
legal terms and in terms of our reputation.

Although we are continuously adapting our capability
to detect and respond to the risks described above, if
our internal controls fail or prove ineffective in identifying
and remedying them we could suffer operational failures
that might result in material losses, such as the loss from
the wunauthorized trading incident announced in
September 2011.

Participation in high-volume and high-frequency
trading activities, even in the execution of client-driven
business, can also expose us to operational risks. Our
loss in 2012 relating to the Facebook initial public
offering illustrates the exposure participants in these
activities have to unexpected results arising not only
from their own systems and processes but also from the
behavior of exchanges, clearing systems and other third
parties and from the performance of third-party systems.

Certain types of operational control weaknesses and
failures could also adversely affect our ability to prepare
and publish accurate and timely financial reports. We
identified control deficiencies following the unauthorized
trading incident announced in September 2011, and
management determined that we had a material
weakness in our internal control over financial reporting
as of the end of 2010 and 2011, although this has not
affected the reliability of our financial statements for
either year.

In addition, despite the contingency plans we have in
place, our ability to conduct business may be adversely
affected by a disruption in the infrastructure that
supports our businesses and the communities in which
we are located. This may include a disruption due to
natural disasters, pandemics, civil unrest, war or
terrorism and involve electrical, communications,
transportation or other services used by us or third
parties with whom we conduct business.

Our reputation is critical to the success of our
business

Our reputation is critical to the success of our strategic
plans. Damage to our reputation can have fundamental



failures, cyber-attacks, breaches of information security
and failure of security and physical protection, are
appropriately controlled.

For example, cyber-crime is a fast growing threat to
large organizations that rely on technology to support
their business, like us. Cyber-crime can range from
internet-based attacks that interfere

negative effects on our business and prospects.
Reputational damage is difficult to reverse, and
improvements tend to be slow and difficult to measure.
This was demonstrated in recent years, as our very
large losses during the financial crisis, the US cross-
border matter and other events seriously damaged our
reputation. Reputational damage
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was an important factor in our loss of clients and client
assets across our asset-gathering businesses, and
contributed to our loss of and difficulty in attracting staff,
in 2008 and 2009. These developments had short-term
and also more lasting adverse effects on our financial
performance, and we recognized that restoring our
reputation would be essential to maintaining our
relationships with clients, investors, regulators and the
general public, as well as with our employees. More
recently, the unauthorized trading incident announced in
September 2011 and our involvement in the LIBOR
matter also adversely affected our reputation. Any
further reputational damage could have a material
adverse effect on our operational results and financial
condition and on our ability to achieve our strategic
goals and financial targets.

Performance in the financial services industry is
affected by market conditions and the
macroeconomic climate

The financial services industry prospers in conditions of
economic growth; stable geopolitical conditions;
transparent, liquid and buoyant capital markets and
positive investor sentiment. An economic downturn,
continued low interest rates or weak or stagnant
economic growth in our core markets, or a severe
financial crisis can negatively affect our revenues and
ultimately our capital base.

A market downturn and weak macroeconomic
conditions can be precipitated by a number of factors,
including geopolitical events, changes in monetary or
fiscal policy, trade imbalances, natural disasters,
pandemics, civil unrest, war or terrorism. Because
financial markets are global and highly interconnected,
even local and regional events can have widespread
impacts well beyond the countries in which they occur. A
crisis could develop, regionally or globally, as a result of
disruptions in emerging markets as well as developed
markets that are susceptible to macroeconomic and
political developments, or as a result of the failure of a
major market participant. We have material exposures to
a number of these markets, both as a wealth manager
and as an investment bank. Moreover, our strategic
plans depend more heavily upon our ability to generate
growth and revenue in emerging markets, causing us to
be more exposed to the risks associated with them. The
continued absence of sustained and credible
improvements to unresolved issues in Europe, continued
US fiscal and monetary policy issues, emerging markets
fragility and the mixed outlook for global growth
demonstrate that macroeconomic and political
developments can have unpredictable and destabilizing
effects. Adverse developments of these kinds have
affected our businesses in a number of ways, and may
continue to have further adverse effects on our
businesses as follows:

— the ongoing low interest rate environment will further
erode interest margins in several of our businesses;

— reduced market liquidity or volatility limits trading and
arbitrage opportunities and impedes our ability to
manage risks, impacting both trading income and
performance-based fees;

— deteriorating market conditions could cause a decline
in the value of assets that we own and account for as
investments or trading positions;

— worsening economic conditions and adverse market
developments could lead to impairments and defaults
on credit exposures and on trading and investment
positions, and losses may be exacerbated by declines
in the value of collateral we hold; and

— if individual countries impose restrictions on cross-
border payments or other exchange or capital
controls, or change their currency (for example, if one
or more countries should leave the euro), we could
suffer losses from enforced default by counterparties,
be unable to access our own assets, or be impeded in
— or prevented from — managing our risks.

Because we have very substantial exposures to other
major financial institutions, the failure of one or more of
such institutions could have a material effect on us.

The developments mentioned above have in the past
affected and could materially affect the performance of
our business units and of UBS as a whole, and
ultimately our financial condition. As discussed below,
there is also a somewhat related risk that the carrying
value of goodwill of a business unit might suffer
impairments and deferred tax assets levels may need to
be adjusted.

We hold legacy and other risk positions that may be
adversely affected by conditions in the financial
markets; legacy risk positions may be difficult to
liquidate

We, like other financial market participants, were
severely affected by the financial crisis that began in
2007. The deterioration of financial markets since the
beginning of the crisis was extremely severe by
historical standards, and we recorded substantial losses
on fixed income trading positions, particularly in 2008
and 2009. Although we have very significantly reduced
our risk exposures starting in 2008, and more recently
as we progress our strategy and focus on complying
with Basel Ill capital standards, we continue to hold
substantial legacy risk positions, primarily in our Non-
core and Legacy Portfolio. In many cases these risk
positions remain illiquid, and we continue to be exposed
to the risk that the remaining positions may again
deteriorate in value. In the fourth quarter of 2008 and the
first quarter of 2009, certain of these positions were
reclassified for accounting purposes from fair value to
amortized cost; these assets are subject to possible



— a general reduction in business activity and market impairment due to changes in market interest rates and

volumes, as we have recently experienced, affects other factors.
fees, commissions and margins; local or regional Moreover, we hold positions related to real estate in
economic factors, such as the ongoing European various countries, and could suffer losses on these
sovereign debt concerns, could also have an effect on positions. These positions include a very substantial
us; Swiss mortgage portfolio. Although management
— a market downturn is likely to reduce the volume and believes that this portfolio has been very prudently
valuations of assets we manage on behalf of clients, managed, we could nevertheless be exposed to losses if
reducing our asset- and performance-based fees; the concerns
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expressed by the Swiss National Bank and others about
unsustainable price escalation in the Swiss real estate
market come to fruition. Other macroeconomic
developments, such as the implications on export
markets of any return of crisis conditions within the
eurozone and the potential implications of the recent
decision in Switzerland to reinstate immigration quotas
for EU/EEA countries, could also adversely affect the
Swiss economy, our business in Switzerland in general
and, in particular, our Swiss mortgage and corporate
loan portfolios.

In addition, we are exposed to risk in our prime
brokerage, reverse repo and Lombard lending activities,
as the value or liquidity of the assets against which we
provide financing may decline rapidly.

Our global presence subjects us to risk from
currency fluctuations

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in
Swiss francs. However, a substantial portion of our
assets, liabilities, invested assets, revenues and
expenses are denominated in other currencies,
particularly the US dollar, the euro and the British pound.
Accordingly, changes in foreign exchange rates,
particularly between the Swiss franc and the US dollar
(US dollar revenues account for the largest portion of
our non-Swiss franc revenues) have an effect on our
reported income and expenses, and on other reported
figures such as other comprehensive income, invested
assets, balance sheet assets, RWA and tier 1 capital.
For example, in 2011 the strengthening of the Swiss
franc, especially against the US dollar and euro, had an
adverse effect on our revenues and invested assets.
Because exchange rates are subject to constant
change, sometimes for completely unpredictable
reasons, our results are subject to risks associated with
changes in the relative values of currencies.

We are dependent upon our risk management and
control processes to avoid or limit potential losses
in our counterparty credit and trading businesses

Controlled risk-taking is a major part of the business of a
financial services firm. Credit risk is an integral part of
many of our retail, corporate, wealth management and
Investment Bank activities, and our non-core activities
transferred to Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio, including lending, underwriting and derivatives
activities. Changes in interest rates, credit spreads,
securities’ prices, market volatility and liquidity, foreign
exchange levels and other market fluctuations can
adversely affect our earnings. Some losses from risk-
taking activities are inevitable, but to be successful over
time, we must balance the risks we take against the
returns we generate. We must, therefore, diligently
identify, assess, manage and control our risks, not only
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market events that are not anticipated by our risk
measures and systems. Value-at-risk, a statistical
measure for market risk, is derived from historical
market data, and thus by definition could not have
anticipated the losses suffered in the stressed conditions
of the financial crisis. Moreover, stress loss and
concentration controls and the dimensions in which we
aggregate risk to identify potentially highly correlated
exposures proved to be inadequate. Notwithstanding the
steps we have taken to strengthen our risk management
and control framework, we could suffer further losses in
the future if, for example:

— we do not fully identify the risks in our portfolio, in
particular risk concentrations and correlated risks;

— our assessment of the risks identified or our response
to negative trends proves to be untimely, inadequate,
insufficient or incorrect;

— markets move in ways that we do not expect — in
terms of their speed, direction, severity or correlation —
and our ability to manage risks in the resultant
environment is, therefore, affected;

— third parties to whom we have credit exposure or
whose securities we hold for our own account are
severely affected by events not anticipated by our
models, and accordingly we suffer defaults and
impairments beyond the level implied by our risk
assessment; or

— collateral or other security provided by our
counterparties proves inadequate to cover their
obligations at the time of their default.

We also manage risk on behalf of our clients in our
asset and wealth management businesses. The
performance of assets we hold for our clients in these
activities could be harmed by the same factors. If clients
suffer losses or the performance of their assets held with
us is not in line with relevant benchmarks against which
clients assess investment performance, we may suffer
reduced fee income and a decline in assets under
management, or withdrawal of mandates.

If we decide to support a fund or another investment
that we sponsor in our asset or wealth management
businesses, it might, depending on the facts and
circumstances, incur charges that could increase to
material levels.

Investment positions, such as equity holdings made
as a part of strategic initiatives and seed investments
made at the inception of funds that we manage, may
also be affected by market risk factors. These
investments are often not liquid and generally are
intended or required to be held beyond a normal trading
horizon. They are subject to a distinct control framework.
Deteriorations in the fair value of these positions would

have a negative impact on our earnings.
= Refer to the “Risk management and control” section of this
report for more information



in normal market conditions but also as they might
develop under more extreme (stressed) conditions,
when concentrations of exposures can lead to severe
losses.

As seen during the financial crisis of 2007-2009, we
are not always able to prevent serious losses arising
from extreme or sudden
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Valuations of certain positions rely on models;
models have inherent limitations and may use
inputs which have no observable source

If available, fair values of a financial instrument or non-
financial asset or liability are determined using quoted
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Where the market is not active, fair value is established
using a valuation technique, including pricing models.
Where available, valuation techniques use market
observable assumptions and inputs. If such information
is not available, inputs may be derived by reference to
similar instruments in active markets, from recent prices
for comparable transactions or from other observable
market data. If market observable data is not available,
we select non-market observable inputs to be used in
our valuation techniques. We also use internally
developed models. Such models have inherent
limitations; different assumptions and inputs would
generate different results, and these differences could
have a significant impact on our financial results. We
regularly review and update our valuation models to
incorporate all factors that market participants would
consider in setting a price, including factoring in current
market conditions. Judgment is an important component
of this process, and failure to make the changes
necessary to reflect evolving market conditions could
have a material adverse effect on our financial results.
Moreover, evolving market practice may result in
changes to valuation techniques that have a material
impact on financial results. Changes in model inputs or
calibration, changes in the valuation methodology
incorporated in models, or failure to make the changes
necessary to reflect evolving market conditions could
have a material adverse effect on our financial results.

Liquidity and funding management are critical to our
ongoing performance

The viability of our business depends upon the
availability of funding sources, and our success depends
upon our ability to obtain funding at times, in amounts,
for tenors and at rates that enable us to efficiently
support our asset base in all market conditions. A
substantial part of our liquidity and funding requirements
is met using short-term unsecured funding sources,
including retail and wholesale deposits and the regular
issuance of money market securities. The volume of our
funding sources has generally been stable, but could
change in the future due to, among other things, general
market disruptions or widening credit spreads, which
could also influence the cost of funding. A change in the
availability of short-term funding could occur quickly.
Reductions in our credit ratings can increase our
funding costs, in particular with regard to funding from
wholesale unsecured sources, and can affect the
availability of certain kinds of funding. In addition, as we

strength and reputation, also contribute to maintaining
client and counterparty confidence and it is possible that
ratings changes could influence the performance of
some of our businesses.

More stringent Basel Il capital and liquidity
requirements will likely lead to increased competition for
both secured funding and deposits as a stable source of
funding, and to higher funding costs. The addition of
loss-absorbing debt as a component of capital
requirements and potential future requirements to
maintain senior unsecured debt that could be written
down in an insolvency or other resolution of UBS, or a
subsidiary, may increase our funding costs or limit the
availability of funding of the types required.

We might be unable to identify or capture revenue or
competitive opportunities, or retain and attract
qualified employees

The financial services industry is characterized by
intense competition, continuous innovation, detailed
(and sometimes fragmented) regulation and ongoing
consolidation. We face competition at the level of local
markets and individual business lines, and from global
financial institutions that are comparable to us in their
size and breadth. Barriers to entry in individual markets
and pricing levels are being eroded by new technology.
We expect these trends to continue and competition to
increase. Our competitive strength and market position
could be eroded if we are unable to identify market
trends and developments, do not respond to them by
devising and implementing adequate business
strategies, adequately developing or updating our
technology, particularly in trading businesses, or are
unable to attract or retain the qualified people needed to
carry them out.

The amount and structure of our employee
compensation are affected not only by our business
results but also by competitive factors and regulatory
considerations. Constraints on the amount or structure
of employee compensation, higher levels of deferral,
performance conditions and other circumstances
triggering the forfeiture of unvested awards may
adversely affect our ability to retain and attract key
employees, and may in turn negatively affect our
business performance. We have made changes to the
terms of compensation awards to reflect the demands of
various stakeholders, including regulatory authorities
and shareholders. These terms include the introduction
of a deferred contingent capital plan with many of the
features of the loss-absorbing capital that we have
issued in the market but with a higher capital ratio write-
down trigger, increased average deferral periods for
stock awards, and expanded forfeiture provisions for
certain awards linked to business performance. These
changes, while intended to better align the interests of
our staff with those of other stakeholders, increase the



experienced in connection with Moody’s downgrading
of our long-term rating in June 2012, ratings downgrades
can require us to post additional collateral or make
additional cash payments under master trading
agreements relating to our derivatives businesses. Our
credit ratings, together with our capital
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risk that key employees will be attracted by
competitors and decide to leave us, and that we may be
less successful than our competitors in attracting
qualified employees. The loss of key staff and inability to
attract qualified replacements, depending upon which
and how many roles are affected, could seriously
compromise our ability to execute our strategy and to
successfully improve our operating and control
environment.



In a referendum in March 2013, the Swiss cantons
and voters accepted an initiative to give shareholders of
Swiss listed companies more influence over board and
management compensation (the Minder Initiative). In
November 2013, the Swiss Federal Council issued the
final  transitional ordinance  implementing the
constitutional amendments resulting from this initiative,
which came into force on 1January 2014. The
ordinance requires public companies to specify in their
articles of association (AoA) a mechanism to permit a
“say-on-pay” vote, setting out three requirements: (i) the
vote on compensation must be held annually, (ii) the
vote on compensation must be binding rather than
advisory and (iii) the vote on compensation must be held
separately for the board of directors and members of the
executive board. In addition, shareholders will need to
determine the details of the “say-on-pay” vote in the
AOA, in particular the nature of the vote, timing aspects
and the consequences of a “no” vote. Each company
affected by the Minder Initiative must undertake a first
binding vote on management compensation and
remuneration of the board of directors at its 2015 annual
general meeting.

The EU has adopted legislation that caps the amount
of variable compensation in proportion to the amount of
fixed compensation for employees of a bank active
within the EU. This legislation will apply to employees of
UBS in the EU. These and other similar initiatives may
require us to make further changes to our compensation

structure and may increase the risks described above.
=> Refer to the “Corporate governance, responsibility and
compensation” section of this report for more information on
our compensation awards and programs

Our financial results may be negatively affected by
changes to accounting standards

We report our results and financial position in
accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board (IASB). Changes to IFRS
or interpretations thereof may cause our future reported
results and financial position to differ from current
expectations. Such changes may also affect our
regulatory capital and ratios. We monitor potential
accounting changes and when these are finalized by the
IASB, we determine the potential impact and disclose
significant future changes in our financial statements.
Currently, there are a number of issued but not yet
effective IFRS changes, as well as potential IFRS
changes, some of which could be expected to impact
our reported results, financial position and regulatory

capital in the future.
= Refer to the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information on changes in accounting requirements

Our financial results may be negatively affected by
changes to assumptions supporting the value of our

Operating environment and strategy

Our impairment test in respect of the assets recognized
as of 31 December 2013 indicated that the value of our
goodwill is not impaired. The impairment test is based
on assumptions regarding estimated earnings, discount
rates and long-term growth rates impacting the
recoverable amount of each segment and on estimates
of the carrying amounts of the segments to which the
goodwill relates. If the estimated earnings and other
assumptions in future periods deviate from the current
outlook, the value of our goodwill may become impaired
in the future, giving rise to losses in the income
statement. In the third quarter of 2012, for example, the
recognition by the Investment Bank of a full impairment
of goodwill and of an impairment of other non-financial
assets resulted in a charge of almost CHF 3.1 billion
against our operating profit before tax.

The effect of taxes on our financial results is
significantly influenced by reassessments of our
deferred tax assets

The deferred tax assets we have recognized on our
balance sheet as of 31 December 2013 in respect of
prior years’ tax losses reflect the probable recoverable
level based on future taxable profit as informed by our
business plans. If the business plan earnings and
assumptions in future periods substantially deviate from
current forecasts, the amount of recognized deferred tax
assets may need to be adjusted in the future. These
adjustments may include write-downs of deferred tax
assets through the income statement.

Our effective tax rate is highly sensitive both to our
performance and to the accuracy of new business plan
forecasts. Our results in recent periods have
demonstrated that changes in the recognition of deferred
tax assets can have a very significant effect on our
reported results. If the Group’s performance is expected
to improve, particularly in the US, UK or Switzerland, we
could potentially recognize additional deferred tax assets
as a result of that assessment. The effect of doing so
would be to significantly reduce the Group’s effective tax
rate in years in which additional deferred tax assets are
recognized. Conversely, if our performance in those
countries is expected to produce diminished taxable
profit in future years, we may be required to write down
all or a portion of the currently recognized deferred tax
assets through the income statement. This would have
the effect of increasing the Group’s effective tax rate in
the year in which any write-downs are taken.

In 2014, notwithstanding the effects of any potential
reassessment of the level of deferred tax assets, we
expect our effective tax rate to be in the range of 20% to
25%. Consistent with past practice, we expect to revalue
our overall level of deferred tax assets in the second half
of 2014 based on a reassessment of future profitability
taking into account updated business plan forecasts.
The full year effective tax rate could change significantly



goodwill on the basis of this reassessment. It could also
change if aggregate tax expenses for locations other

The goodwill we have recognized on the respective than Switzerland, the US and UK differ from what is
balance sheets of our operating segments is tested for expected. Our effective tax rate is also sensitive to any
impairment at least annually. future reductions in statutory tax rates, particularly in the

US and Switzerland. Reductions in the statutory tax rate
would cause the expected future tax benefit from items
such as tax loss carry-forwards in the affected locations
to
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diminish in value. This in turn would cause a write-down
of the associated deferred tax assets.

In addition, statutory and regulatory changes, as well
as changes to the way in which courts and tax
authorities interpret tax laws could cause the amount of
taxes ultimately paid by us to materially differ from the
amount accrued.

This is a potential risk particularly as we consider
reorganizations of our legal entity structures in the US,
UK and Switzerland in response to regulatory changes.
The tax authorities in these countries may prevent the
transfer of tax losses incurred in one legal entity to newly
organized or reorganized subsidiaries or affiliates that
are expected to carry on businesses formerly conducted
by the transferor. Were this to occur in situations where
there were also limited planning opportunities to utilize
the tax losses in the originating entity, the deferred tax
assets associated
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with such tax losses could be written down through the
income statement.

In 2011, the UK government introduced a balance
sheet based levy payable by banks operating or resident
in the UK. A net charge of CHF 124 million was
recognized in operating expenses (within operating profit
before tax) in 2013. The Group’s bank levy expense for
future years will depend on both the rate of the levy and
the Group’s taxable UK liabilities at each year-end;
changes to either factor could increase the cost. This
expense will likely increase if, for example, we change
our booking practices so as to book more liabilities into
our UK bank subsidiary, UBS Limited. We expect that
the annual bank levy charge will continue to be
recognized for IFRS purposes as an expense arising in
the final quarter of each financial year, rather than being
accrued throughout the vyear, as it is charged by
reference to the year-end balance sheet position.






Financial and operating performance
Critical accounting policies

Critical accounting policies

Basis of preparation and selection of policies

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards
Board (IASB). The application of these accounting standards
requires the use of judgment, based upon estimates and
assumptions that may involve significant uncertainty at the
time they are made. Such judgments, including the underlying
estimates and assumptions, which reflect historical
experience, expectations of the future and other factors, or
some combination thereof, are regularly evaluated to
determine their continuing relevance under the circumstances.
Using different assumptions could cause the reported results
to differ. Changes in assumptions may have a significant
impact on the financial statements in the periods when
changes occur.

We believe that the assumptions we have made are
appropriate under the circumstances, and that our financial
statements therefore present fairly the financial position,
financial performance and cash flows, in all material respects.
Alternative outcomes and sensitivity analyses discussed or
referred to in this section are included solely to assist the
reader in understanding the uncertainty inherent in the
estimates and assumptions used in our financial statements.
They are not intended to suggest that other estimates and
assumptions would be more appropriate.

This section discusses accounting policies that are deemed
critical to our financial position, financial performance and
cash flows, because they are material in terms of the items to
which they apply, and they involve significant assumptions
and estimates. A broader and more detailed description of our
significant accounting policies is included in “Note 1 Summary
of significant accounting policies” in the “Financial information”
section of this report.

Consolidation of structured entities

We sponsor the formation of structured entities (SE) and
interact with non-sponsored SE for a variety of reasons,
including allowing clients to obtain or be exposed to particular
risk profiles, to provide funding or to sell or purchase credit
risk. An SE is an entity that has been designed so that voting
or similar rights are not the dominant factor in deciding who
controls the entity. Such entities generally have a narrow and
well-defined objective and include those historically referred to
as special purpose entities and some investment funds. In
accordance with IFRS, we do not consolidate SE that we do
not control.

With effect from 1 January 2013, UBS adopted IFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements. IFRS 10 provides a
cohesive consolidation framework that applies to all types of
entities, both SE and non-SE. That framework is based on the
principle that an entity
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should consolidate all other entities that it controls, with control
being defined as a function of three elements: power over the
relevant activities of the entity, exposure to variable returns
and an investor’s ability to use its power to affect its returns.
UBS consolidates an entity when all three elements of control
are present. Where UBS has an interest in an SE that absorbs
variability, we consider whether UBS has power over the SE
which allows it to affect the variability of its returns.
Consideration is given to all facts and circumstances to
determine whether the Group has power over the SE, that is,
the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the SE
when decisions about those activities need to be made.
Determining whether we have power to direct the relevant
activities requires a significant degree of judgment in light of
all facts and circumstances. In making that determination, we
consider a range of factors, including the purpose and design
of the SE, any rights held through contractual arrangements
such as call rights, put rights or liquidation rights, as well as
potential decision-making rights. Where the Group has power
over the relevant activities, a further assessment is made to
determine whether, through that power, it has the ability to
affect its own returns, that is, assessing whether power is held
in a principal or agent capacity. Consideration is given to the
overall relationship between UBS, the SE and other parties
involved in the SE. In particular, we assess the following:
(i) the scope of decision-making authority, (ii) rights held by
other parties, including removal or other participating rights
and (iii) exposure to variability, including remuneration, relative
to the total variability of the SE, as well as whether UBS’s
exposure is different from that of other investors. Appropriate
weightings are applied to each of these factors on the basis of
the particular facts and circumstances. If, after review of these
factors, UBS concludes that it can exercise its power to affect

its own returns, the SE is consolidated.
=> Refer to “Note 1a) 3) Subsidiaries and structured entities” and “Note
30 Interests in subsidiaries and other entities” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information

Fair value of financial instruments

UBS accounts for a significant portion of its assets and
liabilities at fair value. Under IFRS, the relative degree of
uncertainty associated with the measurement of fair value is
reflected by use of a three-level valuation hierarchy. The best
evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded
market (Level 1). In the event that the market for a financial
instrument is not active, or where quoted prices are not
otherwise available, a valuation technique is used. In these
cases, fair value is estimated using observable data in respect
of similar financial instruments as well as financial models.
Level 2 of the hierarchy pertains to instruments for which



inputs to a valuation technique are principally based on
observable market data. Level 3 applies to instruments
that are measured by a valuation technique that
incorporates one or more significant unobservable
inputs. Valuation techniques that rely to a greater extent
on unobservable inputs require a higher level of
judgment to calculate a fair value than those based
wholly on observable inputs. Substantially all of UBS’s
financial assets and financial liabilities are based on
observable prices and inputs and hence are classified in
Levels 1 and 2 of the hierarchy.

Where valuation techniques, including models, are
used to determine fair values, they are periodically
reviewed and validated by qualified personnel
independent of those who sourced them. Models are
calibrated to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and
comparable market prices. Also, models prioritize the
use of observable inputs, when available, over
unobservable inputs. Judgment is required in selecting
appropriate  models as well as inputs for which
observable data is less readily or not available.

The valuation techniques employed may not fully
reflect all the factors relevant to the positions we hold.
Valuations are therefore adjusted, where appropriate, to
allow for additional factors, including model risk, liquidity
risk and credit risk. We use different approaches to
calculate the credit risk, depending on the nature of the
instrument. A credit-valuation-adjustment approach
based on an expected exposure profile is used to adjust
the fair value of derivative instruments to reflect
counterparty credit risk. Correspondingly, a debit-
valuation-adjustment approach is applied to incorporate
UBS’s own credit risk, where applicable, in the fair value
of derivative instruments. Own credit risk for financial
liabilities designated at fair value is calculated using the
funds transfer price curve.

As of 31December 2013, financial assets and
financial liabilities for which valuation techniques are
used and whose significant inputs are considered
observable (Level 2) amounted to CHF 289 billion and
CHF 310 billion, respectively, (68% and 88% of total
financial assets measured at fair value and total financial
liabilities measured at fair value, respectively). Financial
assets and financial liabilities whose valuations include
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) amounted to
CHF 15 billion and CHF 17 billion, respectively, (4% and
5% of total financial assets measured at fair value and
total financial liabilities measured at fair value,
respectively). These amounts reflect the effect of
offsetting, wherever such presentation is required under
IFRS.

Uncertainty inherent to estimating unobservable
market inputs can affect the amount of gain or loss
recorded for a particular position. While the Group
believes its valuation techniques are appropriate and
consistent with those of other market participants, the
use of different techniques or assumptions to determine
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techniques, the critical estimates and adjustments
applied to reflect uncertainties within the fair value
measurement process, and its governance over the fair
value measurement process can be found in “Note 24
Fair value measurement” in the “Financial information”

section of this report.
= Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information

Allowances for credit losses on loans and
receivables measured at amortized cost

Allowances for credit losses represent management’s
best estimate of credit losses incurred in the lending
portfolio at the balance sheet date due to credit
deterioration of the issuer or counterparty. The loan
portfolio, which is measured at amortized cost less
impairment, consists of financial assets presented on the
balance sheet lines, Due from banks and Loans,
including reclassified securities. In addition, irrevocable
loan commitments are tested for impairment as
described below.

Credit loss expense is recognized if there is objective
evidence that the Group will be unable to collect all
amounts due (or the equivalent thereof) on a claim
based on the original contractual terms due to credit
deterioration of the issuer or counterparty. Allowances
for credit losses are evaluated at both a counterparty-
specific level and collectively. Under this incurred loss
model, a financial asset or group of financial assets is
impaired if there is objective evidence that a credit loss
has occurred by the balance sheet date. Judgment is
used in making assumptions when calculating
impairment losses both on a counterparty-specific level
and collectively.

The impairment loss for a loan is the excess of the
carrying value of the financial asset over the estimated
recoverable amount. The estimated recoverable amount
is the present value, using the loan’s original effective
interest rate, of expected future cash flows, including
amounts that may result from restructuring or the
liquidation of collateral. If a loan has a variable interest
rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment
loss is the current effective interest rate. An allowance
for credit losses is reported as a reduction of the
carrying value of the financial asset on the balance
sheet.

Our collective allowances for credit losses are
calculated for our portfolios with similar credit risk
characteristics, taking into account historical loss
experience and current conditions. The methodology
and assumptions used are reviewed regularly to reduce
any differences between estimated and actual loss
experience. For all of our portfolios, we also assess
whether there have been any unforeseen developments
which might result in impairments but which are not
immediately observable. To determine whether an
event-driven collective allowance for credit losses is



the fair value of certain financial instruments could
result in a different estimate of fair value at the reporting
date. As of 31 December 2013, the total favorable and
unfavorable effects of changing one or more of the
unobservable inputs to reflect reasonably possible
alternative assumptions for financial instruments
classified as Level 3 were CHF 1.2 billion and CHF 1.1
billion, respectively. Further discussion of the Group’s
use of valuation

required, we consider global economic drivers to
assess the most vulnerable countries and industries.
Our current event-based collective allowance for credit
losses methodology considers the heightened credit risk
arising from corporate clients in industries exposed to
the recessionary effects in certain countries, combined
with the strength of the Swiss franc.
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Estimated cash flows associated with financial assets
reclassified from Held for trading to Loans and
receivables, as described in “Note 1a) 10) Loans and
receivables” in the “Financial information” section of this
report, and other similar assets acquired subsequently
are revised periodically. Adverse revisions in cash flow
estimates related to credit events are recognized in profit
or loss as credit loss expenses. For reclassified
securities, increases in estimated future cash receipts
(above those originally forecast at the date of
reclassification) as a result of increased recoverability
are recognized as an adjustment to the effective interest
rate on the loan from the date of change.

As of 31 December 2013, the gross loan portfolio was
CHF 288 billion and the related allowances for credit
losses amounted to CHF 0.7 billion, consisting of
specific and collective allowances of CHF 669 million
and CHF 20 million, respectively.

= Refer to “Note 1a) 11) Allowances and provisions for credit
losses,” “Note 10 Due from banks and loans (held at amortized
cost),” “Note 12 Allowances and provisions for credit losses”
and “Note 27a Measurement categories of financial assets and
liabilities” in the “Financial information” section of this report
for more information

= Refer to “Policies for past due, non-performing and impaired
claims” in the “Risk management and control” section of this
report for more information.

Goodwill impairment test

UBS performs an impairment test annually on its
goodwill assets, or when indicators of impairment exist.
Our segments are each considered cash-generating
units. The impairment test is performed for each
segment to which goodwill is allocated and compares
the recoverable amount, based on its value-in-use, to
the carrying amount of the respective segment. An
impairment charge is recognized if the carrying amount
exceeds the recoverable amount. The impairment test is
based on the assumptions described below.

The recoverable amounts are determined using a
discounted cash flow model, which incorporates inputs
relevant to the banking business and its regulatory
environment. The recoverable amount of a segment is
the sum of the discounted earnings attributable to
shareholders from the first five forecasted years and the
terminal value. The terminal value, reflecting all periods
beyond the fifth year, is calculated on the basis of the
forecast of fifth-year profit, the discount rate and the
long-term growth rate and is adjusted for the effect of the
capital assumed to be needed to support the perpetual
growth implied by the long-term growth rate.

The carrying amount for each segment is determined
by reference to the Group’s equity attribution framework.
Within this framework, which is described in the “Capital
management” section of this report, the Board of
Directors (BoD) attributes equity to the businesses after
considering their risk exposure, risk-weighted assets and
leverage denominator usage, goodwill and intangible

are linked to external market information, where
applicable. The model used to determine the
recoverable amount is most sensitive to changes in the
forecast earnings available to shareholders in years one
to five, to changes in the discount rates, and to changes
in the long-term growth rate. The applied long-term
growth rate is based on long-term economic growth
rates for different regions worldwide. Earnings available
to shareholders are estimated based on forecast results,
which are part of the business plan approved by the
BoD. The discount rates are determined by applying a
capital-asset-pricing-model-based approach, as well as
considering quantitative and qualitative inputs from both
internal and external analysts and the view of
management.

Key assumptions used to determine the recoverable
amounts of each segment are tested for sensitivity by
applying a reasonably possible change to those
assumptions, as follows: forecast earnings available to
shareholders were changed by 10%, the discount rates
were changed by 1% and the long-term growth rates
were changed by 0.5%. Under all scenarios, the
recoverable amounts for each segment exceeded the
respective carrying amount, such that the reasonably
possible changes in key assumptions would not result in
impairment as of 31 December 2013.

If the estimated earnings and other assumptions in
future periods deviate from the current outlook, the value
of our goodwill may become impaired in the future,
giving rise to losses in the income statement.
Recognition of any impairment of goodwill would reduce
IFRS equity attributable to UBS shareholders and net
profit. It would not impact cash flows and, as goodwill is
required to be deducted from capital under the Basel
capital framework, no impact would be expected on the
Group total capital ratios.

As of 31 December 2013, total goodwill recognized on
the balance sheet was CHF 5.8 billion, of which CHF 1.3
billion, CHF 3.1 billion and CHF 1.4 billion was carried
by Wealth Management, Wealth Management Americas
and Global Asset Management, respectively. On the
basis of the impairment testing methodology described
above, UBS concluded that the year-end 2013 balances

of goodwill allocated to its segments remain recoverable.
= Refer to “Note 1a) 21) Goodwill and intangible assets”, “Note 2
Segment reporting” and “Note 17 Goodwill and intangible
assets” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information

Deferred taxes

Deferred tax assets arise from a variety of sources, the
most significant being the following: (i) tax losses that
can be carried forward to be utilized against profits in
future years and (ii) expenses recognized in our income
statement that are not deductible until the associated
cash flows occur.

We record a valuation allowance to reduce our



assets. The framework is used primarily for purposes
of measuring the performance of the businesses and
includes certain management assumptions. Attributed
equity equates to the capital that a segment requires to
conduct its business and is considered an appropriate
starting point from which to determine the carrying value
of the segments. The attributed equity methodology is
aligned with the business planning process, the inputs
from which are used in calculating the recoverable
amounts of the respective cash-generating units.

Valuation parameters used within the Group’s
impairment test model
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deferred tax assets to the amount which can be
recognized in line with IAS 12 Income Taxes. The level
of deferred tax asset recognition is influenced by
management's assessment of our future profitability
based on relevant business plan forecasts. Existing
assessments are reviewed and, if necessary, revised to
reflect changed circumstances. This review is conducted
annually, in the second half of



each year, but adjustments may be made at other times,
if required. In a situation where recent losses have been
incurred, IAS 12 requires convincing evidence that there
will be sufficient future profitability.

Swiss tax losses can be carried forward for seven
years, US federal tax losses for 20 years and UK and
Jersey tax losses for an unlimited period. The deferred
tax assets recognized as of 31 December 2013 have
been based on future profitability assumptions, adjusted
to take into account the recognition criteria of IAS 12.
The level of deferred tax assets recognized may,
however, need to be adjusted in the future in the event
of changes in those profitability assumptions. As of
31 December 2013, the deferred tax assets amounted to
CHF 8.8 billion, which included CHF 6.3 billion in respect
of tax losses (mainly in Switzerland and the US) that can

be utilized to offset taxable income in future years.
= Refer to “Note 1a) 22) Income taxes” and “Note 8 Income taxes”
in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information

Provisions

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount,
and are recognized when UBS has a present obligation
as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of resources will be required to settle the obligation and
a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can be
made. Provisions are recognized for the best estimate of
the consideration required to settle the present
obligation at the balance sheet date.

Recognition of provisions often involves significant
judgment in assessing the existence of an obligation
resulting from past events and in estimating the
probability, timing and amount of any outflows of
resources. This is particularly the case with litigation,
regulatory and similar matters which, because of their
nature, are subject to many uncertainties, making their
outcome difficult to predict. Such matters may involve
unique fact patterns or novel legal theories, proceedings
which have not yet been initiated or are at early stages
of adjudication, or as to which alleged damages have
not been quantified by the claimants. Determining
whether an obligation exists as a result of a past event
and estimating the probability, timing and amount of any
potential outflows is based on a variety of assumptions,
variables, and known and unknown uncertainties. The
amount of any provision recognized can be very
sensitive to the assumptions used and there could be a
wide range of possible outcomes for any particular
matter. Statistical or other quantitative analytical tools
are of limited use in determining whether to establish or
determine the amount of provisions in the case of
litigation, regulatory or similar matters. Furthermore,
information currently available to management may be
incomplete or inaccurate increasing the risk of erroneous
assumptions with regards to the future developments of
such matters. Management regularly reviews all the
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whether such matters represent contingent liabilities.
Legal advice is a significant consideration in determining
whether it is more likely than not that an obligation exists
as a result of a past event and in assessing the
probability, timing and amount of any potential outflows.
As of 31 December 2013, total provisions amounted to
CHF 2,971 million, of which CHF 1,622 million pertained
to the litigation, regulatory and similar matters class.
Since the future outflow of resources in respect of these
matters cannot be determined with certainty based on
currently available information, the actual outflows may
ultimately prove to be substantially greater (or less) than

the provisions recognized.
- Refer to “Note 1a) 27) Provisions” and “Note 22 Provisions and
contingent liabilities” in the “Financial information” section of
this report for more information

Pension and other post-employment benefit plans

During 2012, UBS adopted revisions to IAS 19
Employee Benefits (“IAS 19R”) issued by the IASB in
June 2011. IAS 19R eliminated the “corridor method,”
under which the recognition of actuarial gains and losses
was deferred. Instead, the full defined benefit obligation,
net of plan assets, is now recorded on the balance
sheet, with changes resulting from remeasurements
recognized immediately in other comprehensive income.
The net defined benefit liability at the end of the year
and the related personnel expense depend on the
expected future benefits to be provided, determined
using a number of economic and demographic
assumptions. The most significant assumptions include
life expectancy, the discount rate, expected salary
increases, pension rates, and in addition, for the Swiss
plan, interest credits on retirement savings account
balances.

Life expectancy is determined by reference to
published mortality tables. The discount rate is
determined by reference to the rates of return on high-
quality fixed-income investments of appropriate currency
and term at the measurement date. The assumption for
salary increases reflects the long-term expectations for
salary growth and takes into account inflation, seniority,
promotion and other relevant factors such as supply and
demand in the labor market. For a sensitivity analysis of
the defined benefit obligation to these significant
actuarial assumptions, refer to “Note 28 Pension and
other post-employment benefit plans” in the “Financial
information” section of this report.

The most significant plan is the Swiss pension plan.
Consistent with 2012, life expectancy for this plan has
been based on the 2010 BVG generational mortality
tables. The assumption for the discount rate has
changed from 1.9% in the prior year to 2.3% in the
current year, as a result of higher market yields on

corporate bonds.
2 Refer to “Note 1a) 24) Pension and other post-employment
benefit plans” and “Note 28 Pension and other
post-employment benefit plans” in the “Financial information”



available information regarding such matters,
including advice from legal advisors, to assess whether
the recognition criteria for provisions have been satisfied
for those matters and, if not, to evaluate

section of this report for more information
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Equity compensation

We recognize shares, performance shares, options and
share-settled stock appreciation rights awarded to
employees as compensation expense based on their fair
value at grant date. The fair value of UBS shares issued
to employees is determined by reference to quoted
market prices, adjusted, when relevant, to take into
account the terms and conditions inherent in the award.
Options, stock appreciation rights, and certain
performance shares issued by UBS to its employees
have features which are not directly comparable with our
shares and options traded in active markets.
Accordingly, we determine the fair value using suitable
valuation models. Several recognized valuation models
exist. The models we apply have been selected because
they are able to accommodate
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the specific features included in the various instruments
granted to our employees. If we were to use different
models, the values produced would differ, even if the
same inputs were used.

The models we use require inputs such as expected
dividends, share price volatility and historical employee
exercise behavior patterns. Some of the model inputs
we use are not market observable and have to be
estimated or derived from available data. Use of different
estimates would produce different valuations, which in
turn would result in recognition of higher or lower

compensation expense.
= Refer to “Note 1a) 25) Equity participation and other
compensation plans” and “Note 29 Equity participation and
other compensation plans” in the “Financial information”
section of this report for more information
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Significant accounting and financial reporting changes

Significant accounting changes

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

On 1January 2013, UBS adopted revised IFRS 7
Financial  Instruments: Disclosures, requiring the
disclosure of new information in respect of an entity’s use
of enforceable netting arrangements. The amendments to
IFRS 7 are intended to enable users of financial
statements to better evaluate the effect or potential effect
of netting arrangements on the entity’s financial position.
The amendments require entities to disclose both gross
and net amounts of recognized financial assets and
financial liabilities associated with master netting
agreements and similar arrangements, including the
effects of financial collateral, whether or not presented net
on the face of the balance sheet. The resultant disclosures
are reflected in “Note 26 Offsetting financial assets and
financial liabilities” of our consolidated financial
statements.

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements

On 1 January 2013, UBS adopted IFRS 10 Consolidated
Financial Statements, which introduced a new definition of
control for determining when one entity should consolidate
another. Upon adoption of IFRS 10, the Group has
changed the consolidation status of certain entities,
including entities issuing preferred securities which are no
longer consolidated by the Group. As a result of
deconsolidating the preferred securities entities, UBS now
recognizes the preferred notes issued to these entities
instead of the preferred securities which were previously
presented as equity attributable to non-controlling
interests. Except for one preferred note issuance of CHF
1.2 billion, which is classified as a liability, UBS presents
the preferred notes as equity attributable to preferred
noteholders. As of 31 December 2012, the Group’s equity
attributable to non-controlling interests decreased by CHF
4.3 billion, equity attributable to preferred noteholders
increased by CHF 3.1 billion and debt issued held at
amortized cost increased by CHF 1.2 billion. For 2012, net
profit attributable to non-controlling interests decreased by
CHF 271 million and net profit attributable to preferred
noteholders increased by CHF 220 million. The
implementation of IFRS 10 did not have a material effect
on our regulatory capital.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities

On 1 January 2013, UBS adopted IFRS 12 Disclosure of
Interests in Other Entities, which provides new and
comprehensive annual disclosure requirements about
entities with which a reporting entity is involved. IFRS 12
replaces the disclosure requirements previously included
in IAS 27 Consolidated and Separate Financial

Statements, |1AS 28 Investment in Associates and IAS 31
Interests in Joint Ventures. The standard requires entities
to disclose information that helps users to evaluate the
nature, risks and financial effects associated with a
reporting entity’s interests in subsidiaries, associates, joint
arrangements and, in particular, unconsolidated structured
entities. The resultant disclosures are reflected in “Note 30
Interests in subsidiaries and other entities” of our
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement
On 1 January 2013, UBS adopted IFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurement, which establishes a single source of
guidance for all fair value measurements under IFRS. It
defines fair value as the price that would be received to
sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly
transaction between market participants at the
measurement date, i.e., an exit price. The standard
emphasizes that fair value is a market-based
measurement, not an entity-specific measurement. It
clarifies that the unit of measurement is generally a
particular asset or liability unless an entity manages and
reports its net risk exposures on a portfolio basis, in which
case it may elect to apply portfolio-level price adjustments
under limited circumstances. It also introduces new
disclosure requirements and enhancements to existing
disclosures, which are reflected in “Note 24 Fair value
measurement” of our consolidated financial statements.

As a result of implementing the unit of measurement
guidance, the Group’s valuation reserves increased by
approximately CHF 25 million as of 1 January 2013,

decreasing operating profit before tax in 2013.
=> Refer to “Note 1b Changes in accounting policies, comparability
and other adjustments” in the “Financial information” section
of this report for more information on the adoption of IFRS 7, IFRS
10, IFRS 12 and IFRS 13

Financial reporting changes

Change in the definition of funded assets
From 2013, we define funded assets as total IFRS
balance sheet assets less positive replacement values
(PRV) and collateral delivered against over-the-counter
(OTC) derivatives. In prior reporting periods, we defined
funded assets as total IFRS balance sheet assets less
PRV and did not exclude the collateral delivered for OTC
derivatives. Prior periods were restated to reflect the
change in definition.

Funded assets exclude PRV because they are volatile
but have little effect on funding requirements. As there is a
direct correlation
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between replacement values and collateral delivered for
OTC derivatives, collateral delivered is also excluded to
create a more consistent view of our funded assets and
to better reflect how we manage our businesses.

Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio

In line with our strategy to focus the Investment Bank’s
business on its traditional strengths, UBS is exiting many
business lines which are capital- and balance sheet-
intensive or are in areas with high operational complexity
or long tail risks. In 2013, these non-core activities and
positions formerly in the Investment Bank were
transferred to and are managed and reported in the
Corporate Center. Together with the Legacy Portfolio
and the option to acquire the equity of the SNB
StabFund, which was exercised on 7 November 2013,
these non-core activities and positions are reported as a
separate reportable segment within the Corporate
Center called “Non-core and Legacy Portfolio.” Prior
period segment information was restated for this

change.
= Refer to “Note 1b Changes in accounting policies,
comparability and other adjustments” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information

Other reporting segment changes

In 2013, the Investment Bank was reorganized into two
business units, Corporate Client Solutions and Investor
Client Services.

Furthermore, the repurchase agreement and short-
term interest rate cash units were transferred from the
Investment Bank to the Asset Liability Management unit
of Group Treasury within Corporate Center — Core
Functions in 2013. Following this transfer, the Asset
Liability Management unit oversees all financing,
portfolio,
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and structural risk management activities for the Group.
Revenues associated with the ongoing business
activities of Asset Liability Management are allocated to
the business divisions and Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio, with the exception of excess funding costs.

Lastly, also in 2013, the risk management
responsibility for a portfolio of financial investments
available-for-sale and associated cash and balances
with central banks was transferred from Wealth
Management Americas to Group Treasury within
Corporate Center — Core Functions. Following this
transfer, net interest income associated with that
portfolio is allocated back to Wealth Management
Americas, whereas realized gains and losses arising
from the sales and impairments of individual financial
investments are retained by Group Treasury.

Prior period segment information was restated for

these changes.
=> Refer to “Note 1b Changes in accounting policies,
comparability and other adjustments” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information
=> Refer to “Investment Bank” in the “Operating environment
and strategy” section of this report for more information on our
Investment Bank’s businesses

Changes to allocations of centralized shared services
units’ personnel

As part of our ongoing efforts to improve our operational
effectiveness and heighten our cost efficiency across the
firm, on 1July 2012 operations units from business
divisions were centralized into our shared services units
in the Corporate Center. Effective 1 January 2013,
personnel allocations to our business divisions for
shared services were revised to reflect the following
factors: (i)



enhancements to the Corporate Center service-level
agreement framework for Group Operations, (ii)an
ongoing review of attribution keys, including for
technology-related personnel and (iii) organizational
changes related to the accelerated implementation of
our strategy, including the transfer of certain non-core
businesses and positions from the Investment Bank.

Attributed equity

With effect from 1 January 2013, attributed equity
required to support remaining goodwill and intangible
assets that arose from the PaineWebber acquisition was
transferred from the business divisions to the Corporate
Center. Net charges associated with this attributed
equity are retained in Corporate Center — Core

Functions.
= Refer to “Equity attribution framework” in the “Capital
management” section of this report for more information
=> Refer to “Note 17 Goodwill and intangible assets” in the
“Financial information” section of this report for more
information

Definition of restructuring charges
In 2013, we expanded our definition of restructuring
charges to include non-recurring and other temporary

costs necessary to effect our restructuring programs.
=> Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information

Refinement to the allocation of operating costs
for internal services

To further enhance cost discipline and strengthen our
efforts to reduce our underlying cost base, we will refine
the way that operating costs for internal services are
allocated from Corporate
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Center — Core Functions to the business divisions and
Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio.
Under this refinement, each year, as part of the annual
business planning cycle, Corporate Center — Core
Functions will agree with the business divisions and
Non-core and Legacy Portfolio cost allocations for
services at fixed amounts or at variable amounts based
on formulas, depending on capital and service
consumption levels as well as the nature of the services
to be performed. These pre-agreed cost allocations will
be designed with the expectation that Corporate Center
— Core Functions will recover its costs, without a mark-
up. Because actual costs incurred may differ from those
expected, however, Corporate Center — Core Functions
may recognize significant under- or over-allocations
depending on various factors, including Corporate
Center — Core Functions’ ability to manage the delivery
of its services and achieve cost savings. Each year
these cost allocations will be reset, taking account of the
prior year's experience and plans for the forthcoming
period. We expect the refined approach to strengthen
the effectiveness and efficiency of the services
performed by Corporate Center — Core Functions, and in
particular to facilitate the achievement of cost savings,
by better aligning cost accountability with the
management of these services. This change will become
effective for 2014.
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We believe the market rewards
companies that provide clear,
consistent and informative disclosure
about their business and we have
established financial  disclosure
principles in support of this objective.
More information on our financial
disclosure principles can be found
within  “Information policy” in the
“Corporate governance,
responsibility and compensation”
section of this report.

Consistent with these principles,
we are a member of and endorse the
work of the Enhanced Disclosure
Task Force (EDTF), established by
the Financial Stability Board in 2012
to facilitate discussion between
users, preparers and other interested
parties as to how enhanced
disclosure could help in restoring
investor confidence in banks. Our
reports contain disclosures aligned
with the recommendations issued by
the EDTF on 29 October 2012 in its

report “Enhancing the Risk
Disclosures of Banks.” Certain
disclosures
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in our Annual Report 2012 were cited
by the EDTF in its July 2013
“Progress Report on Implementation
of Disclosure Recommendations” as
“leading practice” and by Deloitte in
its report, “Responding to the EDTF
recommendations — A review of 2012
year end reporting,” as “good
practice.”

For our Annual Report 2013, we
have made significant further
improvements to our disclosures in
light of these recommendations,
including making structural changes
to the “Risk, treasury and capital
management” section of this report
and introducing a large number of
both new and enhanced disclosures.
Consistent with Recommendation 1
of the EDTF, where appropriate we
now present together those related
risk disclosures we consider to be
most relevant to a particular
component of our business, including
integrating certain disclosures
previously presented separately
within our Pillar 3 disclosures or our
financial statements.

Further information on our
implementation of each of the EDTF
recommendations can be found at
the start of the “Risk, treasury and
capital management” section of this
report, in which most of the new and
enhanced disclosures are presented.

Consistent with our financial
reporting and disclosure principles,
we regard the enhancement of
disclosures as an ongoing
commitment and we expect to make
further refinements to our disclosures
in 2014 and beyond.

2 Refer to the “Risk, treasury and capital
management” section of this report for
more information on our
implementation of the EDTF
recommendations

= Refer to the “Financial information”
section of this report for an overview of
our Pillar 3 related disclosures
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Net profit attributable to UBS shareholders for 2013 was CHF 3,172 million compared with a loss of CHF

2,480 million in 2012. Operating profit before tax was 3,272 million compared with a loss of CHF 1,794 million in
the prior year. Operating income increased by CHF 2,309 million and operating expenses decreased by CHF
2,755 million. Furthermore, we recorded a net tax benefit of CHF 110 million compared with a net tax expense of
CHF 461 million in the prior year.

Income statement

For the year ended % change from
CHF million 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12
PO O OO e 18137 . 15968 17969 (18)
Interest expense (7,351) (9,990) (11,143) (26)
N I OOt OO e 5,786 . 5978 . 6826 ©)
Credit loss (expense)/recovery (50) (118) (84) (58)
Net interest income after credit loss expense 5,736 5,860 6,742 2)

Net fee and commission income
Net trading income
of which: net trading income excluding own credit
of which: own credit on financial liabilities designated at fair value
Other income
Total operating income
Personnel expenses
General and administrative expenses
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment
Impairment of goodwill

25,423 27,788 9
14,737 15,634 3

Amortization and impairment of intangible assets 106 127 (25)”.
Total operating expenses 27,216 22,482 (10)
Operating profit/(loss) before tax (1,794) 5,307

O 1 di goi
Net profit/(loss) (2,255) 4,406

Net profit/(loss) attributable to preferred noteholders! 220 (7)
e g sy 5
Net profit/(loss) attributable to UBS shareholders (2,480) 4,138

Comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income

Total comprehensive income attributable to preferred noteholders!
Total comprehensive income attributable to non-controlling interests’
Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS shareholders 1,961 (1,966) 5,071

T Refer to “Note 1b Changes in accounting policies, comparability and other adjustments” in the “Financial information” section of this report for information on
the adoption of IFRS 10.
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Adjusted results?:2

For the year ended 31.12.13

CcC-
Wealth Non-core
Wealth Management Retail & Global Asset Investment CC - Core and Legacy
CHF million Management Americas  Corporate Management Bank _ Functions3 Portfolio UBs
Operating income as reported 7,563 6,538 3,756 1,935 8,601 (1,007) 347 27,732
of which: own credit on financial T
liabilities designated at fair
value (283) (283)
of which: gains on sales of real T T
estate 288 288
of which: net losses related to
the buyback of debt in public
tender offers (194) 27 (167)
of which: gain on sale of Global
AM’s Canadian domestic
business 34 34
of which: netgain on sale of T
remaining proprietary trading
business 55 (24)° 31
Operating income (adjusted) 7,563 6,538 3,756 1,901 8,546 (794) 320 27,829
Operating expenses as reported 5,316 5,680 2,298 1,359 6,300 847 2,660 24,461
of which: personnel-related
restructuring charges® 71 14 19 10 9 2) 35 156
of which: other restructuring T
chargese 107 45 35 33 201 “4) 200 616
Operating expenses (adjusted) 5,138 5,621 2,244 1,316 6,090 853 2,425 23,689
Operating profit/(loss) before tax as
reported 2,247 858 1,458 576 2,300 (1,854) (2,312) 3,272
Operating profit/(loss) before tax
(adjusted) 2,425 917 1,512 585 2,455 (1,647) (2,104) 4,141
For the year ended 31.12.12
CC-
Wealth Non-core
Wealth  Management Retail & Global Asset Investment CC —Core and Legacy
CHF million Management Americas  Corporate  Management Bank Functions? Portfolio UBS
Operating income as reported 7,041 5,877 3,728 1,883 7,144 (1,689) 1,439 25,423
of which: own credit on financial e o
liabilities designated at fair
value* (2,202) (2,202 )
of which: gains on sales of real T .
estate 112 112
Operating income (adjusted) 7,041 5,877 3,728 1,883 7,144 401 1,439 27,513
Operating expenses as reported 4,634 5,281 1,901 1,314 6,877 2,008 5,202 27,216
of which: personnel-related o
restructuring charges® 25 3 3 20 250 (1) 58 358
of which: other restructuring
charges® 0 (5) 0 0 24 (6) 0 14
of which: credit related to T
chan7qes to the Swiss pension
plan (357) (287) (30) (51) (3) 2) (730)
of which: credit related to T
changes to retiree benefit plans
in the US” (1) 2) (16) 91) (1) (7) (116)
of which: impairment of goodwill T AR U
and other non-financial assets® 3,064 3,064
Operating expenses (adjusted) 4,966 5,284 2,185 1,340 6,746 2,020 2,089 24,627
Operating profit/(loss) before tax as
reported 2,407 597 1,827 569 267 (3,698) (3,764)  (1,794)
Operating profit/(loss) before tax
(adjusted) 2,075 594 1,543 543 398 (1,620) (651) 2,885




Adjusted results are non-GAAP financial measures as defined by SEC regulations.  Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally
published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new accounting
standards. 3 Corporate Center — Core Functions operating expenses presented in this table are after service allocations to business divisions and Corporate
Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio.  Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement’ in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information. 5 Reflects a foreign currency translation loss. & Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information. 7 Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information. & Refer to “Note 17 Goodwill and intangible assets” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information.
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Adjusted results'.2 (continued)

Financial and operating performance

For the year ended 31.12.11

CC-
Wealth Non-core
Wealth Management Retail & Global Asset Investment CC —Core and Legacy
CHF million Management Americas Corporate Management Bank Functions® Portfolio UBS
Operating income as reported 7,645 5,213 4,085 1,803 6,802 1,931 309 27,788
of which: own credit on financial
liabilities designated at fair
value? 1,537 1,637
of which: gains on sales of real
estate 94 94
of which: gain on sale of
strategic investment portfolio 433 289 722
Operating income (adjusted) 7,212 5,213 3,796 1,803 6,802 300 309 25,435
Operating expenses as reported 5,012 4,750 2,201 1,373 7,019 369 1,756 22,482
of which: personnel-related
restructuring charges® 64 29 19 129 2
of which: other restructuring
charges® 18 5 3 7 73 14 0 119
Operating expenses (adjusted) 4,930 4,740 2,169 1,347 6,817 354 1,742 22,102
Operating profit/(loss) before tax as
reported 2,633 463 1,884 430 (217) 1,562 (1,448) 5,307
Operating profit/(loss) before tax
(adjusted) 2,282 473 1,627 456 (15) (54) (1,434) 3,334

1 Adjusted results are non-GAAP financial measures as defined by SEC regulations. 2 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally
published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new accounting
standards. 3 Corporate Center — Core Functions operating expenses presented in this table are after service allocations to business divisions and Corporate
Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio. 4 Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement’ in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information. 5 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information.

2013 compared with 2012

Performance

Operating profit before tax was CHF 3,272 million in
2013 compared with a loss of CHF 1,794 million in the
prior year, reflecting a CHF 2,309 million increase in
operating income and a CHF 2,755 million reduction in
operating expenses.

In addition to reporting our results in accordance with
IFRS, we report adjusted results that exclude items
considered non-recurring and certain other items that
management believes are not representative of the
underlying performance of our businesses. Such
adjusted results are non-GAAP financial measures as
defined by SEC regulations. For 2013, the items we
excluded were an own credit loss of CHF 283 million,
gains on sales of real estate of CHF 288 million, net
losses related to the buyback of debt in public tender
offers of CHF 167 million, a gain on the sale of Global
Asset Management’s Canadian domestic business of
CHF 34 million, a net gain on the sale of our remaining
proprietary trading business of CHF 31 million and net
restructuring charges of CHF 772 million. For 2012, the
items we excluded were an own credit loss of CHF
2,202 million, gains on sales of real estate of CHF
112 million, net restructuring charges of CHF
371 million, a credit related to changes to our Swiss

operating income increased by CHF 316 million, mainly
reflecting an increase of CHF 891 million in net fee and
commission income, largely in our wealth management
businesses. Adjusted net interest and trading income
declined by CHF 535 million, mainly as a result of
reductions in Corporate Center — Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio as well as Corporate Center — Core Functions,
partly offset by higher revenues in the Investment Bank.
Adjusted other income decreased by CHF 108 million,
mainly due to lower net gains on financial investments
available-for-sale.

Adjusted operating expenses decreased by CHF
938 million to CHF 23,689 million, mainly due to a
decline of CHF 848 million in charges for provisions for
litigation, regulatory and similar matters as well as a
CHF 199 million reduction in personnel expenses, partly
offset by CHF 110 million higher other non-personnel
expenses.

Operating income

Total operating income was CHF 27,732 million
compared with CHF 25,423 million. On an adjusted
basis, total operating income increased by CHF
316 milion to CHF 27,829 million from CHF
27,513 million, as we recorded an increase of CHF
891 million in net fee and commission income, largely in
our wealth management businesses. This increase was



pension plan of CHF 730 million, a credit related to
changes to our retiree benefit plans in the US of CHF
116 million and the impairment of goodwill and other
non-financial assets of CHF 3,064 million.

On this adjusted basis, profit before tax was CHF
4,141 million in 2013 compared with CHF 2,885 million
in the prior year. Adjusted

largely offset by a CHF 535 million decline in adjusted
net interest and trading income, mainly as a result of
reductions in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio as well as
Corporate Center — Core Functions, partly offset by
higher revenues in the Investment Bank. Adjusted other
income decreased by CHF 108 million, mainly due to
lower net gains on financial investments available-for-
sale.
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Financial and operating performance
Group performance

Net interest and trading income

For the year ended % change from

CHF million 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12
Net interest and trading income
Net interest income 5,786 5,978 6,826 (3)
Net trading income 5,130 3,526 4,343 45
Total net interest and trading income 10,915 9,504 11,169 15
Wealth Management 2,868 2,728 2,846 5
Wealth Management Americas 1,323 1,265 1,179 5
Retail & Corporate 2,485 2,467 2,661 1
Global Asset Management 9 9 8 0
Investment Bank 5,015 3,574 2,831 40
of which: Cormporate Client Solutions 1,035 575 399 80
of which: Investor Client Services 3,980 2,999 2,432 33
Corporate Center (784) (540) 1,645 45
of which: Core Functions (1,045) (1,992 ) 1,765 (48)
of which: own credit on financial liabilities designated at fair value (283) (2202) 1,537 (87)
of which: Non-core and Legacy Portfolio 261 1,452 (121) (82)
Total net interest and trading income 10,915 9,504 11,169 15

Net interest and trading income

Net interest and trading income increased by CHF
1,411 million to CHF 10,915 million. 2013 included an own
credit loss on financial liabilities designated at fair value of
CHF 283 million, primarily due to further tightening of our
funding spreads, compared with an own credit loss of CHF
2,202 million in the prior year when our funding spreads
tightened significantly. Excluding the effect of own credit and a
net interest and trading income gain related to the buyback of
debt in a public tender offer of CHF 27 million in 2013, net
interest and trading income decreased by CHF 535 million to
CHF 11,171 million, mainly as a result of reductions in Non-
core and Legacy Portfolio as well as Corporate Center — Core
Functions, partly offset by higher revenues in the Investment
Bank.

Net interest and trading income in Wealth Management
increased by CHF 140 million. Net interest income increased
by CHF 110 million to CHF 2,061 million, mainly due to
revenues of CHF 110 million allocated from the repurchase
agreement unit within Group Treasury in Corporate Center —
Core Functions. Previously, such revenues were not allocated
to the business divisions. The increase in net interest income
was also due to lower costs related to the multi-currency
portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality, short-term assets
managed centrally by Group Treasury. These factors, together
with higher income resulting from increased loan and client
deposit volumes, more than offset the negative effect of a
lower deposit margin resulting from the ongoing low interest
rate environment. Net trading income increased by CHF
29 million to CHF 807 million and included higher income from
foreign exchange-related products and increased treasury-
related income, partly offset by lower income from precious
metals.

In Wealth Management Americas, net interest and trading
income increased by CHF 58 million, reflecting a CHF
144 million increase in net interest income primarily due to
higher client balances
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in securities-backed lending and mortgages. Furthermore, net
funding costs related to the goodwill and intangible assets that
arose from the PaineWebber acquisition are retained in
Corporate Center — Core Functions with effect from 1 January
2013. These increases were partly offset by lower net interest
income from the available-for-sale portfolio, primarily due to
lower average balances. Net trading income decreased by
CHF 86 million to CHF 387 million, mainly due to trading
losses related to the Puerto Rico municipal market as well as
lower income from taxable fixed income and US municipal
bond trading.

Net interest and trading income in Retail & Corporate
increased by CHF 18 million.

Within the Investment Bank, Investor Client Services net
interest and trading income increased by CHF 981 million,
primarily due to higher derivatives revenues, mainly as a result
of higher revenues in Asia Pacific and Europe, Middle East
and Africa. Furthermore, cash revenues increased, largely as
2012 included a loss of CHF 349 million related to the
Facebook initial public offering. Revenues in financing
services and other equities also increased. These increases
were partly offset by lower revenues in rates and credit,
primarily due to weaker trading performance in the flow
businesses, and by slightly lower foreign exchange revenues.
Corporate Client Solutions net interest and trading income
increased by CHF 460 million, largely due to higher revenues
in equity capital markets, mainly as a result of a large private
transaction recorded in the first half of 2013.

Corporate Center — Core Functions net interest and trading
income, excluding the effect of own credit, decreased by CHF
972 million, partly due to losses of CHF 153 million related to
our macro cash flow hedge models compared with gains of
CHF 152 million in the prior year. The decrease in net interest
and trading income was also due to a decline in revenues to
CHF 22 million from CHF 245 million in the repurchase
agreement unit, which was transferred



from the Investment Bank to Corporate Center — Core
Functions in 2013 and for which prior period information was
restated. Whereas restated results reflected no allocation of
revenues from the repurchase agreement unit to the business
divisions, from 2013 onwards revenues from this unit are
allocated to the business divisions, mainly to Wealth
Management. In addition, 2013 included losses from cross-
currency basis swaps of CHF 222 million which are held as
economic hedges and central funding costs retained in Group
Treasury increased. Furthermore, 2013 included CHF
102 million in net funding costs related to the goodwill and
intangible assets that arose from the PaineWebber
acquisition which are retained in Corporate Center — Core
Functions with effect from 1 January 2013.

In Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, net interest and trading
income decreased by CHF 1,191 million. Non-core net
interest and trading income decreased by CHF 1,146 million,
largely due to lower revenues in rates and credit as we
focused on risk-weighted assets (RWA) and balance sheet
reduction, as well as on reducing operational complexity as
part of the accelerated implementation of our strategy. In
2012, portfolios were actively traded and benefited from
increased liquidity, with strong two-way client flow that
resulted in higher revenues. Legacy Portfolio net interest and
trading income decreased by CHF 45 million. In 2013, we
exercised our option to acquire the SNB StabFund’s equity
and recorded an option revaluation gain of CHF 431 million
prior to the exercise compared with a gain of CHF 526 million
in the prior year. Trading revenues also decreased due to an
interest charge of CHF 34 million in 2013 relating to tax
obligations of the SNB StabFund. Legacy Portfolio net
interest and trading income, excluding the SNB StabFund
option, increased by CHF 83 million, mainly as 2012 included
losses on collateralized debt obligations (CDO) and related
hedging swaps of CHF 171 million as we exited certain CDO

positions to reduce RWA.
> Refer to “Note 3 Net interest and trading income” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information
=> Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information on own credit

Credit loss expense/recovery
We recorded net credit loss expenses of CHF 50 million
compared with CHF 118 million in the prior year.

Credit loss (expense)/recovery

Financial and operating performance

In Wealth Management, net credit loss expenses were CHF
10 million compared with net credit loss recoveries of CHF
1 million in the prior year.

In Wealth Management Americas, 2013 included net credit
loss expenses of CHF 27 million compared with net credit
loss expenses of CHF 14 million in the prior year. The 2013
expenses were largely due to loan loss allowances on
securities-backed lending facilities collateralized by Puerto
Rico municipal securities and related funds.

In Retail & Corporate, net credit loss expenses were CHF
18 million compared with net credit loss expenses of CHF
27 million in the prior year. 2013 included net specific loan
loss allowances of CHF 113 million, reflecting a number of
new workout cases that were individually reviewed,
downgraded and impaired as well as adjustments on existing
positions. This was largely offset by a net release of CHF
95 million of collective loan loss allowances based on the
ongoing review of the portfolio, as well as the overall im-
proved outlook for relevant industries. The prior year included
net specific loan loss allowances of CHF 43 million, partly
offset by a net decrease in collective loan loss allowances of
CHF 16 million.

In Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, net credit loss recoveries
were CHF 3 million compared with net credit loss expenses of
CHF 78 million in the prior year, which mainly reflected an
impairment charge related to certain student loan auction rate

securities, sub- sequently sold to reduce RWA.
=> Refer to the “Wealth Management Americas,” “Retail & Corporate”
and “Corporate Center” sections of this report for more information

Net fee and commission income
Net fee and commission income increased by CHF
891 million to CHF 16,287 million.

Portfolio management and advisory fees increased by CHF
730 million to CHF 6,625 million, mainly in Wealth
Management Americas and in Wealth Management, largely
due to higher average invested assets as well as pricing
adjustments.

Net brokerage fees increased by CHF 231 million to CHF
3,196 million, mainly in the Investment Bank due to improved
market activity levels, and in Wealth Management Americas
due to higher client activity levels.

For the year ended % change from

CHF million

31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12

Wealth Management

(10) 1 11

Wealth Management Americas (27) (14) (6) 93
Retail & Corporate (18) (27) (101) (33)
Investment Bank 2 0 (10)
Corporate Center 3 (78) 22

of which: Core Functions 0 [ (1)

of which: Non-core and Legacy Portfolio 3 (78) 22
Total (50) (118) (84) (58)
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Financial and operating performance
Group performance

Investment fund fees increased by CHF 177 million to CHF
3,803 million, primarily due to higher managed account fees
calculated on higher invested asset levels in Wealth
Management Americas and higher client activity levels in
Wealth Management.

Total underwriting fees decreased by CHF 165 million to
CHF 1,374 million, reflecting a decrease of CHF 208 million

in debt underwriting fees, mainly in the Investment Bank.
= Refer to “Note 4 Net fee and commission income” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information

Other income
Other income was CHF 580 million compared with CHF
641 million in the prior year.

Income from financial investments available-for-sale was
CHF 168 million compared with CHF 308 million in the prior
year.

Net gains from disposals of financial investments
available-for-sale in 2013 included gains of CHF 74 million
resulting from the divestment of our participation in Euroclear
Plc., of which CHF 27 million was allocated to Retail &
Corporate, CHF 25 million to Wealth Management and CHF
22 million to the Investment Bank. Further, net gains from
disposals of financial investments available-for-sale included
net gains of CHF 61 million in Corporate Center — Core
Functions in 2013. 2012 included net gains of CHF
272 million in Corporate Center — Core Functions, as well as
gains

Operating expenses

of CHF 101 million in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, mainly
related to the sale of an equity investment.

Income related to associates and subsidiaries increased
by CHF 79 million to CHF 160 million, mainly due to lower
charges for certain provisions for litigation, regulatory and
similar matters recorded within other income, partly offset by
lower income related to our participation in the SIX Group.
Furthermore, 2013 included a net gain on sale of our
remaining proprietary trading business of CHF 31 million.

Other income excluding income from financial investments
available-for-sale and income related to associates and
subsidiaries was unchanged at CHF 252 million. Gains on
sales of real estate were CHF 288 million compared with
CHF 112 million in the prior year. Net gains on sales of loans
and receivables were CHF 53 million compared with net
losses of CHF 11 million in the prior year. Furthermore, 2013
included losses related to the buyback of debt in public
tender offers of CHF 194 million.

= Refer to “Note 5 Other income” in the “Financial information” section
of this report for more information

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses decreased by CHF 2,755 million to
CHF 24,461 million. Restructuring charges were CHF
772 million compared with CHF 371 million in the prior year,
mainly related to

For the year ended % change from

CHF million 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12

Personnel expenses (adjusted)’

Salaries 6,828 8

Total variable compensation 3531 7
of which: relating to current year® 2020 25
of which: relating to prior years> 1,511 (25 )

Wealth Management Americas: Financial advisor compensation® 2,519 9
Other personnel expenses® 2494 (4)'”
Total personnel expenses (adjusted)? 15,026 15,225 15,373 (1)
Non-personnel expenses (adjusted)!
Provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters 276 (33)'”
Other non-personnel expenses6 6,962 6,852 6,453 2
Total non-personnel expenses (adjusted)’ 8,662 9,401 6,728 (8)
Adjusting items 380 (70)
of which: personnel-related restructuring charges 261 (56 )
of which: other restructuring charges 119

of which: credits related to changes to the Swiss pension plan and retiree benefit plans in the US

of which: impairment of goodwill and other non-financial assets®

Total operating expenses as reported

24,461 27,216 22,482 (10)

1 Excluding adjusting items. 2 Includes expenses relating to performance awards and other variable compensation for the respective performance year. 3 Consists of
amortization of prior years’ awards relating to performance awards and other variable compensation. # Financial advisor compensation consists of grid-based compensation
based directly on compensable revenues generated by financial advisors and supplemental compensation calculated based on financial advisor productivity, firm tenure,
assets and other variables. It also includes costs related to compensation commitments with financial advisors entered into at the time of recruitment, which are subject to
vesting requirements. 5 Consists of expenses related to contractors, social security, pension and other post-employment benefit plans and other personnel expenses. Refer
to “Note 6 Personnel expenses” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information. © Includes general and administrative expenses excluding charges
for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters, as well as depreciation and impairment of property and equipment and amortization and impairment of intangible
assets. 7 Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information.  Refer to “Note 17
Goodwill and intangible assets” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more information.
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increased non-personnel related restructuring charges,
partly offset by lower personnel-related restructuring
charges.

Furthermore, 2012 included a credit related to
changes to our Swiss pension plan of CHF 730 million
and a credit related to changes to our retiree benefit
plans in the US of CHF 116 million, as well as
impairment losses on goodwill and other non-financial
assets of CHF 3,064 million. On an adjusted basis, total
operating expenses decreased by CHF 938 million to
CHF 23,689 million, mainly due to a reduction of CHF
848 million in charges for provisions for litigation,
regulatory and similar matters as well as a decrease of
CHF 199 million in personnel expenses, partly offset by
an increase of CHF 110 million in other non-personnel

expenses.
=> Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information on
restructuring charges

Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses increased by CHF 445 million to
CHF 15,182 million. 2013 included net charges of CHF
156 million in personnel-related restructuring expenses
compared with CHF 358 million in the prior year.
Furthermore, 2012 included a credit related to changes
to our Swiss pension plan of CHF 730 million and a
credit related to changes to our retiree benefit plans in
the US of CHF 116 million. On an adjusted basis,
personnel expenses decreased by CHF 199 million to
CHF 15,026 million.

Expenses for salaries, excluding the effects of
restructuring, decreased by CHF 547 million, largely due
to a reduction in the number of personnel as a result of
our ongoing cost reduction programs.

Excluding the effects of restructuring, total variable
compensation expenses increased by CHF 196 million.
Expenses for performance awards increased by CHF
116 million, due to higher expenses for current year
performance awards reflecting a 28% increase in the
overall performance award pool, partly offset by a lower
charge for the amortization of deferred compensation
awards from prior years. Including restructuring,
expenses for performance awards were virtually
unchanged. Other variable compensation expenses
excluding restructuring increased by CHF 80 million,
mainly due to increased expenses for retention
payments.

Financial  advisor = compensation in  Wealth
Management Americas increased by CHF 267 million,
corresponding with higher compensable revenues.

Other personnel expenses decreased by CHF
114 million on an adjusted basis, mainly due to lower
expenses for pension and other post-employment

benefits plans and reduced expenses for contractors.
= Refer to “Note 6 Personnel expenses” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information
=> Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit
plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for

Financial and operating performance

General and administrative expenses

General and administrative expenses decreased by CHF
273 million to CHF 8,380 million. On an adjusted basis,
excluding net restructuring charges of CHF 548 million in
2013 compared with zero in 2012, general and
administrative expenses decreased by CHF 821 million.

Net charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and
similar matters decreased by CHF 848 million to CHF
1,701 million, primarily as the prior year included
charges arising from fines and disgorgement resulting
from regulatory investigations concerning LIBOR and
other benchmark rates. This was partly offset by higher
provisions in 2013 for claims related to sales of
residential mortgage-backed securities and mortgages.
In view of the current regulatory and political climate
affecting financial institutions, and because we continue
to be exposed to a number of significant claims and
regulatory matters, we expect charges associated with
litigation, regulatory and similar matters to remain at
elevated levels through 2014.

2013 expenses included a net charge of CHF
124 million for the UK bank levy, mainly in Non-core and
Legacy Portfolio and the Investment Bank, compared
with a net charge of CHF 127 million recognized in the
prior year, as well as a charge of CHF 110 million
related to the Swiss-UK tax agreement, allocated
primarily to Wealth Management, and an impairment
charge of CHF 87 million in Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio related to certain disputed receivables.
Furthermore, excluding the effects of restructuring,
expenses decreased for outsourcing of information
technology and other services, occupancy, and
marketing and public relations, by CHF 76 million, CHF

66 million and CHF 50 million, respectively.

2 Refer to “Note 7 General and administrative expenses” in
the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information

2 Refer to “Note 22 Provisions and contingent liabilities” in
the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information

= Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” section of
this report for more information on the charge in relation to the
Swiss-UK tax agreement

Depreciation, impairment and amortization
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment
was CHF 816 million compared with CHF 689 million in
the prior year, partly as restructuring-related charges
increased to CHF 68 million from CHF 14 million.
Impairment of goodwill was zero compared with CHF
3,030 million in the prior year.
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets was
CHF 83 million compared with CHF 106 million in the
prior year. We recorded impairment charges of CHF

3 million compared with CHF 17 million.
=> Refer to “Note 17 Goodwill and intangible assets” in the
“Financial information” section of this report for more
information



more information

= Refer to “Note 29 Equity participation and other compensation
plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information

= Refer to the “Compensation” section of this report for more
information
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Group performance

Tax

We recognized a net income tax benefit of CHF
110 million for 2013, which included a Swiss tax
expense of CHF 548 million and a net foreign tax benefit
of CHF 658 million.

The Swiss tax expense included a current tax
expense of CHF 93 million related to taxable profits,
against which no losses were available to offset, earned
by Swiss subsidiaries and also from the sale of real
estate. In addition, it included a deferred tax expense of
CHF 455 million, mainly reflecting the amortization of
deferred tax assets previously recognized in relation to
tax losses carried forward used to offset taxable profits
for the year.

The net foreign tax benefit included a current tax
expense of CHF 342 million in respect of taxable profits
earned by non-Swiss subsidiaries and branches, against
which no losses were available to offset. This was more
than offset by a net deferred tax benefit of CHF
1,000 million reflecting a net upward revaluation of
deferred tax assets, partially offset by the amortization of
deferred tax assets, as tax losses were used against
taxable profits.

In 2014, notwithstanding the effects of any potential
reassessment of the level of deferred tax assets, we
expect the tax rate to be in the range of 20% to 25%.
Consistent with past practice, we expect to revalue our
overall level of deferred tax assets in the second half of
2014 based on a reassessment of future profitability
taking into account updated business plan forecasts.
Furthermore, based on our actual and forecasted
financial performance, we may reassess the manner in
which the probability of future taxable income is
evaluated and include additional forecasted taxable
income in our deferred tax assets assessment which
may have a material effect on recognized deferred tax
assets and tax expense. The full year effective tax rate
could change significantly on the basis of this
reassessment. It could also change if aggregate tax
expenses for locations other than Switzerland, the US

and UK differ from what is expected.
= Refer to “Note 8 Income taxes” in the “Financial information”
section of this report for more information

Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS
shareholders

Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS
shareholders includes all changes in equity (including
net profit) attributed to UBS shareholders during a
period, except those resulting from investments by and
distributions to shareholders as well as equity-settled
share-based payments. ltems included in
comprehensive income, but not in net profit, are reported
under other comprehensive income (OCI). These items
will be reclassified to net profit when the underlying item
is sold or realized, with the exception of gains and

OCl in 2013 included negative cash flow hedge OCI of
CHF 1,520 million (net of tax), mainly reflecting
significant increases in long-term interest rates across all
major currencies.

Foreign currency translation losses amounted to CHF
471 million (net of tax), primarily related to a weakening
of the US dollar, Indian rupee and Australian dollar
against the Swiss franc.

OCl associated with financial investments
available-for-sale was negative CHF 154 million (net of
tax), mainly as previously unrealized net gains were
reclassified from OCI to the income statement upon sale
of investments.

These decreases in OCI were partly offset by net OCI
gains on defined benefit plans of CHF 939 million (net of
tax), mainly related to our Swiss pension plan which
recorded a pre-tax OCI gain of CHF 1,119 million. This
OCI gain on the Swiss pension plan reflected a gain of
CHF 1,124 million due to a reduction of the defined
benefit obligation and a gain of CHF 803 million related
to an increase in the fair value of plan assets, partly
offset by an OCI reduction of CHF 808 million
representing the excess of the pension surplus over the
estimated future economic benefit. The net pre-tax OCI
gains on non-Swiss pension plans amounted to CHF 49

million.

2 Refer to the “Statement of comprehensive income” in the
“Financial information” section of this report for more
information

= Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit
plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information on OCI related to defined benefit plans

Net profit attributable to preferred noteholders

Net profit attributable to preferred noteholders was CHF
204 million compared with CHF 220 million in the prior
year.

We expect net profit attributable to preferred
noteholders to be approximately CHF 110 million in both
2014 and 2015, and approximately CHF 85 million in
2016.

Key figures

Cost/income ratio

The costincome ratio improved to 88.0% in 2013
compared with 106.6% in the prior year. On an adjusted
basis, the cost/income ratio improved to 85.0% from
89.1%.

Risk-weighted assets

Our phase-in Basel lll RWA decreased by CHF 33 billion
to CHF 229 billion, mainly due to a CHF 41 billion
reduction in credit risk RWA and a CHF 17 billion
reduction in market risk RWA, partly offset by a CHF 25
billion increase in operational risk RWA. The



losses on defined benefit plans and certain property
revaluations.

In 2013, total comprehensive income attributable to
UBS shareholders was CHF 1,961 million, reflecting net
profit attributable to UBS shareholders of CHF
3,172 million, partly offset by negative OCI attributable to
UBS shareholders of CHF 1,211 million (net of tax).
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CHF 41 billion decrease in credit risk RWA was mainly
due to a CHF 24 billion reduction related to Other
exposure segments, mainly driven by a reduction in
RWA for advanced and standardized credit valuation
adjustments (CVA) of CHF 18 billion, mainly due to
benefits from economic CVA hedges, ratings migration,
reduced exposures and market-driven reductions in the
Investment Bank and Non-core and Legacy Portfolio.
Furthermore, a decline of CHF 6 billion was realized due
to the sale of securitization exposures in Non-core and
Legacy Portfolio. Credit risk RWA for exposures to
corporates decreased by CHF 10 billion, primarily due to
a reduction in drawn loans, undrawn loan commitments
and derivative exposures in Wealth Management
Americas, the Investment Bank and Non-core and
Legacy Portfolio. Credit risk RWA for exposures to
banks declined by CHF 6 billion, mainly due to lower
derivative exposures in the Investment Bank and Non-
core and Legacy Portfolio. The CHF 17 billion decrease
in market risk RWA was due to a CHF 5 billion decrease
in the comprehensive risk measure, a decline of CHF 4
billion in the incremental risk charge and reductions of
CHF 2 billion, CHF 3 billion and CHF 1 billion in RWA
related to value-at-risk (VaR), stressed VaR and risks-
not-in-VaR, respectively. The CHF 25 billion increase in
operational risk RWA was primarily due to incremental
RWA of CHF 22.5 billion resulting from the supplemental
operational risk capital analysis mutually agreed to by
UBS and FINMA.

= Refer to the “Investment Bank,” “Corporate Center” and
“Capital management” sections of this report for more
information

= Refer to the “Regulatory and legal developments” section of
this report for more information on the incremental RWA
resulting from the supplemental operational risk capital
analysis mutually agreed to by UBS and FINMA

Net new money

In Wealth Management, all regions contributed to net
inflows of CHF 35.9 billion in 2013, compared with CHF
26.3 billion in the prior year. The strongest net inflows
were recorded in Asia Pacific followed by emerging
markets, Switzerland and Europe. Net inflows in the
European onshore and the Swiss-based Global Family
Office business in Europe more than offset net outflows
in the

Net new money!
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European cross-border business, which was negatively
affected by ongoing asset outflows in the context of
fiscal and regulatory concerns. On a global basis, net
new money from ultra high net worth clients was CHF
33.6 billion compared with CHF 19.9 billion in the prior
year.

In Wealth Management Americas, net new money
totaled CHF 17.6 billion, or USD 19.0 billion, compared
with CHF 20.6 billion, or USD 22.1 billion, in the prior
year, due to lower inflows from financial advisors
employed with UBS for more than one year as well as
lower inflows from net recruiting of financial advisors.
This decrease was partly offset by higher inflows from
the Global Family Office.

Excluding money market flows, Global Asset
Management recorded net new money inflows from third
parties of CHF 0.7 billion compared with net outflows of
CHF 0.6 billion in 2012. Net inflows, notably from clients
serviced from Europe, Middle East and Africa and from
Switzerland, were partly offset by net outflows from
clients serviced from the Americas. Net new money
outflows from clients of UBS’s wealth management
businesses, excluding money market flows, were CHF
5.5 billion compared with CHF 5.2 billion in the prior
year. Net outflows, mainly from clients serviced from
Switzerland, were partly offset by net inflows from clients
serviced from the Americas. Money market net outflows
from third parties were CHF 1.5 billion compared with
net inflows of CHF 0.9 billion in the prior year and were
mainly from clients serviced from the Americas. Money
market net outflows from clients of UBS’s wealth
management businesses were CHF 13.6 billion
compared with CHF 8.3 billion in the prior year. In both
years, net outflows were primarily due to an ongoing
initiative by Wealth Management Americas to increase
deposit account balances in UBS banking entities. This
led to CHF 8.3 billion in outflows from money market
funds managed by Global Asset Management in 2013
and CHF 6.2 billion in 2012. The corresponding increase
in deposit account balances in Wealth Management
Americas does not constitute net new money. Total net
new money outflows were CHF 19.9 billion compared
with CHF 13.3 billion in the prior year.

2 Refer to the “Wealth Management,” “Wealth Management
Americas” and “Global Asset Management” sections of this
report for more information

For the year ended

CHF billion 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11
Wealth Management 35.9 26.3 23.5
Wealth Management Americas 17.6 20.6 12.1
Global Asset Management (19.9) (13.3) 4.3
of which: non-money market flows (4.8) (5.9) 9.0
of which: money market flows TR ) TR @7y

T Net new money excludes interest and dividend income.
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Invested assets

As of % change from
CHF billion 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12
Wealth Management 886 821 750 8
Wealth Management Americas 865 772 709 12
Global Asset Management 583 581 574 0

Invested assets

In Wealth Management, invested assets were CHF 886
bilion as of 31 December 2013, representing an
increase of CHF 65 billion from 31 December 2012. Net
new money inflows of CHF 36 billion and positive market
performance of CHF 34 billion were slightly offset by
negative currency translation effects of CHF 4 billion.

In Wealth Management Americas, invested assets
were CHF 865 billion as of 31 December 2013, an
increase of CHF 93 billion from 31 December 2012. In
US dollar terms, invested assets increased by USD 127
billion to USD 970 billion, reflecting positive market
performance of USD 108 billion and continued strong
net new money inflows of USD 19 billion.
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In Global Asset Management, invested assets were
CHF 583 billion as of 31 December 2013 compared with
CHF 581 billion as of 31 December 2012. Net new
money outflows of CHF 20 billion, combined with
negative currency translation effects of CHF 15 billion
and a reduction of CHF 7 billion related to the
aforementioned sale of the Canadian domestic
business, were more than offset by positive market
performance of CHF 44 billion.

2 Refer to the “Wealth Management,” “Wealth Management
Americas” and “Global Asset Management” sections of this
report for more information



2012 compared with 2011

Performance

Operating profit before tax was a loss of CHF
1,794 million in 2012 compared with a profit of CHF
5,307 million in the prior year. The 2012 loss was
primarily due to impairment losses of CHF 3,064 million
on goodwill and other non-financial assets and net
charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and
similar matters of CHF 2,549 million, including charges
for provisions arising from fines and disgorgement
resulting from regulatory investigations concerning
LIBOR and other benchmark rates, as well as claims
related to sales of residential mortgage-backed
securities. The full year 2012 result also included an own
credit loss on financial liabilities designated at fair value
of CHF 2,202 million and net restructuring charges of
CHF 371 million.

In addition to reporting our results in accordance with
IFRS, we report adjusted results that exclude items
considered non-recurring and certain other items that
management believes are not representative of the
underlying performance of our businesses. Such
adjusted results are non-GAAP financial measures as
defined by SEC regulations. For 2012, the items we
excluded were the abovementioned impairment losses
of CHF 3,064 million, the own credit loss of CHF
2,202 million, gains on sales of real estate of CHF
112 million, a credit to personnel expenses related to
changes to our Swiss pension plan of CHF 730 million,
net restructuring charges of CHF 371 million and a credit
to personnel expenses related to changes to our retiree
benefit plans in the US of CHF 116 million. The
adjustments in 2011 were an own credit gain of CHF
1,537 million, gains on sales of real estate of CHF
94 million, a gain on sale of our strategic investment
portfolio of CHF 722 milion and net restructuring
charges of CHF 380 million.

On this adjusted basis, the 2012 profit before tax was
CHF 2,885 million compared with CHF 3,334 million in
2011, mainly as net charges for provisions for litigation,
regulatory and similar matters increased by CHF
2,273 million to CHF 2,549 million, while 2011 included a
loss of CHF 1,849 million related to the unauthorized
trading incident announced in September of that year.

Operating income

Total operating income was CHF 25,423 million in 2012
compared with CHF 27,788 million in 2011. Excluding
the impacts of own credit as well as gains on sales of
real estate in both years and the gain on the sale of our
strategic investment portfolio in 2011, operating income
increased by CHF 2,078 million to CHF 27,513 million.

Net interest and trading income

Financial and operating performance

compared with an own credit gain of CHF 1,537 million
in 2011. Excluding the impact of own credit, net interest
and trading income increased by CHF 2,074 million.

Net interest and trading income in Wealth
Management declined by CHF 118 million, mainly as the
prior year included CHF 103 million of interest income
stemming from the abovementioned strategic investment
portfolio. Moreover, net interest income was negatively
affected by increased costs of CHF 69 million related to
assets managed centrally by Group Treasury.
Furthermore, net trading revenues declined as a result
of lower treasury-related income and lower client activity
levels following reduced volatility in the foreign exchange
market. These factors were partly offset by CHF
180 million higher product-related interest income,
reflecting the beneficial effects of increases in client
deposit and lending volumes.

In Wealth Management Americas, net interest and
trading income increased by CHF 86 million, reflecting
favorable currency effects and higher client balances in
securities-backed lending and mortgages.

Retail & Corporate net interest and trading income
declined by CHF 194 million, partly as the prior year
included interest income of CHF 68 million related to our
strategic investment portfolio. Net interest income was
also negatively affected by increased costs related to
assets managed centrally by Group Treasury and lower
allocations related to investment proceeds from the
firm’s equity. The loan margin was stable, but the
historically low interest rate environment continued to
negatively affect the deposit margin. This was partly
offset by growth in average deposit and, to a lesser
extent, loan volumes as well as a number of pricing
adjustments. Net trading income decreased to CHF
281 million from CHF 333 million due to lower treasury-
related income and lower valuation income in 2012
related to credit default swaps to hedge certain loans.

Within the Investment Bank, Corporate Client
Solutions net interest and trading income increased by
CHF 176 million, largely due to higher revenues in debt
capital markets. Investor Client Services net interest and
trading income increased by CHF 567 million, mainly as
2011 included a loss of CHF 1,849 million related to the
unauthorized trading incident, partly offset by lower
equities cash revenues, mainly as 2012 included a loss
of CHF 349 million related to the Facebook initial public
offering. In addition, equities derivatives revenues
declined, as trading revenues, particularly in Asia Pacific
and Europe, Middle East and Africa, were affected by
lower volatility levels. Other equities revenues also
decreased, primarily reflecting a reduced contribution
from proprietary trading as we continued to exit the
business. Furthermore, foreign exchange revenues
declined, mainly within foreign exchange spot and
foreign exchange options as volatility decreased from
the high levels seen in 2011 resulting from eurozone
uncertainty. Rates and credit revenues also declined,



Net interest and trading income decreased by CHF
1,665 million to CHF 9,504 million. 2012 included an
own credit loss on financial liabilities designated at fair
value of CHF 2,202 million, primarily reflecting significant
tightening of our funding spreads,

primarily due to increased negative debit valuation
adjustments and lower revenues from flow businesses,
partly offset by higher revenues from solutions
businesses.

Excluding own credit, net interest and trading
revenues in Corporate Center — Core Functions
decreased by CHF 18 million.
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In Non-core and Legacy Portfolio, net interest and trading
income increased by CHF 1,573 million. Our option to
acquire the SNB StabFund’'s equity resulted in a gain of
CHF 526 million in 2012, compared with a loss of CHF
133 million in 2011. Legacy Portfolio net interest and
trading income excluding the SNB StabFund option
increased by CHF 714 million, partly as 2011 included a
loss of CHF 284 milion related to credit valuation
adjustments for monoline credit protection. Non-core net
interest and ftrading revenues increased by CHF

200 million, mainly as a result of higher credit revenues.
=> Refer to “Note 3 Net interest and trading income” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information
> Refer to “Note 24 Fair value measurement” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information on own
credit

Credit loss expense/recovery

In 2012, we recorded net credit loss expenses of CHF
118 million compared with net credit loss expenses of CHF
84 million in 2011. In 2012, we recorded net credit loss
expenses of CHF 78 million in Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio, mainly related to student loan auction rate
securities, and net credit loss expenses of CHF 27 million in
Retail & Corporate.

= Refer to the “Wealth Management Americas,” “Retail & Corporate”
and “Corporate Center” sections of this report for more information

Net fee and commission income
Net fee and commission income increased by CHF
160 million to CHF 15,396 million.

Underwriting fees increased by CHF 359 million to CHF
1,539 million, reflecting an increase in both equity and debt
underwriting fees. The increase in underwriting fees
corresponded to increased market share in both equity
underwriting and debt underwriting. In addition, we
increased our participation in private and structured
transactions.

Portfolio management and advisory fees increased by
CHF 344 million to CHF 5,895 million, mainly reflecting an
increase in Wealth Management Americas.

Net brokerage fees fell by CHF 271 million, primarily in
the Investment Bank due to a lower level of client activity.

Merger and acquisition and corporate finance fees
decreased by CHF 313 million due to a lower volume of

transactions.
= Refer to “Note 4 Net fee and commission income” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information

Other income
Other income was CHF 641 million compared with CHF
1,467 million in the previous year.

In 2012, net revenues from financial investments
available-for-sale were CHF 308 million, which included
CHF 272 million in gains from Corporate Center — Core
Functions, as well as a gain
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of CHF 101 million in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio mainly
related to the sale of an equity investment. In 2011, net
revenues from financial investments available-for-sale were
CHF 887 million, which included a gain of CHF 722 million
from the sale of our strategic investment portfolio as well as
net gains of CHF 141 million in Corporate Center — Core
Functions.

Other income from associates and subsidiaries was CHF
81 million compared with CHF 44 million, mainly related to
higher revenues from our participation in the SIX Group.

Other income in 2012 further included gains of CHF
112 million on sales of Swiss real estate compared with a
gain of CHF 78 million on sale of a property in Switzerland
in 2011. Other income in 2011 included net gains of CHF

344 million from the sale of loans and receivables.
= Refer to “Note 5 Other income” in the “Financial information”
section of this report for more information

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses increased by CHF 4,734 million
to CHF 27,216 million, mainly due to impairment losses of
CHF 3,064 million on goodwill and other non-financial
assets and CHF 2,273 million higher net charges for
provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar matters. The
appreciation of the US dollar and British pound against the
Swiss franc also contributed to the overall increase. These
increases were partly offset by a credit to personnel
expenses of CHF 730 million related to changes to our
Swiss pension plan and a credit to personnel expenses of
CHF 116 million related to changes to our retiree benefit
plans in the US. Net restructuring charges were CHF
371 million in 2012 compared with CHF 380 million in 2011.

= Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information on
restructuring charges

Personnel expenses

Personnel expenses decreased by CHF 897 million to CHF
14,737 million. In 2012, personnel expenses included a
credit of CHF 730 million related to changes to our Swiss
pension plan and a credit of CHF 116 million related to
changes to our retiree benefit plans in the US. Net
personnel-related  restructuring charges were CHF
358 million in 2012 compared with CHF 261 million in 2011.
Excluding the effects of restructuring and the credits related
to the Swiss and US benefit plans, personnel expenses
decreased by CHF 148 million, despite the appreciation of
the US dollar and British pound against the Swiss franc.

On this adjusted basis, expenses for performance awards
declined by CHF 577 milion to CHF 2,885 million.
Expenses relating to 2012 performance awards recognized
in the performance year 2012 were CHF 1,724 million,
down CHF 123 million from the prior year, reflecting a 7%
decrease in the overall performance award pool for the
2012 performance year. The amortization of



deferred compensation awards from prior years decreased
by CHF 454 million to CHF 1,161 million.

Other variable compensation excluding restructuring
charges increased by CHF 51 million, reflecting increased
expenses for employee retention, including costs related to
a special plan award program.

Salary expenses, excluding restructuring, decreased by
CHF 78 million, partly related to a one-time net credit of
CHF 31 million from changes to the rules for the Swiss
long-service and sabbatical awards.

Financial advisor compensation in Wealth Management
Americas increased by CHF 354 million excluding
restructuring reflecting higher revenue production and
higher compensation commitments with recruited financial

advisors.

=> Refer to “Note 6 Personnel expenses” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information

= Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit
plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information

=> Refer to “Note 29 Equity participation and other compensation
plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information

=> Refer to the “Compensation” section of this report for more
information

General and administrative expenses
General and administrative expenses were CHF 8,653
million in 2012 compared with CHF 5,959 million in 2011.

Net charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and
similar matters increased by CHF 2,273 million, primarily as
a result of charges for provisions arising from fines and
disgorgement resulting from regulatory investigations
concerning LIBOR and other benchmark rates and claims
related to sales of residential mortgage-backed securities.

Costs for outsourcing of information technology and other
services increased by CHF 206 million due to higher
business demand.

Expenses for marketing and public relations increased by
CHF 135 million, partly due to expenditures related to our
150th anniversary, and professional fees increased by CHF
86 million. In 2012, no general and administrative
restructuring charges were recorded compared with net
charges of CHF 93 million in 2011.

= Refer to “Note 7 General and administrative expenses” in the
“Financial information” section of this report for more information

= Refer to “Note 22 Provisions and contingent liabilities” in the
“Financial information” section of this report for more information

Depreciation, impairment and amortization
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment
was CHF 689 million, a decrease of CHF 72 million from
the prior year, mainly reflecting lower depreciation of
information technology equipment.

Impairment of goodwill was CHF 3,030 million in 2012.

Financial and operating performance

Amortization and impairment of intangible assets was
CHF 106 million compared with CHF 127 million. In 2012,
we recorded impairment charges of CHF 17 million. In
2011, impairment charges were CHF 37 million, mainly

related to a past acquisition in the UK.
=> Refer to “Note 17 Goodwill and intangible assets” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information

Tax

We recognized a net income tax expense in the income
statement for the year of CHF 461 million. This included a
Swiss current tax expense of CHF 95 million, which relates
to taxable profits, against which no losses were available to
offset, earned by Swiss subsidiaries and also from the sale
of real estate. The net income tax expense for the year also
includes a Swiss deferred tax expense of CHF 23 million,
which relates to a decrease in recognized deferred tax
assets due to Swiss pre-tax profits earned during the year,
offset by Swiss tax relief for the impairment of goodwill. In
addition, it includes a foreign net current tax expense of
CHF 72 million, which relates to a tax expense in respect of
taxable profits earned by non-Swiss subsidiaries and
branches, against which no losses were available to offset,
which were partly offset by a tax benefit from the release of
provisions in respect of tax positions which were previously
uncertain. Finally, the net income tax expense for the year
includes a foreign deferred tax expense of CHF 271 million,
which mainly reflects a tax expense for the amortization of
deferred tax assets, as tax losses were used against

taxable profits.
= Refer to “Note 8 Income taxes” in the “Financial information”
section of this report for more information

Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS
shareholders

Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS
shareholders in 2012 was negative CHF 1,966 million,
reflecting the net loss attributable to UBS shareholders of
CHF 2,480 million, partly offset by positive other
comprehensive income attributable to UBS shareholders of
CHF 514 million.

OCI in 2012 included net OCI gains on defined benefit
plans of CHF 609 million (net of tax). This reflected net pre-
tax OCI gains of CHF 1,023 million, which were almost
entirely due to an increase in the fair value of plan assets of
the Swiss pension plan, partly offset by an income tax
expense of CHF 413 million. Cash flow hedge OCI was
positive CHF 384 million (net of tax), mainly reflecting
decreases in long-term interest rates across all major
currencies, partly offset by the reclassification of net gains
associated with the effective portion of changes in fair value
of hedging derivatives to the income statement. Financial
investments available-for-sale OCl was positive CHF
26 million (net of tax). Foreign currency translation OCI was
a loss of CHF 511 million (net of tax),
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predominantly related to the 2% weakening of the US
dollar against the Swiss franc.

OCI attributable to UBS shareholders in 2011 was
CHF 934 million (net of tax), mainly reflecting positive
cash flow hedge OCI of CHF 1,537 million and foreign
currency translation gains of CHF 722 million, partly
offset by net OCI losses on defined benefit plans of
CHF 1,820 million.

2 Refer to the “Statement of comprehensive income” in the
“Financial information” section of this report for more
information

= Refer to “Note 28 Pension and other post-employment benefit
plans” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information on OCI related to defined benefit plans

Net profit attributable to preferred noteholders

Net profit attributable to preferred noteholders was
CHF 220 million in 2012.

Key figures

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio increased to 106.6% in 2012
compared with 80.7% in the prior year. On an adjusted
basis, the cost/income ratio increased to 89.1% from
86.6%.

Net new money

In Wealth Management, net new money inflows were
CHF 26.3 billion in 2012 compared with CHF 23.5 billion
in 2011. The strongest net inflows were recorded in Asia
Pacific and emerging markets as well as globally from
ultra high net worth clients. Europe reported net outflows
in the offshore business, mainly related to clients from
countries neighboring Switzerland. This was partly offset
by net inflows in the European onshore business.
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Swiss wealth management reported increased net
inflows compared with the prior year.

Wealth Management Americas recorded net new
money inflows of CHF 20.6 billion or USD 22.1 billion in
2012, compared with net new money inflows of
CHF 12.1 billion or USD 14.1 billion in 2011 due to
stronger inflows from net recruiting of financial advisors
as well as financial advisors employed with UBS for
more than one year.

Excluding money market flows, Global Asset
Management recorded net new money outflows of
CHF 5.9 billion in 2012 compared with net inflows of
CHF 9.0 billion in the prior year. Net new money from
third parties was a net outflow of CHF 0.6 billion
compared with a net inflow of CHF 12.2 billion. Net new
money from clients of UBS’s wealth management
businesses was a net outflow of CHF 5.2 billion

compared with a net outflow of CHF 3.1 billion.
2 Refer to the “Wealth Management,” “Wealth Management
Americas” and “Global Asset Management” sections of this
report for more information

Invested assets

Invested assets in Wealth Management rose by CHF 71
billion to CHF 821 billion during the year. Positive market
performance and net new money inflows were partly
offset by negative currency translation effects.

In Wealth Management Americas, invested assets
increased by CHF 63 billion to CHF 772 billion, reflecting
positive market performance and strong net new money
inflows.

Global Asset Management invested assets increased
by CHF 7 bilion to CHF 581 billion, mainly due to
positive market performance, partly offset by net new
money outflows and negative currency translation
effects. The sale, as agreed prior to the acquisition, of
parts of the ING Investment Management business
acquired in Australia in 2011 resulted in a net divestment
of CHF 14 billion of invested assets in 2012.

2 Refer to the “Wealth Management,” “Wealth Management
Americas” and “Global Asset Management” sections of this
report for more information
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Balance sheet

As of 31 December 2013, our balance sheet assets stood at CHF 1,010 billion, a decrease of CHF 250 billion or
20% from 31 December 2012, primarily due to a reduction in positive replacement values (PRV) in Corporate
Center — Non-core and Legacy Portfolio. Funded assets, which represent total assets excluding PRV and
collateral delivered against over-the-counter (OTC) derivatives, decreased by CHF 66 billion to CHF 739 billion,
mainly due to reductions in both collateral trading and trading portfolio assets, primarily reflecting the ongoing
execution of our strategy. Currency effects reduced funded assets by approximately CHF 18 billion.

Balance sheet

% change from

CHF million 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.12
Assets
Cash and balances with central banks 80,879
Due from banks 7470
Cash collateral on securities borrowed 27,496
Reverse repurchase agreements 91,563
Trading portfolio assets 122,848 )

of which: assets pledged as collateral which may be sold or repledged by counterparties 42,449
Positive replacement values 245835
Cash collateral receivables on derivative instruments 28,007
Financial assets designated at fair value 7364
Loans 386,950 .
Financial investments available-for-sale 59,525
Investments in associates 842
Property and equipment 6,006
Goodwill and intangible assets 6.293
Deferred tax assets 8,845
Other agsete 30258
Total assets 1,009,860
Liabilities
Due to banks 12,862
Cash collateral on securities lent 9491
Repurchase agreements T 3811
Trading portfolio liabilities 26,609
Negative replacement values 239,953
Cash collateral payables on derivative instruments 49,138
Financial liabilities designated at fair vaiue 69,901
DUB 10 GUSIOMers 300855
Debtissued 81,586
ProviSions e
Other liabilities 62777
Total liabilities 959,925 1,210,697 (21)
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Balance sheet (continued)

% change from

CHF million 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.12
Equity

Share capital 384

Share premium 33,952

Treasury shares (1,031)

Equity classified as obligation to purchase own shares (46)

Retained earnings 24475

Cumulative net income recognized directly in equity, net of tax (9,733)

Equity attributable to UBS shareholders 48,002

Equity attributable to preferred noteholders 1,893

Equity attributable to non-controlling interests a7

Total equity 49,936 49,100 2
Total liabilities and equity 1,009,860 1,259,797 (20)

Balance sheet development

Non-core and Legacy Portfolio total assets decreased by
CHF 218 billion to CHF 211 billion as of 31 December
2013, mainly reflecting a CHF 170 billion decline in
positive replacement values in Non-core and Legacy
Portfolio, primarily from a reduction in OTC derivative
exposures by means of negotiated bilateral settlements
with  specific counterparties, third-party novations,
including transfers to central clearing houses,
agreements to net down trades with other dealer
counterparties, as well as, to a lesser extent, fair value
changes due to interest rate movements. Non-core

Balance sheet assets: development during 2013
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and Legacy Portfolio funded assets decreased by CHF
39 billion to CHF 22 billion, primarily due to the exit of
government and other liquid bond positions, along with
the sale of a portfolio of distressed assets in Non-core
and sales and redemptions of student loan auction rate
securities in the Legacy Portfolio. Investment Bank total
assets decreased by CHF 21 billion to CHF 241 billion,
and funded assets declined by CHF 23 billion to CHF
162 billion, largely due to lower collateral trading assets
across businesses, as well as due to a reduction in
trading portfolio assets in our foreign exchange, rates
and credit business and a reduction in lending assets in
Corporate Client Solutions. Corporate Center — Core

Balance sheet assets: development 2009-2013
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Total assets and funded assets
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31.12.13 31.12.12
CC - Non- CC - Non-
core and Other core and Other
Investment CC — Core Legacy  business Investment CC — Core Legacy  business
CHF billion Bank  Functions Portfolio divisions UBS Bank  Functions Portfolio divisions UBS
Total IFRS assets 241 247 211 311 1,010 262 263 429 307 1,260
Less: positive replacement values (72) 0 (170) (3) (246) (69) (7) (340) (3) (419
Less: collateral delivered against
OTC derivatives’ (6) 0 (19)2 0 (25) (8) 0 (28)2 0 (36)
Funded assets 162 247 22 307 739 185 256 61 303 805

1 Mainly consists of cash collateral receivables on derivative instruments and reverse repurchase agreements. 2 Non-core: CHF 17 billion as of 31 December
2013 (CHF 27 billion as of 31 December 2012). Legacy Portfolio: CHF 1 billion as of 31 December 2013 (CHF 2 billion as of 31 December 2012).

Functions assets decreased by CHF 16 billion to CHF
247 billion, primarily reflecting lower collateral trading
assets, reduced PRV and sales of mortgage-backed
securities held as financial investments available-for-
sale. The overall size of our multi-currency portfolio of
unencumbered, high-quality, short-term assets managed
centrally by Group Treasury remained stable. Retail &
Corporate total assets decreased by CHF 4 billion to
CHF 141 billion, largely reflecting a reduction in cash
balances. Wealth Management total assets increased by
CHF 5 billion to CHF 110 billion mainly resulting from
increased Lombard and mortgage lending activities.
Wealth Management Americas and Global Asset
Management total assets were broadly unchanged at
CHF 45 billion and CHF 14 billion, respectively.

Cash and balances with central banks

Cash and balances with central banks increased by CHF
14 billion to CHF 81 billion as of 31 December 2013,
mainly due to a rebalancing of our multi-currency
portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality, short-term
assets.

Lending

Loans increased by CHF 7 billion to CHF 287 billion,
predominantly in our wealth management businesses
and mainly reflecting increased Lombard and residential
mortgage lending, partly offset by sales and redemptions
of student loan auction rate securities in the Legacy
Portfolio. Interbank lending was lower by CHF 4 billion,
mainly in the Investment Bank, and financial assets
designated at fair value were reduced by CHF 2 billion,
primarily due to trade terminations in Non-core.

Collateral trading

Collateral trading assets (reverse repurchase
agreements and cash collateral on securities borrowed)
decreased by CHF 49 billion to CHF 119 billion, primarily
due to the rebalancing of our multi-currency portfolio of
unencumbered, high-quality, short-term assets, lower
collateral trading activity in the Investment Bank and a
reduction in externally sourced securities collateral by
Group Treasury.

Collateral trading liabilities (repurchase agreements
and cash collateral on securities lent) were reduced by
CHF 24 billion, reflecting reduced funding requirements.

Trading portfolio

Trading portfolio assets were reduced by CHF 38 billion
to CHF 123 billion, mainly due to a CHF 34 billion
decrease in debt instruments held, primarily reflecting
lower government, corporate and mortgage-backed
securities debt, and a reduction of CHF 8 billion in
precious metal holdings, partly offset by a CHF 4 billion
client-driven increase in equity instruments. A majority of
the reduction in trading portfolio assets occurred in Non-
core, reflecting the ongoing execution of our strategy.

Trading portfolio liabilities were lower by CHF 8 billion,
primarily reflecting reduced government debt and
corporate bonds short sales.

Replacement values

Positive and negative replacement values declined on
both sides of the balance sheet, decreasing by CHF
173 billion or 41% and CHF 155 billion or 39% to CHF
246 billion and CHF 240 billion,

91



Financial and operating performance
Balance sheet

respectively. Decreases in positive replacement values
mainly occurred in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio,
primarily from a reduction in OTC derivative exposures
by means of negotiated bilateral settlements with
specific counterparties, third-party novations, including
transfers to central clearing houses, agreements to net
down trades with other dealer counterparties, as well as,
to a lesser extent, fair value changes due to interest rate
movements.  Similarly, decreases in  negative
replacement values also mainly occurred in interest rate
contracts in Non-core and Legacy Portfolio.

Financial investments available-for-sale

Financial investments available-for-sale were reduced
by CHF 7 billion to CHF 60 billion, mainly reflecting
lower holdings of government debt as well as sales of
mortgage-backed securities.

Short-term borrowings

Short-term borrowings (short-term debt issued and due
to banks) decreased by CHF 15 billion to CHF 40 billion,
primarily due to lower interbank precious metal accounts
recognized on our balance sheet, combined with
reduced funding requirements. The reduction in short-
term debt issued primarily occurred in commercial paper
and client customized issuances, partly offset by an

increase in certificates of deposit.
= Refer to the “Treasury management” section of this report for
more information

Balance sheet liabilities: development during 2013
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Due to customers

Customer deposits increased by CHF 17 billion to CHF
391 billion as Wealth Management, Wealth Management
Americas and Retail & Corporate all continued to attract

client money into both current and deposit accounts.
= Refer to the “Treasury management” section of this report for
more information

Long-term debt

Long-term debt decreased by CHF 40 billion to CHF 124
billion, primarily resulting from a CHF 22 billion reduction
in financial liabilities designated at fair value, mainly in
the Investment Bank and Non-core and Legacy Portfolio.
Long-term debt issued held at amortized cost was
reduced by CHF 18 billion, primarily due to decreases in
senior debt. As part of our reduction in wholesale
funding, we successfully completed two cash tender
offers during 2013 to repurchase certain subordinated

and senior unsecured bonds.
= Refer to the “Treasury management” section of this report for
more information

Other assets/Other liabilities

Other assets were largely unchanged at CHF 70 billion,
mainly as a CHF 3 billion increase in prime brokerage
receivables was mostly offset by a CHF 2 billion
reduction in cash collateral receivables on derivative
instruments.

Balance sheet liabilities and equity: development 2009-2013
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Other liabilities decreased by CHF 25 billion to CHF
115 billion, primarily due to a CHF 22 billion reduction in
cash collateral payables on derivative instruments.

Equity

Equity attributable to UBS shareholders increased by
CHF 2,053 milion to CHF 48,002 million as of
31 December 2013 from CHF 45,949 million a year
earlier. Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS
shareholders was CHF 1,961 million, reflecting the net

profit attributable to UBS shareholders of CHF
3,172 million, partly offset by negative other
comprehensive income (OCI) attributable to UBS

shareholders of CHF 1,211 million (net of tax). OCI
included foreign currency translation losses of CHF
471 million as well as negative OCI movements related
to cash flow hedges and financial investments available-
for-sale of CHF 1,520 million and CHF 154 million,
respectively, partly offset by net gains on defined benefit
plans of CHF 939 million. Share premium increased

Financial and operating performance

by CHF 54 million, mainly reflecting an increase of CHF
305 million related to employee share and share option
plans and treasury share gains of CHF 203 million,
partly offset by the payment of CHF 564 million to UBS
shareholders out of the capital contribution reserve. Net
treasury share activity increased equity attributable to
UBS shareholders by CHF 41 million.

=> Refer to the “Statement of changes in equity” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information

= Refer to “Total comprehensive income attributable to UBS
shareholders” in the “Group performance” section of this
report for more information

Intra-period balances

Balance sheet positions disclosed in this section
represent year-end positions. Intra-period balance sheet
positions fluctuate in the ordinary course of business
and may differ from quarter-end and year-end positions.

Equity attributable to UBS shareholders: development during 2013
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Off-balance sheet

Off-balance sheet arrangements

In the normal course of business, we enter into
transactions that may not be fully recognized on the
balance sheet due to the International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) accounting treatment
adopted for the arrangement entered into. These
transactions include derivative instruments, guarantees
and similar arrangements, as well as purchased and
retained interests in non-consolidated structured entities
(SE), which are transacted for a number of reasons,
including market-making and hedging activities, to meet
specific needs of our clients or to offer investment
opportunities to clients through entities that are not
controlled by us.

When we, through these arrangements, incur an
obligation or become entitled to an asset, we recognize
these on the balance sheet. It should be noted that in
certain instances the amount recognized on the balance
sheet does not represent the full gain or loss potential

inherent in such arrangements.

= Refer to “Note 1a) 3) Subsidiaries and structured entities” and
“Note 1a) 5) Recognition and derecognition of financial
instruments” in the “Financial information” section of this
report for more information on accounting policies regarding
consolidation and deconsolidation of subsidiaries, including
structured entities, and recognition and derecognition of
financial instruments, respectively

- Refer to “Note 30 Interests in subsidiaries and other entities” in
the “Financial information” section of this report for more
information on our interests in, and maximum exposure to loss
from, unconsolidated structured entities

The following paragraphs provide more information on
several distinct off-balance sheet arrangements.
Additional off-balance sheet information is primarily
provided in “Note 14 Derivative instruments and hedge
accounting,” “Note 22 Provisions and contingent
liabilities,” “Note 25 Restricted and transferred financial
assets,” “Note 30 Interests in subsidiaries and other
entities” and “Note 33 Operating lease commitments” in
the “Financial information” section and in the
“Supplemental disclosures required under Basel Il Pillar
3 regulations” section of this report.

Risk disclosures, including our involvement with
off-balance sheet vehicles

Refer to the “Risk, treasury and capital management”
section of this report for comprehensive liquidity, market
and credit risk information related to risk positions, which
includes our exposures to off-balance sheet vehicles.

Support provided to non-consolidated investment funds
In 2013, the Group did not provide material support,
financial or otherwise, to unconsolidated investment
funds when the Group

was not contractually obligated to do so, nor does the
Group have an intention to do so.

Guarantees and similar arrangements

In the normal course of business, we issue various
forms of guarantees, commitments to extend credit,
standby and other letters of credit to support our clients,
commitments to enter into forward starting transactions,
note issuance facilities and revolving underwriting
facilities. With the exception of related premiums,
generally these guarantees and similar obligations are
kept as off-balance sheet items unless a provision to
cover probable losses is required.

As of 31 December 2013, the net exposure (gross
values less sub-participations) from guarantees and
similar instruments was CHF 15.8 billion, compared with
CHF 17.8 billion as of 31 December 2012. Fee income
from issuing guarantees was not significant to total
revenues in 2013.

Guarantees represent irrevocable assurances, subject
to the satisfaction of certain conditions, that we will make
a payment in the event that clients fail to fulfill their
obligations to third parties. We also enter into
commitments to extend credit in the form of credit lines
that are available to secure the liquidity needs of clients.
The majority of these unutilized credit lines range in
maturity from one month to five years. If customers fail
to meet their obligations, our maximum exposure to
credit risk is the contractual amount of these
instruments. The risk is similar to the risk involved in
extending loan facilities and is subject to the same risk
management and control framework. For the year ended
31 December 2013, we recognized net credit loss
recoveries of CHF 2 million, compared with net credit
loss recoveries of CHF 16 million for the year ended
31 December 2012, related to obligations incurred for
guarantees and loan commitments. Provisions
recognized for guarantees and loan commitments were
CHF 61 million as of 31 December 2013 and CHF
64 million as of 31 December 2012.

For certain obligations, we enter into partial sub-
participations to mitigate various risks from guarantees
and loan commitments. A sub-participation is an
agreement by another party to take a share of the loss in
the event that the obligation is not fulfilled by the obligor
and, where applicable, to fund a part of the credit facility.
We retain the contractual relationship with the obligor,
and the sub-participant has only an indirect relationship.
We will only enter into sub-participation agreements with
banks to which we ascribe a credit rating equal to or
better than that of the obligor.

Furthermore, we provide representations, warranties
and indemnifications to third parties in the normal course
of business.
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Clearing house and exchange memberships

We are a member of numerous securities and derivative
exchanges and clearing houses. In connection with
some of those memberships, we may be required to pay
a share of the financial obligations
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Financial instruments not recognized on the balance sheet

The table below shows the maximum irrevocable amount of guarantees, commitments and forward starting transactions.

31.12.13 31.12.12
Sub- Sub-
CHF million Gross  participations Net Gross  participations Net
Guarantees

Credit guarantees and similar instruments

Performance guarantees and similar instruments

Documentary credits

76447 (1,599) 6,044 8,072 (660) 7,412

Total guarantees

18,798 (2,975) 15,823 20,058 (2,223) 17,835

Commitments

Loan commitments

Underwriting commitments

Total commitments

Forward starting transactions’

Reverse repurchase agreements

Securities borrowing agreements

Repurchase agreements

1 Cash to be paid in the future by either UBS or the counterparty.

of another member who defaults, or we may be
otherwise exposed to additional financial obligations.
While the membership rules vary, obligations generally
would arise only if the exchange or clearing house had
exhausted its resources. We consider the probability of a
material loss due to such obligations to be remote.

Swiss deposit insurance

Swiss banking law and the deposit insurance system
require Swiss banks and securities dealers to jointly
guarantee an amount of up to CHF 6 billion for privileged
client deposits in the event that a Swiss bank or
securities dealer becomes insolvent. The Swiss
Financial Market Supervisory Authority (FINMA)
estimates our share in the deposit insurance system to
be CHF 0.9 billion. The deposit insurance is a guarantee
and exposes us to additional risk. This is not reflected in
the table above due to its unique characteristics. As of
31 December 2013, we consider the probability of a
material loss from our obligation to be remote.

Underwriting commitments

Gross equity underwriting commitments as of
31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 amounted to
CHF 0.8 billion and CHF 0.2

Contractual obligations

billion, respectively. Gross debt and private equity
underwriting commitments as of 31 December 2013 and
31 December 2012 were not material.

Contractual obligations

The table below summarizes payments due by period
under contractual obligations as of 31 December 2013.

All contracts included in this table, with the exception
of purchase obligations (i.e., those in which we are
committed to purchasing determined volumes of goods
and services), are either recognized as liabilities on our
balance sheet or, in the case of operating leases,
disclosed in “Note 33 Operating lease commitments” in
the “Financial information” section of this report.

Long-term debt obligations as of 31 December 2013
were CHF 136 billion and consisted of financial liabilities
designated at fair value (CHF 73 billion) and long-term
debt issued (CHF 64 billion) and represent both
estimated future interest and principal payments on an
undiscounted basis. Refer to “Note 27b Maturity analysis
of financial liabilities” in the “Financial information”
section of this report for more information. Approximately
half of total long-term

Payment due by period

CHF million

1-3 years 3-5 years > 5 years

Long-term debt obligations

30,448 37,672 27,479 40,972

Finance lease obligations

Operating lease obligations

Purchase obligations

Other liabilities

{58 8 g

Total

32,785 39,869 28,939 43,532
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debt obligations had a variable rate of interest. Amounts
due on interest rate swaps used to hedge interest rate
risk inherent in fixed-rate debt issued, and designated in
fair value hedge accounting relationships, are not
included in the table on the previous page. The notional
amount of these interest rate swaps was CHF 31 billion
as of 31 December 2013. Financial liabilities designated
at fair value (CHF 73 billion on an undiscounted cash
flow basis) mostly consist of structured notes and are
generally economically hedged, but it would not be
practicable to estimate the amount and/or timing of the
payments on interest swaps used to hedge these
instruments as interest rate risk inherent in respective
liabilities is generally risk managed on a portfolio level.
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Within  purchase obligations, the obligation to
employees under mandatory notice periods is excluded
(i.e., the period in which we must pay contractually
agreed salaries to employees leaving the firm).

Our obligations recognized on the balance sheet as
Due to banks, Cash collateral on securities lent,
Repurchase agreements, Trading portfolio liabilities,
Negative replacement values, Cash collateral payables
on derivative instruments, Due to customers, Provisions
and Other liabilities are excluded from the table on the
previous page. Refer to the respective Notes in the
“Financial information” section of this report for more
information on these liabilities.
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As a global financial institution, our cash flows are complex and may bear little relation to our net earnings and
net assets. Consequently, we believe that traditional cash flow analysis is less meaningful in evaluating our
liquidity position than the liquidity, funding and capital management polices described within the “Risk, treasury
and capital management” section of this report. Cash flow analysis may, however, be helpful in highlighting
certain macro trends and strategic initiatives in our businesses.

Statement of cash flows (condensed)

For the year ended

CHF million

31.12.13 31.12.12

Net cash flow from/(used in) operating activities

...54325 | 67,160

Net cash flow from/(used in) investing activities

Net cash flow from/(used in) financing activities

Effects of exchange rate differences on cash and cash equivalents (2,702) (673)
Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 9,524 13,500
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 108,632 99,108

As of 31 December 2013, cash and cash equivalents
totaled CHF 108.6 billion, an increase of CHF 9.5 billion
from 31 December 2012.

Operating activities

For the year ended 31 December 2013, net cash inflow
generated from operating activities was CHF 54.3 billion,
primarily due to the deleveraging of our balance sheet,
compared with net cash inflow from operating activities
of CHF 67.2 billion in 2012. Net operating cash inflow
(before changes in operating assets and liabilities and
income taxes paid, net of refunds) totaled CHF
12.4 billion in 2013 compared with net operating cash
infow of CHF 11.2 billion in 2012. In 2013, net cash
infow of CHF 42.4 billion was generated by the overall
decrease in operating assets and liabilities. Gross cash
infows of CHF 99.9 billion primary resulted from the
reduction of cash collateral on securities borrowed and
reverse  repurchase agreement assets (CHF
43.8 billion), and from the reduction of trading portfolio,
replacement values and financial assets designated at
fair value balances (CHF 44.1 billion). Key components
of the gross cash outflows of CHF 57.6 billion were the
reduction of cash collateral on securities lent and
repurchase agreement liabilities (CHF 23.7 billion), as
well as the reduction of cash collateral on derivative
instruments balances (CHF 22.4 billion).

Investing activities

Net cash inflow from investing activities was CHF
5.5 billion in 2013 compared with a net cash outflow of
CHF 14.9 billion in 2012. The 2013 cash inflow was
primarily due to the net divestment of financial
investments available-for-sale of CHF 6.0 billion. This
includes gross cash inflow from sales and maturities of
CHF 7.3 billion and gross cash outflow from purchases
of CHF 3.5 billion predominantly related to longer-term
US asset-backed securities held as financial
investments available-for-sale. The remaining net cash
infow of CHF 2.2 billion almost entirely related to our
multi-currency portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality,
short-term assets managed centrally by Group Treasury.

Financing activities

Net cash flow used in financing activities was CHF
47.6 billion in 2013, primarily due to the net repayment
of long-term debt and financial liabilities designated at
fair value of CHF 40.9 billion (issuances less
redemptions). Furthermore, the net redemption of short-
term debt generated cash outflows of CHF 4.3 billion,
dividends paid and redemptions of preferred notes led to
cash outflows of CHF 1.4 billion and dividends of CHF
0.6 billion were paid to UBS shareholders. In 2012,
financing activities generated net cash outflows of CHF
38.1 billion.

= Refer to the “Statement of cash flows” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for more information
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Wealth Management

Profit before tax was CHF 2,247 million in 2013, a decrease of CHF 160 million compared with CHF 2,407 million
in 2012. Operating expenses included restructuring charges of CHF 178 million in 2013, while the prior year
included a credit to personnel expenses of CHF 358 million related to changes to our pension and retiree benefit
plans as well as restructuring charges of CHF 26 million. Adjusted for these items, profit before tax increased by
CHF 350 million to CHF 2,425 million, reflecting CHF 522 million higher operating income, partly offset by a CHF
172 million increase in adjusted operating expenses, which included a charge in relation to the Swiss-UK tax
agreement of CHF 107 million. The gross margin on invested assets declined by 1 basis point to 88 basis points.
Net new money was CHF 35.9 billion compared with CHF 26.3 billion in the prior year.

Business division reporting’

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12
Net interest income 2,061 1,951 1,968 6
Net fee and commission income e 4,648 4275 4,363 9
Nottrading ingome 07 g 678 u
Other income 57 37 425 54
Income 7,573 7,040 7,634 8
B i 0). .............. g e
Total operating income 7,563 7,041 7,645 7
Personnel expenses 3,371 2,865 3,300 18
General and administrative expenses e 1,650 1,360 1,192 21
Services (to)/from other business divisions 97 243 318 (6“(')")”
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment T 190 159 165 19
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets g 7 37 14
Total operating expenses2 5,316 4,634 5,012 15
Business division operating profit/(loss) before tax 2,247 2,407 2,633 (7)

Key performance indicators®

Pre-taX IOl QI oWt (%) (66) 8.6)
COSt NGO 18t (%) 702 ...658 .
Net new money growth (%)% 44 35

Gross margin on invested assets (bps)® 88 89 101 (1)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes
and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new accounting standards. 2 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial information” section
of this report for information on restructuring charges. 2 For the definitions of our key performance indicators, refer to the “Measurement of performance” section
of this report. 4 Net new money excludes interest and dividend income. 5 Excludes any effect on profit or loss from a property fund (2013: loss of CHF
10 million, 2012: gain of CHF 4 million, 2011: loss of CHF 22 million).
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As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12

Additional information

Recurring income

Recurring income as a % of income (%)

Average attributed equity (CHF billion)?

Return on attributed equity (ROAE) (%)

Risk-weighted assets (phase-in, CHF billion)3

Risk-weighted assets (fully applied, CHF billion)3

Return on risk-weighted assets, gross (%)%

Swiss SRB leverage ratio denominator (phase-in, CHF billion)®
Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion)

Net new money (CHF billion)®

Invested assets (CHF billion)

Client assets (CHF billion)

Loans, gross (CHF billion)

Due to customers (CHF billion)

Personnel (full-time equivalents)

Client advisors (full-time equivalents)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes
and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new accounting standards. 2 Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information on
the equity attribution framework. 3 Based on the Basel Il framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December
2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information. 4 Based on Basel IlI risk-weighted assets (phase-
in) for 2013. Based on Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets for 2012. 5 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure” and is
calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months
preceding the end of the reporting period. Data as of 31 December 2012 are not available on a reporting segment level due to organizational changes. Refer to
the “Capital management” section of this report for more information.  Net new money excludes interest and dividend income.

Regional breakdown of key figures?:2

of which: of which:

Emerging ultra high Global Family
As of or for the year ended 31.12.13 Europe Asia Pacific Switzerland markets net worth Office®
Net new money (CHF billion)* 1.9 18.5 6.2 9.4 33.6 8.3
Net new money growth (%)* '
Invested assets (CHF billion) 363 218 160 135 416
Gross margin on invested assets (bps)
Client advisors (full-time equivalents) T 1,620 1,032 761 688 8926

1 For the definitions of our key performance indicators, refer to the “Measurement of performance” section of this report. ¢ Based on the Wealth Management
business area structure, and excluding minor functions with 63 client advisors, CHF 10 billion of invested assets, and CHF 0.1 billion of net new money
outflows. 3 Joint venture between Wealth Management and the Investment Bank. Global Family Office is reported as a sub-segment of ultra high net worth and
is included in the ultra high net worth figures. # Net new money excludes interest and dividend income. 5 Gross margin includes income booked in the
Investment Bank. Gross margin only based on income booked in Wealth Management was 20 basis points.  Dedicated ultra high net worth units: 638 client
advisors. Non-dedicated ultra high net worth units: 254 client advisors.
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2013 compared with 2012

Results

Operating income

Total operating income was CHF 7,563 million compared with
CHF 7,041 million in 2012, primarily due to higher net fee and
commission income, as well as higher net interest income.

Net interest income increased by CHF 110 million to CHF
2,061 million, mainly due to revenues of CHF 110 million
allocated from the repurchase agreement unit within Group
Treasury in Corporate Center — Core Functions. Previously,
such revenues were not allocated to the business divisions.
The increase in net interest income was also due to lower
costs related to the multi-currency portfolio of unencumbered,
high-quality, short-term assets managed centrally by Group
Treasury. These factors, together with higher income resulting
from increased loan and client deposit volumes, more than
offset the negative effect of a lower deposit margin resulting
from the ongoing low interest rate environment.

Net fee and commission income increased by CHF
373 million to CHF 4,648 million, mainly due to higher
recurring net fee and commission income, which primarily
resulted from a 10% increase in average invested assets,
pricing adjustments and sales efforts. These positive effects
were partly offset by the negative effect of the migration to
retrocession-free products for investment mandates during
2013, as well as lower income due to ongoing outflows of
assets from cross-border clients. Non-recurring net fee and
commission income increased due to higher client activity
levels, particularly in Asia Pacific, in the first half of 2013.

Net trading income increased by CHF 29 million to CHF
807 million and included higher income from foreign
exchange-related products and increased treasury-related
income, partly offset by lower income from precious metals.

Other income increased to CHF 57 million from CHF
37 million and included higher revenues for other services, as
well as a gain of CHF 25 million related to the divestment of
our participation in Euroclear Plc. This was partly offset by
impairments of CHF 10 million related to our global property
fund compared with gains of CHF 4 million in 2012.

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses were CHF 5,316 million, an increase
of CHF 682 million from the prior year. Restructuring charges
were CHF 178 million compared with CHF 26 million in 2012.
Adjusted for restructuring charges and the aforementioned
credit related to changes to our pension and retiree benefit
plans of CHF 358 million, operating expenses increased by
CHF 172 million to CHF 5,138 million, mainly as 2013
included a charge in relation to the Swiss-UK tax agreement of
CHF 107 million.

Personnel expenses increased to CHF 3,371 million from
CHF 2,865 million. Excluding restructuring charges and the
credit related to changes to our pension and retiree benefit
plans,
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personnel expenses increased by CHF 102 million to CHF
3,300 million. This increase included CHF 120 million higher
personnel expenses due to the centralization of our operations
units and higher variable compensation expenses, partly offset
by lower personnel expenses related to technology and
control functions. The centralization of our operations units
from the business divisions in the Corporate Center in July
2012 and the subsequent reallocation of the operations units
resulted in increased personnel expenses and general and
administrative expenses, offset by decreased net charges
from other business divisions as Retail & Corporate previously
provided significant services to Wealth Management, which

are now provided by the Corporate Center.
=> Refer to the “Significant accounting and financial reporting structure
changes” section of our Annual Report 2012 for more information on
changes related to the centralization of operations units

General and administrative expenses increased by CHF
290 million to CHF 1,650 million. This included restructuring
charges of CHF 100 million compared with zero in the prior
year. Excluding restructuring charges, general and
administrative expenses increased by CHF 190 million, mainly
due to the aforementioned CHF 107 million charge in relation
to the Swiss-UK tax agreement, CHF 36 million higher
expenses related to the aforementioned centralization of
operations units as well as slightly higher marketing and
branding expenses.

Charges for services from other business divisions
decreased to CHF 97 million from CHF 243 million, mainly due
to CHF 157 million lower allocations following the
aforementioned centralization of operations units.

Depreciation was CHF 190 million compared with CHF
159 million, largely due to higher amortization of capitalized
software, an impairment of capitalized software and
restructuring charges of CHF 7 million compared with zero in
the prior year. Amortization of intangible assets was CHF
8 million, a slight increase from CHF 7 million.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 70.2% compared with 65.8% in the
prior year. Excluding restructuring charges and the effect from
the credit related to changes to our pension and retiree benefit
plans in 2012, the cost/income ratio improved to 67.8% from
70.5% and was within our target range of 60% to 70%.

Net new money growth

The net new money growth rate increased to 4.4% from 3.5%
and was near the higher end of our target range of 3% to 5%.
All regions contributed to net inflows of CHF 35.9 billion in
2013. The strongest net inflows were recorded in Asia Pacific
followed by emerging markets, Switzerland and Europe. Net
inflows in the European onshore and the Swiss-based Gilobal
Family Office business in Europe more than offset net
outflows in the European cross-border business, which was
negatively affected by ongoing asset outflows



in the context of fiscal and regulatory concerns. On a
global basis, net new money from ultra high net worth
clients was CHF 33.6 billion compared with CHF 19.9
billion in the prior year.

Invested assets

Invested assets were CHF 886 bilion as of
31 December 2013, representing an increase of CHF 65
billion from 31 December 2012. Net new money inflows
of CHF 36 billion and positive market performance of
CHF 34 billion were slightly offset by negative currency
translation effects of CHF 4 billion.

Gross margin on invested assets

The gross margin on invested assets decreased by 1
basis point to 88 basis points, as the increase in average
invested assets outpaced the increase in revenues. The
gross margin was below our

Financial and operating performance

target range of 95 to 105 basis points. The calculation
excludes any effect on profit or loss from a property
fund.

Personnel

Wealth Management employed 16,414 personnel as of
31 December 2013 compared with 16,210 as of

31 December 2012, mainly reflecting an increase in non-
client-facing staff.

The number of client advisors increased to 4,164 from
4,128, primarily in the key strategic growth areas of Asia
Pacific and emerging markets, partly offset by reductions
in Switzerland. The number of client advisors in Europe
remained stable. The increase in non-client-facing staff
was mainly recorded in Asia Pacific and emerging
markets, in line with the increase in the number of client
advisors.
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2012 compared with 2011

Results

Profit before tax was CHF 2,407 million in 2012 compared
with CHF 2,633 million in the prior year, which included a
gain of CHF 433 million from the sale of our strategic
investment portfolio in the third quarter of 2011. Operating
expenses in 2012 included a credit to personnel
expenses of CHF 358 million related to changes to our
pension and retiree benefit plans. Adjusted for these two
items and restructuring charges, profit before tax
decreased by CHF 207 million to CHF 2,075 million,
partly reflecting that the prior year benefited from CHF
103 million of accrued interest from the aforementioned
strategic investment portfolio. Net new money was CHF
26.3 billion compared with CHF 23.5 billion.

Operating income

Total operating income was CHF 7,041 million in 2012
compared with CHF 7,645 million in 2011. Adjusted for
the gain on the sale of our strategic investment portfolio,
total operating income declined by CHF 171 million,
mainly because 2011 included CHF 103 million of interest
income stemming from the aforementioned strategic
investment portfolio.

Net interest income decreased by CHF 17 million to
CHF 1,951 million, mainly as the prior year included CHF
103 million of interest income stemming from the
abovementioned strategic investment portfolio. Moreover,
net interest income was negatively affected by increased
costs of CHF 69 million related to the multi-currency
portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality, short-term assets
managed centrally by Group Treasury and CHF 22 million
lower allocations related to investment proceeds from the
firm’s equity. These factors were largely offset by CHF
180 million higher product-related interest income,
reflecting the beneficial effects of increases in client
deposit and lending volumes.

Net fee and commission income declined by CHF
88 million to CHF 4,275 million, mainly due to lower
recurring fees on discretionary business, investment
funds and non-asset based fees, primarily resulting from
the ongoing outflows of assets from cross-border clients.
This was partly offset by 2% higher transaction-based
fees due to increased client activity levels in Asia Pacific
throughout the year.

Net trading income decreased by CHF 100 million to
CHF 778 million, primarily due to lower treasury-related
income and lower client activity levels following reduced
volatility in the foreign exchange market.

Other income was CHF 37 million compared with CHF
425 million in 2011, mainly as the prior year included the
abovementioned gain on the sale of our strategic
investment portfolio.
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Operating expenses

Total operating expenses were CHF 4,634 million, a
decrease of CHF 378 million from the prior vyear.
Restructuring charges were CHF 26 million, down from
CHF 82 million in the previous year. Adjusted for these
restructuring charges and the aforementioned credit
related to changes to our pension and retiree benefit
plans, operating expenses increased by CHF 36 million to
CHF 4,966 million.

Personnel expenses decreased to CHF 2,865 million
from CHF 3,300 million in the prior year. Excluding the
abovementioned factors, personnel expenses decreased
by CHF 38 million, primarily reflecting lower variable
compensation expenses as well as reduced personnel
expenses related to technology and operations costs.
This was partly offset by higher personnel expenses of
CHF 129 million due to the aforementioned centralization
of operations units in July 2012. As Retail & Corporate
previously provided significant services to Wealth
Management, the centralization and subsequent
reallocation of operations units had the effect of reducing
net charges from other business divisions and increasing
personnel and non-personnel costs in 2012.

General and administrative expenses were CHF
1,360 million compared with CHF 1,192 million in the prior
year. This included higher investment in marketing and
branding and increased charges for provisions for
litigation, regulatory and similar matters. Further, the
aforementioned centralization of operations units in 2012
led to increased expenses of CHF 45 million in 2012.

Charges for services from other business divisions
decreased to CHF 243 million from CHF 318 million,
mainly due to the CHF 175 million lower allocations from
the aforementioned centralization of operations units,
partly offset by higher allocations from other business
transfers.

Depreciation was CHF 159 million compared with CHF
165 million in the prior year. Amortization of intangible
assets was CHF 7 million, a decrease from CHF
37 million in 2011, which included the impairment of
intangible assets related to a past acquisition in the UK.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 65.8% in 2012. On an adjusted
basis excluding restructuring charges, the effect of the
credit related to changes to our pension and retiree
benefit plans in 2012 and the gain from the sale of the
strategic investment portfolio in 2011, the cost/income
ratio increased 2.0 percentage points to 70.5% and was
above our target range of 60% to 70%.

Net new money growth
The net new money growth rate increased to 3.5% from
3.1% and remained within our target range of 3% to 5%.
The strongest net inflows were recorded in Asia Pacific
and emerging markets,



as well as globally from ultra high net worth clients.
Europe reported net outflows in the offshore business,
mainly related to clients from countries neighboring
Switzerland. This was partly offset by net inflows in the
European onshore business. Swiss wealth management
reported increased net inflows compared with the prior
year.

Invested assets

Invested assets were CHF 821 bilion as of
31 December 2012, representing an increase of CHF 71
billion from 31 December 2011. Positive market
performance and net new money inflows were partly
offset by negative currency translation effects, mainly
resulting from a slight strengthening of the Swiss franc
against the US dollar and the euro.

Gross margin on invested assets

In 2012, the gross margin on invested assets decreased
12 basis points to 89 basis points. Adjusted for the
aforementioned gain on the sale of the strategic
investment portfolio in the prior year,

Financial and operating performance

the gross margin declined 7 basis points to 89 basis
points and was below our target range of 95 to 105 basis
points. The gross margin calculation excludes any effect
on profit or loss from a property fund.

Personnel

Wealth Management employed 16,210 personnel as of
31 December 2012 compared with 15,904 as of
31 December 2011. The aforementioned centralization
and subsequent reallocation of personnel from
operations units led to an increase of personnel.
Excluding this effect, the number of non-client-advisor
staff and client advisors decreased, mainly reflecting
measures taken as a part of our cost reduction program
announced in July 2011.

The number of client advisors decreased to 4,128
from 4,202 in the prior year due to reductions in more
established markets, partly offset by further increases in
the strategic growth areas of Asia Pacific and emerging
markets.
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Wealth Management Americas

Profit before tax was a record USD 927 million in 2013 compared with the prior record of USD 638 million in 2012.
Adjusted for the effects of restructuring in both years as well as a credit in 2012 related to changes to our retiree
benefit plans in the US, profit before tax increased to USD 991 million from USD 635 million. The adjusted result
reflected a 12% increase in revenues due to higher recurring income and a 7% increase in operating expenses
due to higher financial advisor related compensation, partly offset by lower charges for provisions for litigation,
regulatory and similar matters. Net new money inflows were USD 19.0 billion compared with USD 22.1 billion in
the prior year.

Business division reporting — in US dollars?

As of or for the year ended % change from

USD million, except where indicated 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12
Net interest income 1,014 849 828 19
NGt 106 Al GO R iese e
Not rading Ingome s sy oy (18)”
Othar G a6 35 g i
Income 7,105 6,312 5,921 13
Crodit 1655 (expansajjicovery @oy o  R— i
Total operating income 7,075 6,297 5,915 12
Personnel expenses 4,949 4,556 4,348 9
Financial advisor compensation? 2,708 2,399 2249 13~
Compensation commitments with recruited financial advisors3 690 679 609 2
Salaries and other personnel costs 1,551 ' 1,477 1,490 B 5
omaral el BT Tav G o6 058 a7 X
Sorvices (10)/from othor busines divisians. i e i .
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment T 130 107 112 21
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets g g5 R @
Total operating expenses® 6,147 5,659 5,389 9
Business division operating profit/(loss) before tax 927 638 526 45
Key performance indicators®
Pre-tax profit growth (%) 45.3 21.3
Costineome o (20) e o7 o1
e aig G 6o
Nt oW MOnBy Growth (J0)7 5 5 i
Gross margin on nvested assets (bps) Sy g g i

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes
and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new accounting standards. 2 Financial advisor compensation consists of grid-based compensation based
directly on compensable revenues generated by financial advisors and supplemental compensation calculated based on financial advisor productivity, firm
tenure, assets and other variables. ® Compensation commitments with recruited financial advisors represents costs related to compensation commitments
granted to financial advisors at the time of recruitment which are subject to vesting requirements. 4 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for information on restructuring charges. 5 For the definitions of our key performance indicators, refer to the “Measurement of
performance” section of this report. & Not meaningful and not included if either the reporting period or the comparison period is a loss period. 7 Net new money
excludes interest and dividend income.
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Business division reporting — in US dollars' (continued)

As of or for the year ended % change from
USD million, except where indicated 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12

Additional information

Recurring income

Average attributed equity (USD billion)2

Return on attributed equity (ROAE) (%)

Risk-weighted assets (phase-in, USD billion)3

Risk-weighted assets (fully applied, USD billion)3

Return on risk-weighted assets, gross (%)%

Swiss SRB leverage ratio denominator (phase-in, USD billion)®
Goodwill and intangible assets (USD billion)

Net new money (USD billion)®

Net new money including interest and dividend income (USD billion)”
Invested assets (USD billion)

Client assets (USD billion)

Loans, gross (USD billion)

Due to customers (USD billion)

Recruitment loans to financial advisors

Other loans to financial advisors

Personnel (full-time equivalents)

Financial advisors (full-time equivalents)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes
and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new accounting standards. 2 Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information on
the equity attribution framework. 3 Based on the Basel Ill framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December
2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information. 4 Based on Basel lIl risk-weighted assets (phase-
in) for 2013. Based on Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets for 2012. 5 The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure” and is
calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months
preceding the end of the reporting period. Data as of 31 December 2012 are not available on a reporting segment level due to organizational changes. Refer to
the “Capital management” section of this report for more information. ® Net new money excludes interest and dividend income. 7 Presented in line with
historical reporting practice in the US market.

Business division reporting — in Swiss francs?

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12
Net interest income 936 792 729 18
NGt F06 Al GO EBGE T EST Goqe i
Net trading income 387 473 450 (18)
Othar G a3 s i i
Income 6,565 5,891 5,219 11
Crodit 1655 (expansa)jicovery G  —— R 53
Total operating income 6,538 5,877 5,213 11
Personnel expenses 4,574 4,252 3,830 8
e 2503 3239 Vags i
Compensation commitments with recruited financial advisors® T 638 634 536 1
Salaries and other personnel costs 1,433 I v R 1,313 4
omaral ol BT tTav SR ooq g3
Services (to)/from other business divisions 13 15
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment T 1297777 100
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets 49 51
Total operating expenses® 5,680 5,281
Business division operating profit/(loss) before tax 858 597 463 44

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes
and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new accounting standards. 2 Financial advisor compensation consists of grid-based compensation based
directly on compensable revenues generated by financial advisors and supplemental compensation calculated based on financial advisor productivity, firm
tenure, assets and other variables. 3 Compensation commitments with recruited financial advisors represents costs related to compensation commitments
granted to financial advisors at the time of recruitment which are subject to vesting requirements. 4 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial
information” section of this report for information on restructuring charges.
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Business division reporting — in Swiss francs' (continued)

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12
Key performance indicators?
Pre-tax profit growth (%) 28.9

Cost/income ratio (%)

Recurring income as a % of income (%)

Net new money growth (%)%

Gross margin on invested assets (bps)

Additional information

Recurring income

Average attributed equity (CHF billion)®

Return on attributed equity (ROAE) (%)

Risk-weighted assets (phase-in, CHF billion)®

Risk-weighted assets (fully applied, CHF billion)®

Return on risk-weighted assets, gross (%)’

Swiss SRB leverage ratio denominator (phase-in, CHF billion)®

Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion)

Net new money (CHF billion)*

Net new money including interest and dividend income (CHF billion)?

Invested assets (CHF billion)

Client assets (CHF billion)

Loans, gross (CHF billion)

Due to customers (CHF billion)

Recruitment loans to financial advisors

Other loans to financial advisors

Personnel (full-time equivalents)

Financial advisors (full-time equivalents)

1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes
and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new accounting standards. 2 For the definitions of our key performance indicators, refer to the “Measurement
of performance” section of this report. 3 Not meaningful and not included if either the reporting period or the comparison period is a loss period. # Net new
money excludes interest and dividend income. ® Refer to the “Capital management’ section of this report for more information on the equity attribution
framework. © Based on the Basel Ill framework as applicable for Swiss systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are on a pro-forma
basis. Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information. 7 Based on Basel Ill risk-weighted assets (phase-in) for 2013. Based on
Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets for 2012. & The leverage ratio denominator is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure” and is calculated in accordance with
Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the
reporting period. Data as of 31 December 2012 are not available on a reporting segment level due to organizational changes. Refer to the “Capital management”
section of this report for more information. ° Presented in line with historical reporting practice in the US market.
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2013 compared with 2012

Results

Operating income
Total operating income increased to USD 7,075 million
from USD 6,297 million in 2012.

Net fee and commission income increased by
USD 712 million to USD 5,637 million, mainly due to a
20% increase in recurring fees resulting from higher
managed account fees calculated on higher invested
asset levels. Transaction-based revenues increased 2%,
primarily due to higher income from equities and
structured products, partly offset by lower income from
annuity products.

Net interest income increased by USD 165 million to
USD 1,014 million, primarily due to higher client
balances in securities-backed lending and mortgages.
The average securities-backed lending portfolio balance
increased 14% and the average mortgage portfolio
balance nearly doubled from 2012. Furthermore, net
funding costs related to the goodwill and intangible
assets that arose from the PaineWebber acquisition are
retained in Corporate Center — Core Functions with
effect from 1 January 2013. These increases were partly
offset by lower net interest income from the available-
for-sale portfolio, primarily due to lower average
balances.

Net trading income decreased by USD 89 million to
USD 418 million, mainly due to trading losses related to
the Puerto Rico municipal market as well as lower
income from taxable fixed income and US municipal
bond trading.

Other income increased by USD 4 million to USD 36
million.

Recurring income, the combination of recurring fees
and net interest income, increased by USD 845 million
to USD 5,110 million due to higher managed account
fees as well as higher interest income. Recurring income
comprised 72% of income compared with 68% in the
prior year. Non-recurring income decreased by USD 53
million to USD 1,994 million, primarily due to the above-
mentioned decrease in trading income.

Net credit loss expenses were USD 30 million
compared with net credit loss expenses of USD 15
million in the prior year. The 2013 expenses were largely
due to loan loss allowances on securities-backed
lending facilities collateralized by Puerto Rico municipal

securities and related funds.
= Refer to the “Risk management and control” section of this
report for more information on our exposure to Puerto Rico
municipal securities and related funds

Financial and operating performance

Operating expenses

Operating expenses increased by USD 488 million to
USD 6,147 million from USD 5,659 million, primarily due
to higher financial advisor compensation corresponding
to higher compensable revenues. In 2013, we recorded
restructuring charges of USD 64 million, compared with
restructuring provision releases of USD 1 million in
2012.

Excluding the effects of restructuring in both years as
well as a credit to personnel expenses of USD 2 million
related to changes to our retiree benefit plans in the US
in 2012, adjusted personnel expenses were USD 4,933
million, an increase of USD 379 million from USD 4,554
million due to a 13% increase in financial advisor
compensation corresponding to higher compensable
revenues, and a 2% increase in expenses for
compensation commitments with recruited financial
advisors. Recruitment loans to financial advisors were
USD 3,063 million as of 31 December 2013, a decrease
of USD 178 million from 31 December 2012. On an
adjusted basis, salaries and other personnel costs
increased 4% due to higher other variable compensation
expenses and USD 20 million of costs related to the
partial settlement of a previously discontinued US
defined benefit pension plan.

Excluding restructuring charges, non-personnel
expenses increased by USD 42 million to USD 1,150
million from USD 1,108 million, mainly due to higher
Corporate Center shared services costs and lower net
charges to the Investment Bank after the discontinuation
of an interdivisional joint venture effective 1 January
2013. These increases were partly offset by USD 70
million lower charges for provisions for litigation,
regulatory and similar matters.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio improved to 86.5% from 89.7% in
2012. Onan adjusted basis, the cost/income ratio
improved to 85.6% from 89.7% and remained within our
target range of 80% to 90%.

Net new money

The net new money growth rate was 2.3% compared
with 2.9% in 2012, and was within the target range of
2% to 4%. Net new money totaled USD 19.0 billion
compared with USD 22.1 billion in the prior year due to
lower inflows from financial advisors employed with UBS
for more than one year as well as lower inflows from net
recruiting of financial advisors, partly offset by higher
inflows from the Global Family Office. Including interest
and dividend income, net new money inflows were
USD 44.2 billion compared with USD 44.8 billion in the
prior year.
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Invested assets

Invested assets were USD 970 bilion as of
31 December 2013, an increase of USD 127 billion from
USD 843 billion as of 31 December 2012, reflecting
positive market performance of USD 108 billion and
continued strong net new money inflows. During 2013,
managed account assets increased by USD 60 billion to
USD 308 billion as of 31 December 2013, and
comprised 32% of invested assets compared with 29%
as of 31 December 2012.

Gross margin on invested assets

The gross margin on invested assets was 79 basis
points in 2013, an increase of 1 basis point from 78
basis points in 2012, and remained within our target
range of 75 to 85 basis points. This reflected a 13%
increase in income compared with a 12% increase in
average invested assets. The gross margin from
recurring income increased by 4 basis points due to
higher managed account
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fees and higher net interest income, while the gross
margin from non-recurring income decreased by 3 basis
points, primarily due to lower trading income.

Personnel

As of 31 December 2013, Wealth Management
Americas employed 16,344 personnel, an increase of
250 from 31 December 2012. Financial advisor
headcount increased by 78 to 7,137, mainly reflecting
the hiring of experienced financial advisors and trainees
as well as continued low financial advisor attrition. The
number of non-financial advisor employees increased by
172 to 9,207, mainly due to hiring of wealth strategy
associates to further enhance advice-based wealth
management solutions offered to target client segments.



2012 compared with 2011

Results

Profit before tax was USD 638 million in 2012 compared with
USD 526 million in 2011. This improved performance resulted
from a 6% increase in revenue due to increases in fees and
commissions. Operating expenses increased 5% due to
higher financial advisor related compensation and higher
charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar
matters, partly offset by lower restructuring charges. In
addition, 2012 included a pre-tax gain of USD 53 million net
of compensation charges related to a change in accounting
estimates for certain mutual fund and annuity fee income,
compared with USD 32 million related to a change in
accounting estimates for certain mutual fund fees in 2011.
Net new money inflows of USD 22.1 billion were the highest
full year total since 2007.

Operating income
Total operating income increased 6% to USD 6,297 million
from USD 5,915 million in 2011.

Net fee and commission income increased by USD
366 million to USD 4,925 million. Recurring fees increased
10% due to higher fees on managed accounts corresponding
to higher invested asset levels. In addition, recurring fees
included USD 59 million related to a change to accrual-based
accounting estimates from a cash basis for certain mutual
fund and annuity fee income, compared with USD 48 million
related to the prior year. Transaction-based revenues
increased 3%, primarily due to higher income from taxable
fixed income products.

Net interest income increased by USD 21 million to USD
849 million, primarily due to higher client balances in
securities-backed lending and mortgages. The securities-
backed lending average portfolio balance increased 12% and
the mortgage average portfolio balance nearly doubled from
2011. In addition, 2012 included lower income from
mortgage-backed securities in the available-for-sale portfolio
due to yield adjustments arising from updated cash flow
estimates compared with an upward adjustment reclassifying
USD 22 million from other comprehensive income in 2011.

Net trading income decreased by USD 2 million to USD
507 million due to lower municipal securities trading, mostly
offset by higher income from taxable fixed income, unit
investment trusts and emerging market products.

Other income increased by USD 7 million to USD 32
million.

Recurring income, the combination of recurring fees and
net interest income, increased by USD 344 million to USD
4,265 million due to higher managed account and annuity
fees as well as higher interest income. Recurring income for
2012 comprised 68% of income, compared with 66% in 2011.
Non-recurring income increased by USD 47 million to USD
2,047 million, primarily due to higher transaction-based
activity.
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Credit loss expenses were USD 15 million compared with
USD 6 million in 2011, and primarily related to a loan loss
allowance for a single client.

Operating expenses

Operating expenses increased by USD 270 million to USD
5,659 million from USD 5,389 million due to higher financial
advisor compensation corresponding to higher revenues. In
2012, Wealth Management Americas recognized
restructuring provision releases of USD 1 million, while 2011
included restructuring charges of USD 10 million.

Excluding the effects of restructuring as well as a credit
related to changes to our retiree benefit plans in the US,
personnel expenses were USD 4,554 million, up USD
211 million from USD 4,343 million due to a 7% increase in
financial advisor compensation corresponding to higher
revenue production, and an 11% increase in expenses for
compensation commitments with recruited financial advisors.
On an adjusted basis, salaries and other personnel costs
declined 1%. Recruitment loans to financial advisors were
USD 3,241 million as of 31 December 2012, an increase of
USD 143 million from 31 December 2011.

Excluding restructuring charges, non-personnel expenses
increased USD 70 million to USD 1,108 million from USD
1,038 million. General and administrative costs increased 9%
on an adjusted basis to USD 963 million from USD
883 million in 2011 due to higher Corporate Center shared
services costs and higher charges for provisions for litigation,
regulatory and similar matters. This increase was partly offset
by lower professional legal fees.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio improved to 89.7% from 91.0% in
2011. On an adjusted basis, the cost/income ratio was 89.7%
compared with 90.8% in 2011 and moved within our target
range of 80% to 90%.

Net new money growth

Net new money growth rate for 2012 improved to 2.9% from
1.9% in 2011, moving within the target range of 2% to 4%.
Net new money inflows improved to USD 22.1 billion
compared with USD 14.1 billion in 2011 due to stronger
inflows from net recruiting of financial advisors as well as
financial advisors employed with UBS for more than one year.
Including interest and dividend income, Wealth Management
Americas had net new money inflows of USD 44.8 billion in
2012 compared with USD 34.7 billion in 2011.

Invested assets

Invested assets were USD 843 billion as of 31 December
2012, an increase of 12% from USD 756 billion as of
31 December 2011, reflecting positive market performance
and strong net new money inflows. As of 31 December 2012,
managed account assets had increased by USD 40 billion to
USD 248 billion, and comprised 29% of invested assets
compared with 28% as of 31 December 2011.
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Gross margin on invested assets

The gross margin on invested assets was 78 basis
points in 2012, a decline of 1 basis point from 79 basis
points in 2011, and remained within our target range of
75 to 85 basis points. This reflected a 7% increase in
income compared with an 8% increase in average
invested assets. The gross margin from recurring
income increased by 1 basis point as a result of higher
managed account fees and higher annuities fees, while
the gross margin from non-recurring income decreased
by 2 basis points from 2011 mainly due to transaction-
based revenue.
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Personnel

As of 31 December 2012, Wealth Management
Americas employed 16,094 personnel, a decrease of
113 from 31 December 2011. Financial advisor
headcount of 7,059 increased by 92 from the prior year,
mainly reflecting the hiring of experienced financial
advisors and continued low financial advisor attrition.
The number of non-financial advisor employees
decreased by 205 to 9,035, reflecting staff reductions
related to our cost reduction programs.
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Retail & Corporate

Profit before tax decreased to CHF 1,458 million in 2013 from CHF 1,827 million in the prior year, mainly as 2012
included a credit to personnel expenses of CHF 287 million related to changes to our Swiss pension plan.
Adjusted for this and restructuring charges of CHF 54 million in 2013 and CHF 3 million in 2012, profit before tax
decreased by CHF 31 million to CHF 1,512 million, as higher operating expenses were only partly offset by higher
operating income. The annualized net new business volume growth rate was 1.8% in 2013.

Business division reporting’

As of or for the year ended % change from
CHF million, except where indicated 31.12.13 31.12.12 31.12.11 31.12.12
Net interest income 2,144 2,186

Net fee and commission income

Net trading income

Other income

Income

Credit loss (expense)/recovery

Total operating income

Personnel expenses

General and administrative expenses

Services (to)/from other business divisions
Depreciation and impairment of property and equipment
Amortization and impairment of intangible assets
Total operating expenses?

Business division operating profit/(loss) before tax

Key performance indicators®

Pre-tax profit growth (%)

Cost/income ratio (%)

Net interest margin (%)

Net new business volume growth (%)

Impaired loan portfolio as a % of total loan portfolio, gross (%)%

Additional information

Average attributed equity (CHF billion)®

Return on attributed equity (ROAE) (%)

Risk-weighted assets (phase-in, CHF billion)®

Risk-weighted assets (fully applied, CHF billion)®

Return on risk-weighted assets, gross (%)’

Swiss SRB leverage ratio denominator (phase-in, CHF billion)8
Goodwill and intangible assets (CHF billion)

Business volume (CHF billion)

Client assets (CHF billion)

Loans, gross (CHF billion)

Due to customers (CHF billion)

Secured loan portfolio as a % of total loan portfolio, gross (%) . .
Personnel (full-time equivalents) 9,463 10,156 11,430 (7)
1 Comparative figures in this table may differ from those originally published in quarterly and annual reports due to adjustments following organizational changes
and restatements due to retrospective adoption of new accounting standards. 2 Refer to “Note 32 Changes in organization” in the “Financial information” section
of this report for information on restructuring charges. 2 For the definitions of our key performance indicators, refer to the “Measurement of performance” section
of this report. 4 Refer to the “Risk management and control” section of this report for more information on impairment ratios. ® Refer to the “Capital
management” section of this report for more information on the equity attribution framework. ® Based on the Basel Ill framework as applicable for Swiss
systemically relevant banks (SRB). Numbers for 31 December 2012 are on a pro-forma basis. Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more
information. 7 Based on Basel Ill risk-weighted assets (phase-in) for 2013. Based on Basel 2.5 risk-weighted assets for 2012. & The leverage ratio denominator
is also referred to as “total adjusted exposure” and is calculated in accordance with Swiss SRB leverage ratio requirements. Data represent the average of the
total adjusted exposure at the end of the three months preceding the end of the reporting period. Data as of 31 December 2012 are not available on a reporting
segment level due to organizational changes. Refer to the “Capital management” section of this report for more information.
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Financial and operating performance
Retail & Corporate

2013 compared with 2012

Results

Operating income
Total operating income increased by CHF 28 million to
CHF 3,756 million.

Net interest income was CHF 2,144 million compared
with CHF 2,186 million. The ongoing low interest rate
environment continued to adversely affect the deposit
margin. The resulting lower interest income was partly
offset by pricing adjustments and substantial growth in
average deposit volumes. Interest income from loans
increased, reflecting slightly higher average volume and
an improved margin. Furthermore, costs related to the
multi-currency portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality,
short-term assets managed centrally by Group Treasury
decreased.

Net fee and commission income was CHF
1,208 million, almost unchanged from CHF 1,198 million,
mainly due to higher custody fee income.

Net trading income increased to CHF 341 million from
CHF 281 million, reflecting higher treasury-related income
as well as higher client activity levels in 2013.

Other income was CHF 86 million, broadly unchanged
from CHF 90 million in the prior year, and included a CHF
27 million gain related to the divestment of our
participation in Euroclear Plc., almost entirely offset by
lower income related to our participation in the SIX
Group.

Credit loss expenses were CHF 18 million in 2013
compared with CHF 27 million in the prior year. 2013
included net specific loan loss allowances of CHF
113 million, reflecting a number of new workout cases
that were individually reviewed, downgraded and
impaired as well as adjustments on existing positions.
This was largely offset by a net release of CHF 95 million
of collective loan loss allowances based on the ongoing
review of the portfolio, as well as the overall improved
outlook for relevant industries. The prior year included net
specific loan loss allowances of CHF 43 million, partly
offset by a net decrease in collective loan loss allowances
of CHF 16 million. The remaining balance of the collective
loan loss allowances amounted to CHF 15 million as of
31 December 2013.

= Refer to “Note 1a) 11) Allowances and provisions for credit
losses” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information on collective loan loss allowances

Operating expenses

Operating expenses increased to CHF 2,298 million from
CHF 1,901 million, mainly as 2012 included a credit to
personnel expenses of CHF 287 million related to
changes to our Swiss pension
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plan. Adjusted for this and restructuring charges of CHF
54 million in 2013 and CHF 3 million in the prior year,
operating expenses increased by CHF 59 million to CHF
2,244 million, mainly as a result of CHF 45 million higher
charges for provisions for litigation, regulatory and similar
matters.

Personnel expenses increased by CHF 155 million to
CHF 1,442 million, due to the aforementioned credit in
2012 related to changes to our Swiss pension plan.
Adjusted for this item and restructuring charges,
personnel expenses decreased by CHF 148 million to
CHF 1,423 million, mainly due to the centralization of
operations units in Corporate Center in July 2012. This
centralization and subsequent reallocation of the
operations units had the effect of reducing personnel
expenses as well as general and administrative
expenses, and decreasing net charges to other business
divisions. Moreover, personnel expenses decreased as
2013 included a credit from the release of accruals for
untaken vacation compared with a charge in 2012 when
accruals for untaken vacation were increased. These
decreases were partly offset by higher variable
compensation expenses.

General and administrative expenses were CHF
875 million compared with CHF 857 million in 2012.
Adjusted for restructuring charges, general and
administrative expenses decreased by CHF 15 million to
CHF 842 million, reflecting the abovementioned
centralization of operations units. This was partly offset by
CHF 45 million higher net charges for provisions for
litigation, regulatory and similar matters. Moreover, costs
rose as a result of increased expenses related to the
refurbishment of our branch network and our multi-
channel offering, as well as due to higher marketing
expenses.

Net charges to other business divisions were CHF
162 million, a decrease from CHF 370 million in the prior
year, primarily as a result of the abovementioned
centralization of operations units in 2012.

Depreciation was CHF 143 million, an increase of CHF
15 million from the prior year, reflecting higher software
depreciation expenses.

Cost/income ratio

The cost/income ratio was 60.9% compared with 50.6%
in the prior year. On an adjusted basis excluding the
credit related to changes to our Swiss pension plan in
2012 as well as restructuring charges, the cost/income
ratio was 59.5% compared with 58.2% in the prior year
and was within our target range of 50% to 60%.

Net interest margin

The net interest margin decreased 4 basis points to 156
basis points, reflecting the aforementioned reduction in
net interest income on a slightly higher average loan
volume. The net interest margin remained within the
target range of 140 to 180 basis points.



Net new business volume growth

The growth rate for net new business volume was 1.8%
compared with 4.9% in 2012. Our retail business
recorded a net new business volume growth rate of
1.9% in 2013 compared with 3.3% in the prior year. Both
our retail and corporate businesses recorded positive
net new client assets. Net new loan inflows were slightly
positive for retail clients and slightly negative for
corporate clients, reflecting our strategy to grow our
business in high-quality loans moderately and
selectively. Net new business volume growth was within
the target range of 1% to 4%.

Financial and operating performance

Personnel

Retail & Corporate employed 9,463 personnel as of
31 December 2013, a decrease of 693 compared with
10,156 as of 31 December 2012, mainly reflecting
changes to allocations of centralized shared services
units’ personnel, which led to a decrease of
approximately 500 personnel.

113



Financial and operating performance
Retail & Corporate

2012 compared with 2011

Results

Profit before tax decreased by CHF 57 million to CHF
1,827 million from CHF 1,884 million in the prior year. In
2012, personnel expenses benefited from a CHF
287 million credit related to changes to our Swiss
pension plan. In 2011, there was a gain of CHF
289 million from the sale of our strategic investment
portfolio. Adjusted for these items and restructuring
charges of CHF 3 million in 2012 and CHF 32 million in
2011, profit before tax decreased by CHF 84 million to
CHF 1,543 million, mainly as the prior year benefited
from CHF 68 million of accrued interest from the
abovementioned strategic investment portfolio sold in
the third quarter of 2011.

Operating income

Total operating income decreased by CHF 357 million to
CHF 3,728 million, mainly due to the abovementioned
gain from the sale of our strategic investment portfolio in
2011. Adjusted for this gain, operating income
decreased by CHF 68 million to CHF 3,728 million from
CHF 3,796 million.

Net interest income decreased by CHF 142 million to
CHF 2,186 million, as the prior year included interest
income of CHF 68 million related to our strategic
investment portfolio. Net interest income was also
negatively affected by increased costs related to the
multi-currency portfolio of unencumbered, high-quality,
short-term assets managed centrally by Group Treasury
and lower allocations related to investment proceeds
from the firm’s equity. The loan margin was stable, but
the historically low interest rate environment continued
to negatively affect the deposit margin. This was partly
offset by growth in average deposit and, to a lesser
extent, loan volumes, as well as a number of pricing
adjustments.

Net fee and commission income was CHF
1,198 million, an increase of CHF 23 million from CHF
1,175 million in 2011, reflecting strong corporate finance
activity related to our continued focus on our fee-based
advisory offering.

Net trading income decreased to CHF 281 million from
CHF 333 million due to lower treasury-related income
and lower valuation income in 2012 related to credit
default swaps to hedge certain loans.

Other income decreased to CHF 90 million from CHF
350 million, reflecting the abovementioned gain of CHF
289 million from the sale of our strategic investment
portfolio in 2011, partly offset by higher income in 2012
related to our participation in the SIX Group.
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Credit loss expenses were CHF 27 million in 2012
compared with CHF 101 million in 2011, mainly
reflecting a CHF 16 million decrease in 2012 and an
increase of CHF 82 million in 2011 in collective loan loss

allowances.
= Refer to “Note 1a) 11) Allowances and provisions for credit
losses” in the “Financial information” section of this report for
more information on collective loan loss allowances

Operating expenses

Total operating expenses were CHF 1,901 million
compared with CHF 2,201 million, mainly reflecting the
CHF 287 million credit related to changes to our Swiss
pension plan in 2012. Excluding this credit and
restructuring charges, adjusted operating expenses
increased by CHF 16 million to CHF 2,185 million.

Personnel expenses decreased to CHF 1,287 million
from CHF 1,702 million. Excluding the abovementioned
credit and restructuring charges, adjusted personnel
expenses were CHF 1,571 million, a decrease of CHF
102 million from CHF 1,673 million in 2011 due to the
centralization of operations units in 2012, which
decreased personnel expenses by CHF 176 million. As
Retail & Corporate previously provided significant
services to other business divisions, this centralization
and subsequent reallocation of the operations units had
the effect of reducing personnel expenses as well as
general and administrative expenses, and decreasing
net charges to other business divisions. This was partly
offset by higher personnel expenses resulting from other
business transfers.

General and administrative expenses were CHF
857 million compared with CHF 834 million in 2011,
reflecting higher net charges for pr